University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

2015

Patient And Provider Characteristics And Practice Patterns of Primary Care Physicians Of Weight-Related Counseling

Kolby T. Redd University of South Carolina

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd Part of the <u>Health Services Administration Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Redd, K. T.(2015). Patient And Provider Characteristics And Practice Patterns of Primary Care Physicians Of Weight-Related Counseling. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/3703

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact dillarda@mailbox.sc.edu.



PATIENT AND PROVIDER CHARACTERISTICS AND PRACTICE PATTERNS OF PRIMARY CARE PHYSICIANS OF WEIGHT-RELATED COUNSELING

by

Kolby T. Redd

Bachelor of Science University of South Carolina, 2008

Master of Health Administration University of South Carolina, 2010

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

Health Services Policy and Management

The Norman J. Arnold School of Public Health

University of South Carolina

2015

Accepted by:

Ramzi Salloum, Major Professor

Jan Probst, Committee Member

Andrew Kaczynski, Committee Member

Bo Cai, Committee Member

Lacy Ford, Senior Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Studies



© Copyright by Kolby T. Redd, 2015 All Rights Reserved.



DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my husband, Kevin Brodie Redd, for his enduring support during my graduate studies at the University of South Carolina Health Services Policy and Management PhD program in the Arnold School of Public Health. I would not have made it to graduation without his support and encouragement during this program which began the first year we were married. Thank you for your love, concern, support, and encouragement throughout the last 3 years.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge the support and encouragement I received from my committee chair, Dr. Ramzi Salloum. His understanding and patience in dealing with my project was greatly appreciated. I would also like to thank Dr. Jan Probst, Dr. Andrew Kaczynski, and Dr. Bo Cai, for being part of my committee and their early and continued support of me and this research project. I was grateful for their insightful comments, feedback, and suggestions.

Finally, thank you to all of the employees of the Centers for Disease Control for collecting these data and making this project possible.



Abstract

Background: The United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends three types of health education counseling for use in primary care practices for adult, obese patients. While these recommendations are well known, a low percentage of physicians provide this counseling to their patients on a consistent basis. There are inconsistencies in past studies in regards to what aspects of the health encounter influence the likelihood of receiving health education counseling during a primary care visit. The objective of this study was to (1) investigate the patterns of these three types of counseling occurring within primary care practices and to (2) investigate the influence of patient and provider characteristics on counseling within primary care practices. Methods: We analyzed aggregated data from the 2008-2010 National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS). The three types of health education counseling were the dependent variables, while patient and provider characteristics were the independent variables. **Results:** Of the 11,041 obese patients seen, 70.3% had no type of counseling provided while only 7.6% had all three types of recommended counseling provided. The highest combination of counseling provided was diet/nutrition and exercise counseling, while the lowest combination was exercise and weight reduction counseling. Additionally, the odds of receiving all 3 types of health education counseling are increased for patients when their obesity check box is checked, being seen for a preventive care visit, having Class III obesity, and seen within an urban practice.



V

Conclusion: Although physicians see a vast amount of adult obese patients within primary care practice, health education counseling practices by primary care physicians remains less than optimal. Therefore, there is a drastic need to improve this type of health education counseling by primary care physicians in order to address the current obesity epidemic in the U.S.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
Abstractv
LIST OF TABLES ix
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
1.1 INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY
1.2 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM
1.3 RATIONALE FOR THE STUDY
CHAPTER 2 RELEVANT RESEARCH
2.1 REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE
2.2 Significant research published about the problem16
Chapter 3 Methodology
3.1 INSTRUMENTATION AND DATA COLLECTION
3.2 Research design
3.3 DEPENDENT VARIABLES
3.4 INDEPENDENT VARIABLES
3.5 Study conceptual model
3.6 PATIENT CRITERIA AND EXCLUSIONS



3.7 PHYSICIAN CRITERIA EXCLUSIONS	43
3.8 DATA ANALYSIS	46
CHAPTER 4 MANUSCRIPT I	47
4.1 Patient Characteristics Influencing Primary Care Obesity Counseling Practices	47
CHAPTER 5 MANUSCRIPT II	68
5.1 Provider Characteristics Influencing Primary Care Obesity Counseling Practices	68
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION	88
REFERENCES	99
APPENDIX A –2008 NAMCS QUESTIONNAIRE	108
APPENDIX B – 2009 NAMCS QUESTIONNAIRE	109
APPENDIX C – 2010 NAMCS QUESTIONNAIRE	110



LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Sample Size
Table 3.2 Independent and Dependent Variables 33
Table 3.3 Patient Characteristic Variables and Categories 40
Table 3.4 Physician Characteristic Variables and Categories 43
Table 3.5 Independent and Dependent Variables 40
Table 4.1 Sample Patient Characteristics
Table 4.2 Sample Counseling Characteristics – Based on Patient Variables 56
Table 4.3 Health Education Counseling Provided by Patient Characteristics 57
Table 4.4 Individual Health Education Counseling Provided by Patient Characteristics 59
Table 4.5 Factors Associated with Receipt of Health Education Counseling by Patient Characteristics
Table 5.1 Sample Provider Characteristics 75
Table 5.2 Sample Counseling Characteristics – Based on Provider Variables
Table 5.3 Health Education Counseling Provided by Provider Characteristics 78
Table 5.4 Individual Health Education Counseling Provided by Provider Characteristics 79
Table 5.5 Factors Associated with Receipt of Health Education Counseling by Provider Characteristics



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Environmental Agents	8
Figure 3.1 Andersen Model	34
Figure 3.2 Physician Induced Demand	36
Figure 3.3 Study Conceptual Model	
Figure 4.1 Study Conceptual Model – Patient Characteristics	49
Figure 5.1 Study Conceptual Model – Physician Characteristics	71



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

American Heart Association
Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
Body Mass Index
Behavior and Risk Factor Surveillance System
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Cardiovascular Disease
Electronic Medical Record
National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey
National Center for Health Statistics
National Guidelines Clearinghouse
Primary Care Physician
Patient Safety Organizations
Patient Safety and Quality Improvement Act
Primary Sampling Unit
United States Preventive Services Task Force
World Health Organization
Weight Loss Counseling



CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY

Background

Evidence suggests that by 2040 roughly half of the adult population in the United States (US) will be obese.^{1,2} An individual is categorized as obese if his or her Body Mass Index (BMI) is greater than or equal to 30.0 kg/m². Furthermore, approximately one in twenty Americans has a BMI greater than 40 kg/m^{2.3} Several reports and studies suggest that the increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity within the US reflects numerous changes within society and behaviors over the past 30 years.⁴ Lyznicki and associates state that reversing these documented trends will require changes in individual behavior and the elimination of societal barriers to ensuring healthy lifestyle choices.⁴ Primary care physicians are placed in a unique setting where they have the ability to provide private counseling on these health matters with their obese adult patients. However, it has been noted that primary care physicians do not routinely offer this counseling to their patients.⁵

1.2 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

Changes in Obesity Overtime

Historically, the prevalence of obesity increased between 1976 and 2000.^{2,6} From the years of 1976 to 1980 alone, the prevalence of obesity and overweight in the US increased by 134%.^{3,7} In 2007-2008, the age-adjusted prevalence of obesity was 33% overall, with 32.2% among men and 35.5% among women.^{2,8,9} The corresponding



prevalence estimate for overweight and obesity combined was 68.0%.^{2,8} One study revealed that enhanced efforts to provide environmental interventions may lead to improved health and future decreases in the prevalence of obesity.² The Centers for Disease Control (CDC) Healthy People 2010 objectives were defined in 2001; however, the final review of those objectives reported that almost no progress has been made towards the focus area of nutrition and obesity within the last decade.¹⁰ The effects of obesity are many and include not only medical, psychological, and economic, but also healthcare-related and productivity costs to society.¹¹

With the increasing prevalence of obesity, the US population now leads the world in obesity rates.^{12,13} With 68% of US adults overweight or obese, approximately 145 million adults are affected by this epidemic, which has had deep economic and public health consequences.^{14,15} This epidemic may stall the increase in life expectancy seen during the past two centuries in the US.¹⁶ The obesity epidemic spreads at rates usually seen for communicable disease.¹⁷ Thus, obesity should be recognized and treated as a primary medical condition that is progressive, chronic, and relapsing.¹⁷ Obesity is a significant public health issue, requiring attention from all segments of society, including healthcare clinicians, in order to halt the impact at the individual and societal levels.¹⁸ *Complications of Obesity*

Obesity has been found to decrease health-related quality of life and overall life expectancy.¹⁹ When age and race are taken into account, obesity has been shown to be associated with a 6 to 20 year decrease in life expectancy.³ One study revealed that relative to normal weight, both obesity (all grades) and grades 2 and 3 obesity were associated with significantly higher all-cause mortality.²⁰ Scientific, medical, and



www.manaraa.com

behavioral data link excess adiposity and coronary heart disease; therefore, this information led the American Heart Association (AHA) to reclassify obesity as a major, modifiable risk factor for coronary heart disease.²¹ Additionally, obesity increases the risk of type 2-diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, certain types of cancer, stroke, and many other diseases and conditions that carry high financial costs, can be devastating to quality of life, and cause millions of deaths annual.^{1,22,23} Field and colleagues found during a 10 year follow-up, the incidence of type 2-diabetes, gallstones, hypertension, heart disease, colon cancer, and stroke (for men only) increased with degree of overweight in both men and women.²⁴ They also found that adults who were overweight, but not obese were at significantly increased risk of developing numerous health conditions.²⁴ Consequently, they found a dose-response relationship between BMI and risk of developing chronic disease among adults in the upper half of the healthy weight range and suggest that adults should try to maintain a BMI between 18.5 and 21.9 to minimize their risk of disease.²⁴ Obesity also complicates management of such diseases as osteoarthritis, sleep apnea, and chronic obstructive lung disease, making it of concern to a range of specialty physicians.²⁵ This largely preventable condition and its associated comorbidities place unnecessary stress on healthcare systems and use resources that are already scarce.¹⁹

Costs related to Obesity

In addition to the adverse health effects associated with obesity, studies have found that obesity accounts for 5% to 7% of national health expenditures in the US.²⁶ With rising prevalence, increased comorbidities, and a spreading epidemic, obesity is associated with \$2,741 higher than average annual medical care costs (in 2005 dollars)



www.manaraa.com

with \$3,613 for women and \$1,152 for men.²⁷ Thus, in 2005, estimates of the national medical care costs of obesity-related illness in adults were \$209.7 billion, twice the estimate of \$85.7 billion in earlier literature.²⁷ It has been noted that previous literature underestimated the medical costs of obesity, resulting in underestimates of the economic rationale for government intervention to reduce obesity-related externalities.²⁷ The comorbid medical conditions of obesity are associated with higher use of health care services and costs among these patients.¹⁰ Withrow and colleagues report that obese individuals were found to have medical costs that were approximately 30% greater than their normal weight peers.¹⁹ These excess medical costs, attributable to obesity, have also been found to equal or exceed those of smoking in the US.¹⁹ Another study found that the physical inactivity that accompanies obesity accounted for 23% of health plan charges and 27% of national health care charges.²⁶ With the enormous costs both fiscally and physically, the US is facing a major health problem.²⁶ With the overall rising cost of healthcare within the country and targeted goals to lower the cost, it is imperative to target these high-cost preventable conditions.

1.3 RATIONALE FOR THE STUDY

Eighty percent of Americans cite their physician as their primary source of information about health, with the average adult making 2.7 visits to a physician per year.⁵ Hence, clinicians, specifically physicians, represent a credible source of health information for their patients, who may be receptive to information about their health during office visits.⁵ Furthermore, patient-centered clinical services present a unique opportunity to reinforce and complement other sources of health advice or information.⁵ Yet, a 2005 national study illustrated a trend of decreasing prevalence of weight loss



advice to obese patients and another showing primary care physician assessment and behavioral management of overweight and obesity in adults at a low level relative to the magnitude of the problem.^{28,29} Moreover, rates of weight loss counseling in primary care have significantly declined despite increased rates of overweight and obesity in the US.¹⁴ In light of the US' obesity epidemic and associated preventable morbidity and mortality, economic burden, and emotional distress, there needs to be a consistent, wide-spread practice of health education counseling among primary care physicians and their obese patients.

Purpose of the Study

Given the previously discussed risk factors of obesity and the continued increase in obesity prevalence, this study seeks to examine the prevalence and correlates of primary care physician's concordance with the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommendations for obese adult patients using the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) data. This survey's data has not been examined since 2008; thus, this study will be looking to see if counseling practices remain the same or if there have been significant changes made as obesity becomes more discussed throughout the world. The findings from this study can be used to determine what patient characteristics influence the physician's behavior to provide the counseling during a visit, as well as what types of counseling are provided and in what combinations. This type of research has been completed before with inconsistent findings regarding patient and provider characteristics; nonetheless, it has not been re-examined since 2008. Thus, trends could have changed and the results of this study from 2008-2010 could yield new information on the topic of health education counseling in primary care practice



www.manaraa.com

among adult, obese patients. This information will aid physicians in their practice in promoting the health education counseling that is recommended for adult obese patients within their practice.

Research Questions

This study will answer the following research questions:

- 1. What type of health education counseling is provided the most, least, and in what combinations: (a) diet/nutrition, (b) exercise, and (c) weight reduction.
- 2. What patient and provider characteristics influence the physician's behavior to provide these types of counseling?

Hypotheses

- I hypothesize that when physicians provide only one type of counseling it will be diet/nutrition health education to their patients in an effort to promote weight-loss. Furthermore, I hypothesize that when physicians provide a combination of counseling it will be diet/nutrition and exercise health education.
- 2. I hypothesize that physicians will provide more overall health education counseling to women, younger adults, those individuals with higher BMI and obesity class levels, providers with a DO degree, and providers with EMR clinical reminders turned on when compared with men, older adults, those will lower obesity class levels, physicians with a MD degree, and practices without EMR clinical reminders turned on.

This document is presented in the following format: Chapter 1 provides basic background information and research questions for the study; Chapter 2 provides an in-



depth presentation of relevant research; Chapter 3 provides the methodology for the study; Chapter 4 provides a transcript on the patient characteristics that influence health education counseling in primary care practice; Chapter 5 provides a transcript on the provider characteristics that influence health education counseling in primary care practice; and Chapter 6 provides a conclusion from the two transcripts.



CHAPTER 2 RELEVANT RESEARCH

2.1 REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

Historical Overview of the Problem

The etiology of obesity is complex and multifactorial in nature. It is dynamic and encompasses genetic, physiological, environmental, psychological, social, economic, and even political factors that all, to varying degrees, promote obesity.³⁰ This can range from lifestyle choices such as excess food intake, overabundance of calorie-dense foods in the home, use of medications that have undesirable weight gain, and decreased opportunities and motivation for physical activity.^{4,30} Additionally, more recently economic and political determinants of available foodstuffs contribute more frequently to obesity than in prior years.³⁰ Arrone and colleagues illustrate the complex etiology of obesity in Figure 2.1. This illustration reveals that environmental agents assist in the development of obesity and includes food or food-related products, physical inactivity, certain drugs, toxins, and viruses.³⁰ Arrone and colleagues further state that if food is in limited supply, obesity does not develop; however, in a susceptible host, the toxic effect of too much food or certain food-related products produces obesity.³⁰ It can be said that obesity is led in part by commercial drivers. "Commercial drivers are so influential that obesity can be conserved a robust sign of commercial success – consumers are buying more food, more cars, and more energy saving machines,".³⁰ Yet, it is extremely unlikely for these economic forces to change based on consumer desires to eat less and corporate desires to



www.manaraa.com



Figure 2.1: Arrone and Colleagues environmental agents contributing to obesity.



be more socially responsible. Obesity now meets all accepted criteria of a medical disease, including known etiology, recognizing signs and symptoms, and a range of structural and functional changes that accumulate in pathologic consequences within the body. As a result, many people believe this is an issue for physicians to handle since it can be classified as a disease; whereas, medical professionals can see this as an environment problem.³⁰

Obesogenic environment is a new term that has emerged as a result of the obesity epidemic. Obesogenic environment is the sum of influences that the surroundings, opportunities or conditions of life have on promoting obesity in individuals and populations.³¹ These environments are collectively known to predispose, enable or reinforce ways of living that promote or inhibit the consumption of high caloric foodstuffs, while also discouraging physical activity.³¹ According to the US surgeon general, approximately 25% of American adults are completely sedentary, and more than 60% are not regularly active at the recommended level of 30 minutes per day.⁴ Therefore, the American population and physicians look for best practices and clinical recommendations in an effort to treat this epidemic more effectively.

Measurement of Obesity

There is debate over the best method to measure adiposity risk or current health status in in obese patients. The AHA has adopted BMI as an indicator to measure adiposity.²¹ Therefore, many other physicians and medical professionals use this method in practice as well. Yet, many argue that obesity should be measured by waist circumference rather than BMI. Their argument is backed by the fact that waist circumference specifically measures abdominal obesity; whereas, BMI is a measure of



total body fat.³⁰ Furthermore, several studies reveal that abdominal adiposity, particularly visceral fat, is a better predictor of increased risk of disease than overall body fat.³⁰

Obesity has been found to be associated with an increase in adverse health effects. Furthermore, central adiposity has been found to increase the risk for cardiovascular disease (CVD) and multiple other diseases independent of obesity. Therefore, the USPSTF states that physicians may use waist circumference as a measure of central adiposity but not for measurement of obesity.³² The USPSTF classifies obesity into three distinct classes included Class I as BMI of 30 kg/m² – 34.9 kg/m², Class II as BMI of 35 kg/m² – 39.9 kg/m², and Class III as BMI of 40 kg/m² or higher.³² Consequently, until another standard that does not use BMI for measurement is accepted, BMI will continue to be the most accurate clinical measure of obesity.

Current treatment and management of obesity

There are several different types of treatment that are recommended for those individuals who are categorized as obese based on their BMI. However, successful management of obesity requires understanding and acceptance of a new paradigm that identifies obesity as a disease that requires treatment over time.³⁰ Obesity management has also been closely linked to lifestyle changes, which can be difficult for many people to make and require a great deal of support from health care professionals and the community.^{16,33} Effective management has also been linked to involvement from primary care professionals, nurses, community health workers, and dieticians, as well as secondary care workers.¹⁰ Physician involvement is necessary for medical assessment, management, counseling, and coordination of obesity treatment.¹⁷ Obesity is currently



responsible for 61.8 billion dollars of Medicare and Medicaid spending annually.³⁴ Yet, behavioral counseling of any kind was not covered until 2011.^{33,34}

Many physicians have worked towards incorporating different office-based strategies to assist their obese patients during their visits. Some commonly documented strategies include making recommendations for assisted self-management, guidance on popular diets, advising the patient about commercial weight-loss programs, advising patients about and prescribing medications, recommending bariatric surgery, and supplementing these strategies with counseling.³⁵ A common approach is to utilize the 5-A framework for behavioral counseling. The 5-A framework is based on the physician *assessment, advising, agreeing, assisting,* and *arranging* interventions to help with weight loss.^{32,35} Overall, research has collectively shown that behaviorally based treatments resulted in 3kg greater weight loss in intervention groups than control participants after 12-18 months, while also finding that more treatment sessions were associated with greater weight loss.³⁶

The Joint Guidelines from the National Institutes of Health, the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, and the North American Association for the Study of Obesity all recommend three levels of treatment based on BMI and presence or lack of comorbidities.³⁰ Lifestyle modification (increased physical activity, reduced-calorie diet, and behavior modification) are recommended for all patients whose BMI is equal to or greater than 25 kg/m²; whereas, pharmacotherapy is recommended for patients with a BMI of 27 kg/m² – 29.9 kg/m² or 25 kg/m² if they have comorbidities, or a BMI of 30 kg/m² or greater with no comorbidities. Recommendations for weight loss surgery is currently reserved for those who are severely obese, those with a BMI equal to or greater



than 35 kg/m² with comorbidities, or those with a BMI equal or greater than 40 kg/m² with or without comorbidities.³⁰ With several different options in place, population based strategies that improve social and physical environments are often the basis of nonclinical strategies in addressing obesity.² Thus, physicians have an integral part to play in all of the treatment options and management strategies for obese patients.

Obesity policy related to healthcare practice

The Patient Safety and Quality Improvement Act (PSQIA) was signed into law on July 29, 2005 as a response from the Federal Government to the 1999 Institutes of Medicine report and established a system of Patient Safety Organizations (PSOs). The system in the US contains the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) which has a National Guideline Clearinghouse (NGC) that is responsible for establishing guidelines and recommendations physicians use for best practices. The NGC relies on the USPSTF for developing the evidence-based recommendations and guidelines. USPSTF makes recommendations about the effectiveness of specific clinical preventive services for patients without related signs or symptoms (USPSTF add). The USPSTF has numerous guidelines and recommendations for a wide-range of health-related services.

To aid clinicians in treating obesity, the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute issued the first obesity-related practice guidelines in 1998.¹⁸ These guidelines recommended that clinicians determine if patients are overweight or obese, advise on weight loss strategies for those interested in losing weight, and motivate those not currently interested to engage in appropriate weight management strategies.¹⁸ In 2003, these guidelines were updated by USPSTF and recommended that clinicians screen all adult patients for obesity and offer intensive counseling and behavioral interventions to promote sustained weight loss for obese adults.³² This recommendation was graded as a



B which means that there is high certainty that net benefit was moderate to substantial.³² The USPSTF found that the most effective interventions combined both nutrition education and diet and exercise counseling along with behavioral strategies to help patients become more confident in their need and ability to change and become more physically active.³² The task force defines a high intensity program as one that is more than 1 person-to-person (individual or group) session per month for at least the first 3 months of the intervention.³² A medium intensity intervention is a monthly intervention and anything less frequent is deemed as a low intensity intervention.³² Following these definitions, the task force found that the most effective interventions were comprehensive and of high intensity (12-26 sessions in a year).³² However, even with this finding, there are no recommendations made on the intervals of screening due to the lack of evidence of interval times.¹⁸ This USPSTF recommendation was updated again in 2012 and recommended screening all adults for obesity where the clinicians should offer or refer patients with a BMI of 30 kg/m² or higher to intensive, multicomponent behavioral interventions.¹⁰ Since 2003, the USPSTF has found adequate evidence that intensive multicomponent behavioral interventions for obese adults can not only improve BMI in obese patients, but also improve glucose tolerance and other physiologic risk factors for CVD.¹⁰ As a result, the most current recommendation only addresses individuals with a BMI of 30 kg/m² or higher and does not address the effectiveness, or lack thereof, of screening in overweight adults with BMI of 25 kg/m² – 29.9 kg/m, which could be detrimental to assisting those who are overweight and not yet obese.²

The USPSTF bases its recommendations based on the evidence of the benefits and harms of the service and as an assessment of the balance between the two.³



www.manaraa.com

Furthermore, it does not consider the cost of providing a service within this assessment.³ Yet, the USPSTF guidelines stress important themes applicable to obesity management policies and guidelines around the world.¹⁰

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines health policy as an agreement or consensus on the health issues, goals, and objectives to be addressed, the priorities among those objectives, and the main directions for achieving them.³⁷ Whereas, integrated public health policies are defined as the combination of policies including an appropriate mixture of interventions that optimizes the functioning of the behavioral system; thus, ensuring that motivation, capability, and opportunity interact in such a way that they promote the preferred (health-promoting) behavior of the target population, and the policies are implemented by the relevant policy sector from different policy domains.³⁸ Thus, obesity would fall into both the health policy and integrated public health policy domains since the etiology is so complex in nature.

Research has shown that measurable changes in awareness and knowledge are anticipated within 2 years of a policy change or different practice in medicine.³⁹ Social norms, preferences and food choices take a little longer and are anticipated over 3 years after a change.³⁹ Yet, the earliest impact for the reduction in the prevalence of overweight or obesity was over 5 years following the change.³⁹ Thus, the first recommendation made in 1998 would not have seen a difference in prevalence until after 2003 when the recommendation was updated by the USPSTF. Therefore, the 2003 updated recommendations would not have caused a difference in obesity prevalence until after 2008.



www.manaraa.com

2.2 SIGNIFICANT RESEARCH PUBLISHED ABOUT THE PROBLEM

Physician vs. lay population views on obesity treatment

Greener and colleagues' research found that health professionals and policy makers largely view obesity as a socio-ecologically determined problem, which is explained through social and environmental causes. Health professionals tend to be more focused on individual-oriented weight management interventions as effective responses, whereas policy makers consider environmental and social policy change as the most likely way to reduce obesity.⁴⁰ However, policy makers also know it is unlikely that such policies would be implemented without political will and popular support.⁴⁰

The majority of physicians believe the biomedical perspective views of health are principally attributable to biological and psychological problems.⁴⁰ This perspective explains that obesity is caused by the deficient behavior of individuals who fail to expend more calories than they consume. As a result, many interventions focus on the individual and are based upon the assumption that once a patient receives the appropriate information about their problem, s/he will be more likely to engage in healthy behaviors. Biomedical obesity interventions aim to enhance the health promoting capability of existing health services to prevent or reduce the occurrence of obesity in patients.⁴⁰

All of this information renders into primary care physician (PCP) beliefs about diet-related causes of obesity translating into actionable nutritional counseling to use with their obese patients.⁴¹ Yet, family practitioners, internists, and endocrinologists reported treating obesity themselves in only about 50% of their obese patients, whereas other groups reported intervening with only 5% to 29% of obese patients, but expressed greater interest in making referrals.²⁵ Physicians express high concern with management of



www.manaraa.com

obesity but vary in the interest in assuming this role themselves. Dolor and associates found that physicians agreed that diet and weight counseling requires too much time compared with other intervention efforts such as smoking cessation.⁴² They also found that physicians feel less adequately trained to counsel about diet than they do with smoking cessation. Lastly, they found that physicians agree that they think patients find diet, weight, and physical activity topics more embarrassing to discuss than smoking.⁴² Thus, physicians do not always attempt to provide diet and weight counseling to their obese patients due to restraints on time, lack of education, and sensitivity of the topic.

The vast majority of physicians believe that obesity is caused by psychological and behavioral factors and are uncertain about the effectiveness of the available solutions to treat it.⁴³ When compared to the lay population, PCPs show a greater endorsement of behavioral, structural, social, and psychological causes of obesity, and less of the biological model of causality.⁴³ Thus, physicians either endorse a medical solution if they believe obesity is caused by biological factors or endorse policy change as a solution if they believe it is caused by social factors.⁴³ Overall, PCPs and other general practitioners believe that obesity does not belong within the medical domain due to the social factors that play into the disease.^{43,44}

A study that surveyed patients and physicians revealed that in terms of causes of obesity, patients were more likely to attribute obesity to a gland or hormone problem, slow metabolism, and stress, whereas, physicians were likely to blame obesity on overeating.⁴³ They also found that in terms of consequences, patients rated difficulty getting to work more highly, whereas, physicians regarded diabetes as a more important consequence of the disease. They found that regarding the solution to obesity, patients



www.manaraa.com

rated the PCP and a counselor as more helpful, whereas, the physicians rated the obese person themselves more highly. The study further discovered that patients have a self-serving model of obesity by blaming internal uncontrollable factors for causing obesity, yet expecting external factors to solve it. Meanwhile, physicians tend to take on a victim blaming model through attributing both cause and solution to internal controllable factors within the individual. Odgen and colleagues concluded that such differing models have implications regarding the form of intervention likely to be used in primary care and they conclude that patients would prefer a more professional based approach, while PCPs would prefer a more patient-led one. They found that even if an intervention could be negotiated, success rates would be low as either the patient or the PCP would be acting in contradiction to their beliefs about the nature of obesity.^{43,44}

Counseling in primary care practice

Ma and colleagues examined the national estimates of counseling practices based on the USPSTF recommendations through analyzing data from the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) from 1992-2000. They found that throughout the 1990s, diet counseling was provided in less than 45% and physical activity counseling in less than 30% of visits by adults with obesity.⁴⁵ When counseling did occur in the outpatient visit, visits with diet counseling averaged 20.1 minutes; visits with exercise counseling averaged 20.6 minutes, in contrast with an average of 18.3 minutes for visits without counseling.⁵ Yet, numerous reports sight the importance of normal physical activity for the prevention of numerous chronic diseases.⁴⁶ Results from previous research has shown that physician interventions to discuss physical activity need not take more than 3-5 minutes during an office visit and can play a critical role in patient implementation.⁴⁷



www.manaraa.com

Thus, time should not be a limiting factor for physicians to discussing these obesity related topics.

Alexander found that despite USPSTF recommendations, physicians address weight loss in less than 20% of their visits and many address weight in a less than optimal way.⁴⁸ Another study established that fewer than 50% of physicians reported always providing specific guidance on diet, physical activity, or weight control.^{29,49} This same study found that regardless of the patient's disease status, less than 20% of PCPs always referred patients for further evaluation and less than 22% reported always systematically tracking patients over time concerning weight or weight-related behaviors.²⁹ Ma stated that despite available national guidelines, diet and physical activity counseling remain below expectations during outpatient visits by obese adults. This study aligns with past studies that examine physician practice regarding behavioral counseling and have consistently suggested suboptimal adherence to clinical guidelines.^{5,41} However, they positively anticipate that counseling rates will increase over time.

Felix and colleagues later assessed the impact of the USPSTF recommendations by examining the Behavior and Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey from 2000-2005. Less than half of the pre- and post-guideline obese respondents reported receiving weight loss counseling (WLC) from their clinician. Post-guideline reports by obese patients in 11 states were very low (44%), when compared to the 100% WLC recommendations by the USPSTF. They found no significant differences in odds of receiving WLC when comparing pre-guideline and post-guideline data.¹⁸ These findings are counterintuitive since previous research has demonstrated that overweight and obese



www.manaraa.com

individuals who receive WLC from their clinicians are more likely to engage in weight loss efforts.

Barlow and associates conducted a study that found that a diagnosis code of obesity was assigned to less than 10% of the patients with an obese BMI. Bardia and colleagues found that 19.9% of obese patients had a diagnosis of documented obesity, and of those 19.9%, only 22.6% (approximately 4 patients) had an obesity management plan documented. A 2011 study found that 1/3 of obese adults received an obesity diagnosis and approximately 1/5 received counseling for weight reduction or exercise.⁴¹ That same study found that one of the biggest predictors of weight-related counseling was an obesity diagnosis.⁴¹ These studies reveal that there is a significant gap that exists between physician practice, diagnosis, and optimal management of obesity in clinical practice.¹⁶

Barriers to counseling in primary care practice

Physicians are faced with many barriers to care in their daily office practice. When dealing specifically with barriers to counseling, they are faced with several barriers including lack of time, inadequate training and education in weight counseling, negative physician attitudes towards obese patients, and pessimism regarding weight loss.^{26,50,51–53} Previous research suggests that PCPs feel obliged to counsel about the health risks of obesity and make sure of goal setting and referrals, but may not feel competent to intervene and may tend to 'blame the victim (patient)' for his or her lack of self-control.²⁵ Furthermore, some physicians find it difficult to recognize when a patient is mildly obese, but appear to recognize the medical significance of moderate to morbidly obese patients; yet, express ambivalence regarding how to approach the issue.²⁵



Research shows that differences in patient-physician perception and expectations are believed to pose a significant barrier to effective communication about weight loss and may hinder patient motivation to make health behavior changes.^{54,55} Even if the communication begins for counseling, physicians perceive many significant barriers that hinder the discussion. These include some of the following: societal factors such as sedentary nature of work, the role of the family and social groups interference with interventions, scarce resources, low outcome expectations, lack of training to influence weight loss, lack of confidence, lack of reimbursement [until the Affordable Care Act in 2010 that requires all health insurance carriers to cover USPSTF recommended services with no patient deductible or copayment¹⁴, and vague USPSTF guidelines.^{26,48,55} Furthermore, there is no consensus as to the provision of diet and physical activity counseling to PCP patients, leaving the decision up to the physician as to what will be discussed and how often.⁵ Thus, there is a disconnect between physicians' high level of confidence in medical training and their low expectations that patients will change their behavior.42

Even though there are numerous barriers to providing the needed counseling in primary care, Gudzune and colleagues found that patients have a positive perception of their physician and indicate promise for health professionals acting as motivators of behavior change in obese patients.⁵⁶ Physicians can use this perception to their advantage when trying to address sensitive topics with their obese patients. Another survey by Dolor and associates, found that patients were very comfortable discussing weight, diet, exercise, and smoking behaviors with their physicians.⁴² They also found that patients were confident that they could reduce their weight (36%), compared with increasing their



physical activity (28%). The patients were highly motivated to lose weight (51%), but fewer were motivated to change their diet (28%).⁴² Smith and colleagues, along with numerous others, consistently document that physician's recommendations have a strong influence on individual health behaviors, and that physicians are an important source of information on preventive healthcare.²⁹ Ko reiterates that data suggests healthcare professionals are not taking advantage of their influential role in promoting health behaviors among their obese patient population.²⁸ Scott further states that PCPs are uniquely positioned to observe the adverse health consequences of these societal trends (obesity) and it is incumbent upon them not only to provide assistance to obese patients in the office, but also to advocate for broader social policies that promote food nutrition and increased physical activity, thus, addressing the root causes of the obesity epidemic.⁵⁷ Physicians are faced with many barriers, yet with these positives noted, the physicians are in a position to make a difference for their obese patients if they take the time to do so. *Sex differences in obesity counseling provided by PCPs*

Physicians and patients bring their own characteristics, attitudes, belief, expectations, and communication styles to a medical visit. Physician sex has been found to have an impact on the process of medical care and its outcomes.⁵⁸ Most notably, the physician's sex leads to differences in the way they communicate and interact with their patients.⁵⁸ Female PCPs tend to be more engaged in partnership building, information sharing, discussion of psychosocial topics, and encourage more patient participation in their interaction when compared to their male counterparts.^{58–60} Female PCPs also include more focus on the patient's emotional and psychosocial concerns which enhances the patient's level of participation in care.⁶¹ Furthermore, female physicians are more



likely to see female patients, have longer visit durations, were most likely to perform preventive services and make follow-up arrangements and referrals, and had more talk during the visit in general.^{59,60} One study found that patients of female physicians have been found to talk 58% more than patients of male physicians and to be more satisfied in their care overall.⁶⁰ Yet, another other studies have found that there is no difference in satisfaction of patients between physician sex.^{54,62} Male PCPs tend to spend more time doing technical practice behaviors with their patients (medical history note taking) when compared to females.⁶³ These differences in physician behavior could result in differences seen in providing counseling to their obese patients.

Patient sex has also been found to translate into different experiences during medical care encounters. Specifically, female patients tend to ask more questions, get more information, receive more counseling and preventive services, and have more participatory visits when compared to male patients.^{58,62,63} Female patients also have more emotionally charged talk and portray more interested with their voice quality than men.⁶² Female patients have an overall lower health status, more likely to receive an obesity diagnosis, make more medical visits, and have higher total annual health spending when compared to their male counterparts.^{41,58,59} Several studies revealed a favoring of female patients in receiving more total and comprehensive health services, more preventive services, more information, and more total communication over men during visits.^{58,60} In a study of women and their desired counseling from a PCP found that white and African American women desire the same type of counseling and interaction from their physicians.^{64,65} Thus, women overall seem to have the same preference in counseling and interaction with their physician; whereas, men have different



expectations. Several differences have been found between overweight and obese women and men, where men receive less advice for weight-loss.⁵⁴ As previously stated, women are more likely to make medical visits; therefore, men may be a greater risk of not addressing their weight-related concerns and less likely to receive an obesity diagnosis.^{16,54} Since there are differences between the way that male and female patients are treated, health provider's behavior may be based on gender-related considerations and stereotypes.⁵⁸ Medical care can be described as a social process and not very different from other arenas of interpersonal relationships; yet, patient gender effects on physician behavior has been fewer, weaker, and less consistent over time.⁶²

Age differences in obesity counseling provided by PCPs

The relationship between age and receiving weight loss counseling is unclear. Currently, 68% of US adults are overweight or obese, 32% of school-aged children and adolescents are at or above the 85 percentile of BMI for age.^{66,67} An overweight schoolaged child is 30% more likely to become an obese adult, and increases to 80% for an overweight adolescent.⁶⁸ While the relationship is unclear between age and obesity counseling, there are some themes that have emerged throughout research that reveal some trends in regards to age and health education counseling. Older patients (65+) and young adults (18-29) are significantly less likely to have an obesity diagnosis recorded in their medical record by their PCP.^{16,41,49}

One study found that increasing age is related to receiving more advice until the age of 55-65.⁵¹ Along with another study that found patients aged 18-49 were more likely to have primary prevention efforts from their PCP in regards to weight management.⁶⁹ After ages 55-65 the inverse relationship applies; thus, middle aged patients have been


found to have the highest obesity-related counseling rates of all ages.⁵¹ Between 1991 and 2000, the obesity rates in people aged 60-69 has increased 56% and for people aged 70 and higher increased 36%.⁷⁰ The baby boomer generation is aging and as a result the Medicare and Medicaid obesity-related costs are likely to grow substantially due to their large numbers and higher rates of obesity when compared to previous generations.²³ Therefore, it is important to study and understand the current differences in counseling due to age. One large reason is because obesity can exacerbate the age-related decline in physical function in patients over the age of 65 and lead to increased frailty.⁷⁰ Many studies have shown that weight-loss counseling and therapy can improve physical function, quality of life, glucose tolerance, reduced incidence of diabetes, and medical complications associated with obesity in adults over the age of 65.^{70,71}

Weight differences in obesity counseling provided by PCPs

Overweight and obese patients have reported that they receive different types of weight-loss advice during medical visits depending on the severity of their obesity status. Overweight men have reported deficits in their care relative to average weight men.⁷² Whereas, overweight women have reported enhanced care relative to average weight women.⁷² This same trend of treatment discrepancies were seen in another study where overweight and obese men reported receiving less advice than obese women.⁵⁴ One study found that physicians are more likely to encourage women who have a BMI of 25 kg/m² or greater to lose weight and suggest more treatment referrals than men with the similar BMI.⁷² However, men with a BMI of 32 kg/m² or greater were more likely to be encourage to lose weight and have treatment referrals than women with the similar BMI.⁷² Overall, studies have found that physicians are more likely to provide weight-loss



www.manaraa.com

counseling and treatment referrals for patient with higher and more morbid BMIs.⁷² Increasing BMI, specifically with severely obese individuals, has been consistently related to weight-related counseling and a strong predictor of formulation of an obesity plan.^{16,51,72–74} In a study looking at obese pregnant women, the results revealed that overweight and obese pregnant women were significantly less likely to receive diet/nutrition counseling as were overweight or obese non-pregnant women.⁷⁵ This study further portrays that physician behavior and patient characteristics play an important role in whether health education counseling occurs during a visit. Dutton found that patients BMI and physicians sex is most consistently associated with physician practice of providing weight-loss counseling to their patients.⁷⁶

Physician's behavior in providing health education counseling can be influenced by patient factors including age, level of motivation, medical morbidity, and BMI.⁷² Research shows that many physicians have negative attitudes and discriminatory intentions towards their patients who are more obese.⁷² This stems from physician behavior and beliefs that overweight individuals are responsible for their condition and attribute their lack of weight loss to a lack of self-control and lack of cooperation.⁷² While these feelings occur, physicians do not feel that their attitudes and beliefs translate into action; yet, studies demonstrate that attitudes and intentions often predict behavior.⁷² This alone makes it important to further understand the relationships between physician behavior in providing counseling and patient characteristics that influence their behavior. *Type of physician and differences in practice of obesity counseling*

Different types of physicians have been found to provide more health education counseling when compared to other types. PCPs are 2.38 times more likely to provide



www.manaraa.com

weight-loss management when compared to non-PCP physicians.⁷⁴ Specialist have reported high concern for the health risks related to overweight and obese patients, but are not as likely to provide counseling to those patients.²⁵ Family practitioners, internists, and endocrinologists report treating their patients for obesity themselves in about 50% of their obese patient population.²⁵ While other groups reported treating their patients for obesity in about 5% to 29% of their obese patient population.²⁵

Electronic Health Record Implementation counseling differences by PCPs

Electronic Medical Records (EMRs) provide a new way that physicians can use technology to assist during patient visits. One common way to use the EMRs is to assist in reminders for counseling during the visit.⁷⁷ Several studies have looked to see if automated prompts for counseling would lead to greater weight loss or a greater amount of counseling to occur during visits.^{78,79} The results found that automated clinical reminders did not alone cause weight loss to occur in overweight and obese patients; however, if the physician diagnosed the patient with obesity during the visit, the weight loss was greater overall.⁷⁸ While other studies have looked at the use of EMRs and automatic calculations of BMI in relation to how often counseling occurs.^{80,81,82} The results found that the documentation increased for severely obese individuals but not in others.⁸⁰ This was thought to be due to the physician's behavior of only checking the BMI of the patient when they were noticeable obese.⁸⁰ Numerous studies show that with EMRs implementation in the practice with a weight-related mechanism built in, results in higher referral rates for patients when compared with those without.^{81,82} A more sophisticated study looked at documentation of diagnosis of obesity with EMRs that included an alert for overweight patients, a counseling template, an order set to facilitate



www.manaraa.com

entry of diagnosis, an import template for notes, and enabling ordering of specific handouts for patients.⁸³ With all of these mechanisms working within the EMR, the control group had increased documentation and short-term behavior change as a result.⁸³ While EMRs are a great start and show improvement in documentation and referrals of obese patients, there are still fallbacks within primary care practices and others. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 has money targeted to assist physicians, hospitals, and other health care settings in adopting EMRs. Yet, EMRs are most often used in a way that does not maximize their potential to improve care at the point of service or the quality of care overall.⁸⁴

Other factors that influence the likelihood of providing obesity counseling

There are some other factors that have been linked to the likelihood of a physician to provide health education counseling regarding obesity. Physician's BMI has been shown to play a role in the likelihood of that physician to provide obesity counseling to their patients.⁸⁵ The most common trend is that normal weight physicians with normal BMI ranges are more likely to engage their patients in weight loss discussion and counseling as compared to overweight and obese physicians.⁸⁵ This has been related to the increased confidence in normal weight physicians and the belief that patients would trust their advice more if their BMI was within the normal range.⁸⁵ However, regardless of the physicians BMI, most physicians feel responsible to provide weight related care to their patients but have concerns in their effectiveness and lack of effective strategies to do so.⁸⁶ Furthermore, one study showed that physicians overestimate the amount of weight-related discussions that they actually have with their patients.⁸⁷ Physicians feel that they discuss weight loss topics more often with their patients than what recorded visits reflect



www.manaraa.com

which could be why the counseling rates are inconsistent in all obese patients. Thus, reiterating the point that patients and physicians have different views and expectations and may not have the most effective communication during office visits. *Intersection of perception and implementation of USPSTF recommendations*

Unfortunately, there is a divide in the perception of obesity by the lay population and medical professionals, specifically physicians. Throughout all of the research mentioned previously, the results suggest that USPSTF obesity-related guidelines have not had an impact on obesity prevalence or physician WLC behaviors.¹⁸ However, Macdiarmid and colleagues developed a timeline to estimate the 'time to impact' for policy-related interventions in health.³⁹ Following their research, they found that measurable changes in awareness and knowledge were anticipated within 2 years, while for social norms and preferences, the anticipated time was 3 years.³⁹ Furthermore, they established that the earliest time to impact for a reduction in the prevalence of overweight or obesity was greater than 5 years.³⁹ Thus, with data currently available up until 2010, it is unknown whether the rates of PCP counseling (USPSTF recommended counseling) have increased since previous studies were published and whether it has had an impact on the prevalence of obesity.



CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY

3.1 INSTRUMENTATION AND DATA COLLECTION

Data for this study were obtained from the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) and were pooled between 2008 and 2010. NAMCS is a national survey designed to meet the need for objective, reliable information about the provision and use of ambulatory medical care services in the US. The validity of this survey has been documented with good concordance shown between survey results and direct observations in physician practices.⁸⁸ Findings from the survey are based on a sample of visits to non-federal employed office based physicians who are primarily engaged in direct patient care. Physician specialties excluded from participating in the survey are anesthesiology, pathology, and radiology. The survey has been conducted annually since 1989.⁸⁹

Specially trained interviewers visit the physicians prior to their participation in the survey to provide them with the survey materials and instruct them on how to complete the forms. The data are collected by the physician, not the patient, to provide an analytic base that expands information on ambulatory care collected through other NCHS surveys. Each physician selected is randomly assigned to a one-week reporting period. During the reporting period, data for a systematic random sample of visits are recorded by the physician or office staff on an encounter form that is provided.⁸⁹

NAMCS utilizes a multistage probability design that involves probability samples of primary sampling units (PSUs), physician practices within PSUs, and patient visits



within practices. The procedure produces essentially unbiased national estimates. The first-stage sample includes 112 PSUs which are geographic segments composed of counties, groups of counties, county equivalents or towns and townships within the 50 state and the District of Columbia. The second-stage stratifies physicians by 15 groups. The third and final stage divides the physician sample into 52 random subsamples or equal size, and each subsample is randomly assigned to 1 of 52 weeks in the survey year. Lastly, a systematic random sample of visits is selected by the physician during the reporting week. The sampling rate varies from 100% sample for small practices, to 20% for large practices.⁸⁹

The unit of analysis for the survey is the physician-patient encounter or visit. For each patient visit, a standard encounter form is completed by the physician with staff assistance when possible. The encounter form contains information on patients' symptoms, patient demographics (e.g., age, race, ethnicity), visit characteristics (e.g., general exam, duration of visit), physician characteristics (e.g., specialty, region of the country), physician diagnoses, diagnostic information (e.g., *International Classification of Disease, Ninth Revisions, Clinical Modification* (ICD-9-CM) codes and reasons for visit), medication orders, preventive counseling, patient management, and planned future treatments. Item nonresponse rates are generally 5% or less in the survey, with few exceptions. Keying and coding error rates generally range between 0-1% for various survey items. The NAMCS encounter forms are revised every 2 years. Thus, specific variables are not always available for the entire study span.⁸⁹



3.2 RESEARCH DESIGN

This is a pooled cross-sectional study of a secondary dataset (NAMCS) from 2008-2010. There was no control group and no intervention implemented within the study. Instead, those physicians that were selected for participation formed a sample of surveys that were reviewed. There were no ethical concerns regarding the design of the study since the dataset is de-identified. The study sample sizes for each year are presented in Table 3.1. The pooled data between 2008 and 2010 had a total sample size of 92,251; however, after exclusions were introduced the population dropped to 11,041 (Table 3.1). There were two large exclusions within this study. The first exclusion was based on the patient's reported BMI level during the visit. If the patient had a BMI of less than 30 3.3 DEPENDENT VARIABLE

Dependent variables under investigation are the reported provision of diet/nutrition health education counseling, exercise health education counseling, weight reduction health education counseling, and diagnosis of obesity as indicated by check boxes on the NAMCS encounter forms (yes – checked or no-unchecked). All forms of counseling were assessed during the study period of 2008 to 2010.

3.4 INDEPENDENT VARIABLE

Independent variables for the patient characteristics were determined using the Andersen model of healthcare utilization and the physician-induced demand model (Table 3.2). The Andersen model suggests that health behaviors are a result of several individual and contextual factors. These individual factors are broken out into predisposing, enabling and need factors (Figure 3.1)^{90,91}.



Table 3.1: Sample Size

Year	Total NAMCS Sample	Study Sub-sample
2008	28,741	3,307
2009	32,281	4,392
2010	31,229	3,342
Total	92,251	11,041



Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	
Patient Characteristics		
Predisposing	Diet/nutrition health education counseling	
Age	Exercise health education counseling	
Gender	Weight reduction health education	
	counseling	
Race		
Enabling		
Expected type of payment		
Time spent with physician		
Obesity check box		
Urban/Rural		
Need		
Type of office visit scheduled		
BMI		
Physician Characteristics		
Provider Type		
Practice Ownership		
EMR Implementation		
EMR Reminder Status		
Physician Specialty		

Table 3.2 Independent and Dependent Variables





Figure 3.1: The Andersen Model of Healthcare Utilization & Health Outcomes.⁹⁰



Contextual Characteristics

Individual Characteristics Behaviors

Outcomes

Predisposing variables examined included age in years (18-44, 45-64, and 65+), gender (male and female), and race (white, non-white, and missing). Enabling factors included the expected type of payment from the patient (private pay yes or no; government pay yes or no; and other pay yes or no), the time spent with the physician in minutes (0-10, 11-20, 21-30, and 30+) and whether the BMI box was checked on their survey form (yes – checked and no-unchecked). Need was assessed through the type of visit that was scheduled by the patient (new problem, chronic problem-routine, chronic problem-flare-up, pre/post-surgery, and preventive) and a BMI calculation (class I: 30.0-34.9, class II: 35.0-39.9, and class III: 40+) of the patient's height and weight to determine BMI level and need for counseling and the type of visit that was scheduled.

Independent variables for the provider characteristics were determined from the supplier (physician) induced demand model. In economics, demand curves are defined as stable.⁹² However, they can be shifted outward by an outside force (such as a physician). The physician induced demand model reflects the idea that information between physicians and patients is asymmetric and a physician can shift the demand curve for their services when it is in the physician's self-interest to do so (Figure 3.2).^{92,93} This shifting would involve a physician recommending care, such as a revisit, whether it is beneficial to the patient or not.^{92,93} In this case, the recommended care would benefit the patient since it could potentially increase their health through the health education counseling visits and revisits.^{92,93} The variables examined in regards to the provider characteristics from the physician induced demand model are the provider type (MD and DO), the practice ownership (physician or physician group, HMO, community health center, and other), provider specialty (family practice and other), EMR implementation





Figure 3.2: The concept of physician induced demand (Sloan and Folland).



within the practice (yes – all electronic, yes – part paper/part electronic, no, and unknown) and EMR clinical reminder status (yes-reminders turned on and no-reminders turned off).

3.5 STUDY CONCEPTUAL MODEL

A study conceptual model was developed to describe how the dependent and independent variables are related to each other within this study (Figure 3.3). The base of the model was developed from Andersen's model, discussed previously, where there are predisposing (blue variables), enabling (green variables) and need (orange variables) factors association with health care delivery (listed down the side of Figure 3.3). The variables that fall into each of these categories can be classified as provider characteristics, patient characteristics, behaviors, or outcomes (listed across the top). The other model used was the physician induced demand model that is included with variables under provider characteristics and behaviors. While the outcomes of this study are the types of health education counseling, they are classified as health behaviors that make them intermediate outcomes within the model. The final outcomes of the model will not be observed within this study.

3.6 PATIENT CRITERIA AND EXCLUSIONS

The BMI categories of underweight, normal weight, overweight, and obese were used for this study from the established categories by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (Table 3.2). For the purposes of this study, only the obese category (BMI of 30.0 kg/m^2 and above) of patients was analyzed because the USPSTF recommendations are only for those individuals with a BMI of 30.0 kg/m^2 and above.



www.manaraa.com



Figure 3.3 Study Conceptual Model



Once the obese category was identified, it was further broken down into obesity classes (Obesity Class I: 30.0 kg/m² -34.9 kg/m², Obesity Class II: 35.0 kg/m² -39.9 kg/m², and Obesity Class III: 40 kg/m² and above). The class I obesity group was used as the referent level in analysis since it is the lowest class of obesity. The Age categories of 18-24, 25-44, 45-64, and 65 and above were going to be used for this study from the established breakdown of age groups within the U.S. Census Bureau. However, after the univariate analysis was completed, the 18-24 and 25-44 groups were combined to provide a large enough sample for further anlysis. Those individuals below the age of 18 will be excluded from this study to include only the adult population for which the USPSTF recommendations are written.

Gender was broken into male and female, where the male group was used as the referent level. The race variable was initially broken into white, black/African American, Asian, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, American Indian, and more than one race. Following the univariate analysis, the categories of white, non-white and missing were used to ensure a large enough population for further analysis. Non-white describes all of the race categories except the whites. The missing category was included for analysis because it had over 2,000 patient visits with missing race that would have been excluded from the multivariate analysis if it was not kept. The white category was used as the referent level in analysis.

The expected type of payment variable was initially broken into private, Medicare, Medicaid, workers compensation, self-pay, no charge, and other. However, the univariate analysis results led to combining different groups to make a large enough population for further analysis. Therefore, the private pay variable remained the same, the Medicare,



Variable	Variable Subcategories
Age	18-44*
(Years)	45-64
	65+
	Excluded: <18 years of age
Gender	Male*
	Female
Race	White*
	Non-White
	Missing
Expected type of payment	Private Pay
	Yes*
	No
	Government Pay
	Yes*
	No
	Other Pay
	Yes*
	No
Time spent with physician	0-10
(Minutes)	11-20*
	21-30
	30+
Obesity check box	Yes, Checked*
	No, Unchecked
Urban/Rural	Urban*
	Rural
Type of office visit scheduled	New Problem
	Chronic Problem, routine
	Chronic Problem, flare-up
	Pre-Post Surgery
	Preventive Care*
BMI	Class I: 30.0-34.9 kg/m ² *
	Class II: $35.0-39.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$
	Class III:40+ kg/m ²
	Excluded: <30 kg/m ²
*Denotes referent level	

Table 3.3: Patient Characteristic Variables and Categories



Medicaid, and workers compensation variables were combined to make the government pay variable, and the self-pay, no charge, and other were combined to make the other pay variable, each with a yes or no response. The yes response was used as the referent level within each of the payment variables. The time spent with the physician variable describes the amount of time that the patient spent with the physician during the visit. The survey reports the time in 1 minute increments up to 59 minutes and then has '1 hour' and '1 hour and' categories for each hour up to 4. The initial plan to was change this variable from continuous to categorical by dividing up the time spent with physician into the subcategories of 10 minute intervals until 1 hour and then have hour long intervals up to the '4 hours and' category from the survey. However, once the univariate analysis was completed, it was apparent that subcategories needed to be combined so that there was enough sample within each variable to run further analysis. Therefore, the end result was 0-10 minutes, 11-20 minutes, 21-30 minutes, and 30 minutes and above. The 11-20 minute subcategory was used as the referent level since the average time scheduled with a physician is 15 minutes.

The encounter form has a section that says, "regardless of the diagnosis written for the patient, does the patient now have – mark all that apply." Within this section there is a check box for obesity. Thus, this variable has the subcategories of yes, the box was checked or no, the box was unchecked. The yes-boxed checked subcategory was used as the referent level, since we know all of the visits in the study had obese patient encounters due to the BMI exclusions. The type of office visit variable describes the documented reason for the visit based on the physician's understanding of the patient's problems. The reason for visit variable was broken into 5 subcategories including new



problem (which is less than 3 months onset), chronic problem (routine), chronic problem (flare-up), pre/post-surgery and preventive care. The preventive care subcategory was used as the referent level in analysis since that is the type of visit that health education counseling would most likely occur within. Lastly, the urban/rural variable describes the type of location that the visit took place within. The initial plan to was divide the variable into the subcategories of large central metro, large fringe metro, medium metro, micropolitan, and small metro like the survey had it broken down. However, this variable had 4 subcategories that all reflected an urban classification and 1 that reflected a rural. Therefore, large central metro, large fringe metro, and small metro to make the urban subcategory and micropolitan was left as is to make the rural subcategory for distinction between the two. Thus, the end result was 2 subcategories of urban and rural. Urban was used as the referent level for analysis.

3.7 PHYSICIAN CRITERIA AND EXCLUSIONS

The type of practice ownership subcategories from the survey included physician or physician group, HMO, community health center, medical/academic health center, other hospital, other health care corporation, and other. (Table 3.3). However, following the univariate analysis, some subcategories needed to be combined to allow for a large enough sample and less complicated results. Thus, the physician and physician group, HMO, and community health center subcategories remained as they were and the medical/academic health center, other hospital, other health care corporation, and other were all combined to form the other subcategory. The physician or physician group ownership was used as the referent level for analysis. The provider type variable describes the training and degree of the physician providing the visit.



www.manaraa.com

Variable	Variable Subcategories
Provider Type	MD* DO
Practice Ownership	Physician or Physician Group* HMO Community Health Center Other
EMR Implementation	Yes, all electronic* Yes, part paper, part electronic No Unknown
EMR Reminder Status	Yes* No
Physician Specialty	Family Practice* Other
*Denotes referent level	

Table 3.4: Provider Characteristic Variables and Categories



www.manaraa.com

The provider type variable was broken into two subcategories including medical doctor (MD) and doctor of osteopathy (DO) which is the same as the survey breakdown of the variable. The physician specialty describes the specialty that the physician is certified to practice within during the time of the visit recorded.

The physician specialty variable was initial broken into several categories. However, for the purposes of this project, I was only interested in family practice compared to other. Thus, the 2 subcategories include family practice specialty which includes general/family practice, internal medicine, and OBGYN, and other includes all other specialties within the survey which included cardiovascular, dermatology, general surgery, neurology, oncology, ophthalmology, orthopedic surgery, pediatrics, psychiatry, urology, and other specialties. Family practice was used as the referent level since it was the specialty of interest in regards to the USPSTF recommendations. The EMR implementation variable describes the current EMR status of the practice in which the visit is taking place. The EMR Implementation variable was broken into 4 subcategories including yes, all electronic, yes, part electronic and part paper, no, and unknown which is the same as the survey breakdown of the variable. The yes, all electronic subcategory was used as the referent level for analysis. Lastly, the EMR reminder status variable describes whether the practice is utilizing the EMR's ability to remind the physicians to provide certain types of treatment to patients based on their history and background provided in the medical record. The EMR reminder status variable was broken into 2 subcategories including yes, turned on and no or turned off which combined the groups of turned off and unknown. The yes subcategory was used as the referent level since the



physician would be most likely to provide counseling if the reminders were turned on as opposed to turned off.

3.8 DATA ANALYSIS

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS version 9.4 for Windows software x64 systems. In NAMCS, each visit record is assigned a visit weight that accounts for unequal selection probabilities resulting from the sample design and nonresponse. All analyses took into account visit weights, which are available for the entire study span (2008-2010).

Research question one (determining the variations in the three types of counseling: diet/nutrition health education counseling, exercise health education counseling, and weight reduction health education counseling with (a) yes or (b) no) was addressed by using chi-square tests and comparing the proportions across the three types of counseling and the respective combinations, together and individually, to see what variations occur. Research question two (determining what patient and provider characteristics influence the likelihood of providing counseling during a primary care visit) was addressed by using chi-square tests and calculating the odds ratios for the different patient and physician characteristics. Since each physician in the study will see multiple patients, a nominal logistic regression model will be used with other covariates.



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 4 MANUSCRIPT I

4.1 PATIENT CHARACTERISTICS INFLUENCING PRIMARY CARE OBESITY COUNSELING PRACTICES ¹

Abstract

Background: The United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends three types of health education counseling for use in primary care practices for obese adults patients (BMI > 30 kg/m^2). While these recommendations are well known, a low percentage of physicians provide this counseling to their patients. The objective of this study was to investigate patient characteristics that influence counseling practices of primary care physicians. **Methods:** We analyzed cross-sectional data that was aggregated from 2008-2010 from the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS). The three types of health education counseling were the dependent variables, while patient characteristics were the independent variables along with provider characteristics as control variables. **Results:** The odds are increased for the patient to receive all types of health education counseling when: their obesity check box is checked versus unchecked (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.33 [0.27-0.41] for diet/nutrition; 0.42 [0.33-0.54] for exercise; $(0.19 \ [0.15-0.25])$ for weight reduction); when they are being seen for a preventive visit versus a new problem visit (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.42 [0.31-0.56] for diet/nutrition; 0.49 [0.36-0.67] for exercise; 0.46 [0.33-0.65] for weight reduction); when they are being seen for a preventive care visit versus a pre/post-surgery visit (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.28 [0.17-

¹Redd, K., Salloum, R., Probst, J., *et al.* To be submitted to *American Journal of Health Promotion*.



0.46] for diet/nutrition; 0.46 [0.28-0.76] for exercise; 0.30 [0.16-0.56] for weight reduction); when they are categorized as having Class III obesity versus Class I obesity (odds ratio [95%CI]: 1.38 [1.15-1.67] for diet/nutrition; 1.39 [1.11-1.74] for exercise; 1.59 [1.21-2.09] for weight reduction); and when they are designated as urban versus rural (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.57 [0.39-0.85] for diet/nutrition; 0.65 [0.43-0.99] for exercise; 0.63 [0.44-0.92] for weight reduction) while controlling for all other variables. **Conclusion:** Although physicians see a vast amount of adult obese patients within primary care practice, health education counseling practices by primary care physicians remains less than optimal. Therefore, there is a drastic need to improve this type of health education counseling by primary care physicians in order to address the current obesity epidemic in the U.S.

Introduction

The United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends the screening of all patients for obesity.¹⁸ If the patient has a Body Mass Index (BMI) of 30 kg/m² or higher, it is recommended to provide or refer the patient to intensive, multicomponent behavioral intervention including three types of health education counseling – diet/nutrition, exercise, and weight reduction.¹⁸ While these recommendations are well known, a low percentage of physicians provide this counseling to their patients.^{5,16,29,94} While it is known that primary care physician do not tend to provide the recommended counseling, there is little consensus on what patient characteristics influence the likelihood of counseling to occur during a primary care visit.

Eighty percent of Americans cite their physician as their primary source of information about health, with the average adult making 2.7 visits to a physician per



www.manaraa.com

year.⁵ Hence, clinicians, specifically physicians, represent a credible source of health information for their patients, who may be receptive to information about their health during office visits.⁵ Yet, a 2005 national study illustrated a trend of decreasing prevalence of weight loss advice to obese patients and another showing primary care physician assessment and behavioral management of overweight and obesity in adults at a low level relative to the magnitude of the problem.^{28,29} Moreover, rates of weight loss counseling in primary care have significantly declined despite increased rates of overweight and obesity in the US.¹⁴ In light of the US' obesity epidemic and associated preventable morbidity and mortality, economic burden, and emotional distress, there needs to be a consistent, wide-spread practice of health education counseling among primary care physicians and their obese patients.

The main objective of this study was to investigate patient characteristics that may influence the likelihood of primary care physicians to provide obesity health education counseling to adult, obese patient visits aggregated from 2008 through 2010. These characteristics have been examined previously; however, they have not been examined since 2008 and with obesity being in the forefront of health and wellness more so now than before, it is expected that counseling trends based on patient characteristics have changed since 2008. It is expected that women, middle aged adults, and those with higher BMI classifications will be more likely to receive counseling overall.

Study Conceptual Model

A study conceptual model was developed to describe how the dependent and independent variables are related to each other (**Figure 4.1**). One base of the model was developed from Andersen's model,^{90,91} where there are predisposing (blue variables),





Figure 4.1 Study Conceptual Model - Patient Characteristics



enabling (green variables) and need (orange variables) factors association with health care delivery (listed down the side of Figure 4.1). The variables that fall into each of these categories can be classified as physician characteristics, patient characteristics, behaviors, or outcomes (listed across the top). The other model incorporated was the physician induced demand model that is included with control variables under physician characteristics and behaviors.^{92,93} While the outcomes of this study are the types of health education counseling, they are classified as health behaviors that make them intermediate outcomes within the model.

Materials and Methods

Data from this study were obtained from the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS), which has been proven to be an accurate tool of assessing primary care visit related topics in research.⁸⁸ This is a cross-sectional study with data aggregated from 2008 to 2010. NAMCS is a survey conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), which utilizes multistage probability sampling procedures that allow unbiased national estimates to be made from the data. The unit of analysis for this survey is the patient visit. The beginning sample size, including all patient visits, from 2008-2010 was 92,251. This sample size was reduced to 11,041 after all patient visits with a BMI of less than 30 kg/m² were excluded from the study. These visits were excluded because the USPSTF recommendations are for those patients with a BMI of over 30 kg/m². The physician, with staff assistance, fills out a standard encounter form for the selected patient visits. This form includes information on patient demographics, comorbidities, medications, reason for visit, visit procedures and characteristics,



www.manaraa.com

physician characteristics, practice information, diagnostic information, and other medical services provided during the time of the visit.

Dependent variables

The dependent variables under investigation are the 3 types of health education counseling - diet/nutrition, exercise, and weight reduction - as indicated by a check box on the encounter form indicated by a yes the box was checked or a no the box was not checked. All 3 types of counseling were assessed for each year within the study, allowing for a 3 year aggregated analysis to take place. These variables are collected by physicians indicating, with a check mark, that they provided the counseling to their patients on the NAMCS encounter form. NAMCS instructs physicians to keep daily listing of all patient visits during the assigned reporting week they were given using an arrival log, optional worksheet, or a similar method.⁸⁹ Visits are then selected from the list the physician provides using a random start date and a predetermined sampling interval based on the physician's estimated visits for the week and the number of days the physician was expected to see patients that week.⁸⁹ Completeness checks are made by field staff and clerical edits are made upon receipt of the data for central processing where detailed instructions are provided to manually review the forms, reclassify or recode any ambiguous entries, and computer edits are made for code ranges and inconsistencies.⁸⁹ NAMCS performs a postratio adjustment within each of the physician specialty groups where multiplication factor with the numerator as the number of physicians in the universe in each specialty group and the denominator as the estimated number of physicians in that particular specialty group.⁸⁹ In addition, each year there are some physicians who have final visit weights that are large in comparison to those for the rest



www.manaraa.com

of the sample. Thus, NAMCS uses a technique called weight smoothing to preserve the total estimated visit count within each specialty by shifting the excess from visits with the largest weights to those with smaller weights.⁸⁹ Those with extremely large visit weights were truncated, and a ratio adjustment similar to that described above was performed.⁸⁹ NAMCS documentation states that variables with a sample count (N) of less than 30 or a standard error (SE) of 30% or less are considered unstable and should not be used to describe the population at large because they are considered unreliable.⁸⁹ These unstable estimates are flagged within each of the tables presented in this paper to indicate their unreliable nature. Thus, even if it is indicated as significant, it will not be discussed within the results since they are unreliable.

Independent variables

Patient characteristics

Patient characteristics consist of gender (male and female), age (16-44, 45-64, and 65+ years), race (white and non-white), expected type of payment (private pay, government pay, and other pay), BMI (Obesity Class I, Class II, and Class III), time spent with physician (0-10, 11-20, 21-30, and 30+ minutes), obesity check box (yes or no), reason for visit (new problem, chronic problem-routine, chronic problem-flare-up, pre/post-surgery, and preventive care), and geographic location (urban and rural). The variable subcategories were selected after performing a univariate analysis and determining that some groups needed to be combined to have a large enough sample to run further analysis. The referent level used for each variable is the first subcategory listed with the exception of time spent with the physician and the reason for visit. The referent level for the time spent with the physician was 11-20 minutes since the average



www.manaraa.com

patient visit is 15 minutes in length. The referent level used for the reason for visit was the preventive care visit since this would be the type of visit that counseling would most likely occur within. Patient visits were excluded if the patient was less than 18 years of age and/or had a BMI less than 30 kg/m². These characteristics were chosen based on Andersen's model that includes predisposing (gender, age, and race), enabling (expected type of payment, time spent with physician, and obesity check box indication), and need (type of office visit and BMI) domains in regards to obtaining health services.⁹⁰ Provider characteristics are included in the tables as control variables, but will not be discussed in this paper.

Statistical methods

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS version 9.4. In NAMCS, each visit record is assigned a visit weight that accounts for unequal selection probabilities resulting from the sample design and nonresponse. All analyses took into account visit weights, which are available for the entire study span (2008-2010).

To determine the variations in the three types of health education counseling we compared the percentages from a univariate analysis and percentages with weighted frequencies from a bivariate chi-square analysis across the three types of individual counseling and all possible combinations. Furthermore, to determine the types of health education counseling that were provided based on different patient characteristics we compared the adjusted model percentages from a bivariate chi-square analysis across the three types of counseling individually, as well as when no counseling occurs. Lastly, to determine the odds of receiving health education counseling for the different patient characteristics, multiple logistic regression models were used to report the odds ratio and



www.manaraa.com

95% confidence intervals for each type of counseling individually. Three different models were used for the regressions, one for each type of counseling that could be provided during the visit. These were full models that included the patient characteristics along with the provider control variables.

Results

The majority of the sample was female (61%), between the ages of 45-64 (45%), white (65%), physicians expected more visits to pay with private pay (67%), to not pay with government pay (98%), not have an other form of pay (98%), fell within the Class I obesity classification (55%), spent between 11 and 20 minutes with the physician (53%), did not have their obesity check box marked off (72%), was seen for a chronic problem that was routine (35%), and was seen in an urban location (92%) (**Table 4.1**).

Overall between 2008 and 2010, 70.3% of visits had no type of counseling provided during a primary care visit, while only 7.6% had all 3 types of counseling provided (**Table 4.2**). Diet/nutrition and exercise health education counseling were provided in 5.8% of all visits, diet/nutrition in 5.7%, exercise in 3.5%, weight reduction in 3.3%, diet/nutrition and weight reduction in 2.5%, and exercise and weight reduction in 1.3% of visits (**Table 4.2**).

Counseling was significantly associated with patients aged 45-64 (0.0014), non-White (0.0253), had the obesity check box checked (0.0001), being seen for a chronic problem-routine visit (<0.001), and had Class III obesity (<0.001) (**Table 4.3**). All categories within the age variable were most likely to receive all three types of counseling the most if counseling was provided during the visit. When a patient's race is missing, physicians are most likely to provide diet/nutrition counseling only; whereas, if



www.manaraa.com

Summary Patient Cha	aracteristics (N=11,041), % (SE)	
Patient Characteristics		% (SE)
Gender		
	Male	39.07(0.82)
	Female	60.93(0.82)
Age		
	18-44	28.99(0.79)
	45-64	45.25(0.76)
	65 and Above	25.76(0.81)
Race		
	White	65.02(1.61)
	Non-White	13.73(1.27)
	Missing	21.26(1.59)
Expected Payment Ty	pe	
	Private Pay - Yes	66.59(1.41)
	Private Pay - No	33.41(1.41)
	Government Pay- Yes	2.15(0.42)
	Government Pay - No	97.85(0.42)
	Other - Yes	1.82(0.35)
	Other - No	98.18(0.35)
BMI		
	Class I Obesity	54.83(0.72)
	Class II Obesity	25.22(0.55)
	Class III Obesity	19.95(0.61)
Time with Physician		
	0-10 minutes	15.04(0.96)
	11-20 minutes	53.35(1.41)
	21-30 minutes	21.37(1)
	31 minutes and Above	10.24(0.72)
	Missing	6
Obesity Check Box		
	Box Checked - Yes	28.26(1.19)
	Box Not Checked - No	71.74(1.19)
Major Reason for Visi	it l	
5 5	New Problem	31.75(0.84)
	Chronic Problem - Routine	34.5(1.02)
	Chronis Problem - Flare up	9.58(0.67)
	Pre/Post Surgery	8.11(0.59)
	Preventive Care	16.06(0.75)
	Missing	216
Urban/Rural		210
	Urban	92.31(1.29)
	Rural	7.69(1.29)
	Missing	306

Table 4.1 Sample Patient Characteristics



Summary Counseling Ch	aracteristics (N=11,041), % (SE)	
Counseling Characteristics		% (SE)
Counseling Provided		
	No Counseling	70.33(1.47)
	All 3 Types of Counseling	7.6(0.86)
	Diet and Exercise Counseling	5.82(0.57)
	Diet Counseling	5.7(0.39)
	Exercise and Weight Reduction Counseling	1.29(0.17)
	Exercise Counseling	3.46(0.38)
	Diet and Weight Reduction Counseling	2.48(0.24)
	Weight Reduction Counseling	3.32(0.32)

Table 4.2 Sample Counseling Characteristics – Based on Patient Variables



Chi-Square Analysis	- Patient Characteristics, % (§	SE)							
						Exercise and		Diet and	Weight
				Diet and	Diet	Weight	Exercise	Weight	Reduction
		No Counseling	All Types of	Exercise	Counseling	Reduction	Counseling	Reduction	Counseling
Variables		Provided	Counseling	Counseling	Only	Counseling	Only	Counseling	Only
Gender by Counseling			Ŭ				ĺ	Ŭ	
	Males	70.21(1.7)	8.34(1.12)	5.62(0.68)	5.89(0.62)	0.96(0.24)	3.31(0.44)	2.8(0.4)	2.91(0.38)
	Females	70.14(1.56)	7.15(0.85)	5.94(0.65)	5.57(0.43)	1.51(0.21)	3.55(0.43)	2.28(0.27)	3.59(0.39)
Age by Counseling				ĺ	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Ì	l ì í	i i í	
	18-44	71.14(1.76)	7.59(1.16)	5.16(0.6)	4.84(0.54)	0.92(0.23)	3.12(0.5)	3.21(0.42)	4.01(0.5)
	45-64	67.92(1.67)	8.28(0.96)	6.58(0.74)	5.96(0.48)	1.67(0.28)	3.62(0.46)	2.5(0.37)	3.47(0.46)
	65 and Above	73.64(1.93)	6.41(1.05)	5.2(0.78)	6.2(0.84)	1.06(0.3)	3.55(0.5)	1.65(0.34)	2.28(0.42)
Race by Counseling				ĺ				i i i	
	White	70.48(1.63)	8.29(1.03)	5.35(0.66)	5.51(0.46)	1.2(0.23)	3.45(0.48)	2.35(0.28)	3.36(0.4)
	Non-White	65.8(2.96)	8.92(1.56)	8.15(1.41)	6.47(0.91)	1.67(0.45)	2.81(0.58)	3.66(0.78)	2.53(0.52)
	Missing	72.81(2.43)	4.62(1.47)	5.73(0.78)	5.76(0.84)	1.34(0.29)	3.9(0.47)	2.13(0.39)	3.71(0.69)
Payment by Counselin	g								
	Private Pay - Yes	70.1(1.41)	7.57(0.98)	6.16(0.66)	5.75(0.48)	1.12(0.17)	3.23(0.38)	2.62(0.3)	3.45(0.34)
	Private Pay - No	70.79(2.3)	7.65(1.28)	5.14(0.66)	5.59(0.53)	1.63(0.34)	3.91(0.63)	2.21(0.36)	3.07(0.63)
	Government Pay - Yes	80.95(4.46)	1.68(1.14)	1.37(0.85)	0.18(0.19)	3.54(1.6)	9.3(2.62)	0.76(0.57)	2.21(1.44)
	Government Pay - No	70.1(1.5)	7.73(0.88)	5.91(0.59)	5.82(0.39)	1.24(0.16)	3.33(0.37)	2.52(0.25)	3.35(0.33)
	Other Pay - Yes	74.63(3.69)	3.01(1.51)	8.79(2.65)	4.1(1.44)	0.55(0.55)	2.6(1.12)	4(1.68)	2.32(1.48)
	Other Pay - No	70.25(1.49)	7.68(0.88)	5.76(0.58)	5.73(0.4)	1.31(0.17)	3.47(0.38)	2.46(0.25)	3.34(0.33)
Time with Physician									
	0-10 minutes	73.17(2.77)	8.13(1.98)	5.23(1.49)	4.07(0.64)	0.93(0.34)	3.33(0.78)	1.51(0.41)	3.63(1.18)
	11-20 minutes	71.5(1.57)	6.54(0.93)	6.17(0.62)	5.48(0.46)	1.13(0.2)	3.53(0.43)	2.67(0.34)	2.97(0.33)
	21-30 minutes	67.47(2.14)	8.07(1.32)	5.53(0.75)	7.83(1.11)	1.47(0.32)	3.59(0.54)	2.39(0.48)	3.65(0.72)
	30 minutes and above	65.85(3.47)	11.4(3.59)	5.45(0.88)	4.77(1.01)	2.29(0.78)	3(0.72)	3.19(0.71)	4.05(0.86)
Obesity Check Box									
	Box Checked - Yes	49.67(2.03)	16.92(2.02)	7.83(0.86)	7.08(0.7)	2.74(0.45)	2.59(0.42)	5.33(0.62)	7.84(0.85)
	Box Checked - No	78.47(1.4)	3.93(0.62)	5.02(0.57)	5.15(0.45)	0.72(0.15)	3.8(0.44)	1.36(0.21)	1.54(0.27)
Major Reason for Visit	t								
	New Problem	77.79(1.39)	4.02(0.49)	4.6(0.89)	4.65(0.49)	0.92(0.19)	3.03(0.37)	2.01(0.36)	2.98(0.42)
	Chronic Problem - Routine	64.14(2.28)	10.83(1.54)	6.31(0.74)	6.42(0.79)	1.83(0.3)	3.3(0.51)	3.24(0.46)	3.93(0.68)
	Chronic Problem - Flare Up	74.99(2.39)	5.38(1.02)	3.37(0.71)	4.12(0.66)	1.12(0.53)	6.57(1.48)	1.95(0.58)	2.49(0.55)
	Pre-Post Surgery	81.74(2.89)	4.59(1.95)	2.1(0.7)	2.68(0.75)	0.81(0.48)	5.28(1.1)	1.39(0.59)	1.42(0.48)
	Preventive Care	62.23(2.42)	8.6(1.72)	10.44(1.28)	8.26(1.18)	1.35(0.51)	1.91(0.41)	3(0.55)	4.21(0.66)
BMI									
	Class I Obesity	74.63(1.52)	5.6(0.81)	5.45(0.65)	5.7(0.51)	0.76(0.15)	3.72(0.44)	1.79(0.28)	2.35(0.37)
	Class II Obesity	69.66(1.69)	8.58(1.18)	5.33(0.66)	5.7(0.58)	1.16(0.27)	3.35(0.47)	2.31(0.35)	3.92(0.52)
	Class III Obesity	59.36(2.17)	11.85(1.56)	7.43(0.96)	5.7(0.63)	2.92(0.54)	2.89(0.47)	4.62(0.65)	5.23(0.68)
Urban/Rural									
	Urban	69.94(1.49)	7.94(0.93)	5.92(0.61)	5.72(0.4)	1.32(0.19)	3.39(0.38)	2.54(0.27)	3.23(0.32)
	Rural	74.23(3.82)	4.16(0.93)	4.36(1.29)	5.21(1.56)	1.04(0.38)	4.84(1.04)	1.51(0.57)	4.66(1.37)
Significant difference	indicated by p-value < 0.05								
Highlighted indicates unre	eliable estimate								
a		•• • • •							

Table 4.3 Health Education Counseling Provided by Patient Characteristics

Control variables (provider characteristics) were held constant and include: Physician degree (MD, DO), Practice ownership (physician or physician group, HMO, community health center, other), EMR implementation (yes-all electronic, yes-part paper/part electronic, no, unknown), EMR clinical reminder (yes, no), and Physician specialty (primary care practice, other).



their race is documented they receive all 3 types of counseling the most. When a patient's obesity check box is checked, physicians are most likely to provide all 3 types of counseling; while, if the patient's obesity check box is not checked they receive only diet counseling. When a patient is seen for a new problem they receive diet/nutrition counseling the most, for chronic problem-routine they receive all 3 types of counseling the most, for chronic problem-flare-up and pre/post-surgery they receive only exercise counseling the most, and for preventive care they receive diet/nutrition and exercise counseling the most. When a patient has Class I obesity they receive only diet/nutrition

The adjusted model, with only individual counseling portrayed, shows that there is a significant difference in the likelihood of receiving all 3 types of counseling versus not based on the patient's age, the obesity check box status on the encounter form, the patient's reason for visit, and their obesity class category (**Table 4.4**). This model also shows that there is a significant difference in the likelihood of receiving diet/nutrition counseling alone versus not based on the patient's race (0.0153) and whether they are in a rural or urban location (0.0146) (**Table 4.4**).

The multiple logistic regression models show that odds are increased for the patient to receive all 3 types of health education counseling when their obesity check box is checked versus unchecked (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.33 [0.27-0.41] for diet/nutrition; 0.42 [0.33-0.54] for exercise; 0.19 [0.15-0.25] for weight reduction); when they are being seen for a preventive visit versus a new problem visit (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.42 [0.31-0.56] for diet/nutrition; 0.49 [0.36-0.67] for exercise; 0.46 [0.33-0.65] for weight reduction); when they are being seen for a preventive are being seen for a preventive of the preventive care visit versus a pre/post-surgery reduction.



www.manaraa.com

VariablesGenderFemaleMaleAge18-4445-6465 and AboveRaceWhiteNon-WhiteMissingPrivate PayYesNoGovernment PayYesNoOther PayYesNoTime with Physician0-10 minutes11-20 minutes21-30 minutes30 minutes+Obesity CheckYesNoVisit ReasonPreventive careNew ProblemChronic Problem -	Any I Nutrit Counse 20.95(1) 22.61(1) 20.81(1) 23.31(19.47(1) 21.51(1) 27.21(2) 18.24(2) 22.1(1) 20.6(1)	Diet N ion N eling Co .29) 79. .49) 77. .53) 79. 1.4) 76 .67) 80. .33) 78. .59) 72. .21) 81.	No Diet Nutrition 05(1.29) 39(1.49) 19(1.53) .69(1.4) 53(1.67) 49(1.33)	p-Value 0.1703 0.0345*	Any Exercise Counseling 18.15(1.4) 18.19(1.53) 16.79(1.53) 20.15(1.5)	No Exercise Counseling 81.85(1.4) 81.81(1.53) 83.21(1.53) 79.85(1.5)	p-Value 0.9715 0.0074*	Any Weight Reduction Counseling 14.52(1.01) 14.97(1.29) 15.73(1.28)	No Weight Reduction Counseling 85.48(1.01) 85.03(1.29) 84.27(1.28)	p-Value 0.6701
VariablesFemaleGenderFemaleMaleMaleAge18-4445-6465 and AboveRaceWhiteNon-WhiteMissingPrivate PayYesGovernment PayYesOther PayYesNo11-20 minutesTime with Physician0-10 minutes11-20 minutes30 minutes+Obesity CheckYesNoYesVisit ReasonPreventive careNew Problem10Chronic Problem -10	Nutrit Counse 20.95(1) 22.61(1) 20.81(1) 23.31(19.47(1) 21.51(1) 27.21(2) 18.24(2) 22.1(1) 20.6(1)	ion N eling Co .29) 79. .49) 77. .53) 79. 1.4) 76 .67) 80. .33) 78. .59) 72. .21) 81.	Nutrition ounseling 05(1.29) 39(1.49) 19(1.53) .69(1.4) 53(1.67) 49(1.33)	p-Value 0.1703 0.0345*	Any Exercise Counseling 18.15(1.4) 18.19(1.53) 16.79(1.53) 20.15(1.5)	No Exercise Counseling 81.85(1.4) 81.81(1.53) 83.21(1.53) 79.85(1.5)	p-Value 0.9715 0.0074*	Reduction Counseling 14.52(1.01) 14.97(1.29) 15.73(1.28)	Reduction Counseling 85.48(1.01) 85.03(1.29) 84.27(1.28)	p-Value 0.6701
VariablesGenderFemaleGenderFemaleMaleMaleAge18-4445-6465 and AboveRaceWhiteNon-WhiteMissingPrivate PayYesGovernment PayYesOther PayYesTime with Physician0-10 minutesTime with Physician0-10 minutesObesity CheckYesObesity CheckYesVisit ReasonPreventive careNow Problem1	Counse 20.95(1) 22.61(1) 20.81(1) 23.31(19.47(1) 21.51(1) 27.21(2) 18.24(2) 22.1(1) 20.6(1)	eling Co .29 79. .49 77. .53 79. 1.4 76 .67 80. .33 78. .59 72. .21 81.	ounseling 05(1.29) 39(1.49) 19(1.53) .69(1.4) 53(1.67) 49(1.33)	p-Value 0.1703 0.0345*	Counseling 18.15(1.4) 18.19(1.53) 16.79(1.53) 20.15(1.5)	Counseling 81.85(1.4) 81.81(1.53) 83.21(1.53) 79.85(1.5)	p-Value 0.9715 0.0074*	Counseling 14.52(1.01) 14.97(1.29) 15.73(1.28)	Counseling 85.48(1.01) 85.03(1.29) 84.27(1.28)	p-Value 0.6701
GenderFemaleMaleAge18-44Age18-64Age65 and AboveRaceWhiteNon-WhiteMissingPrivate PayYesGovernment PayYesOther PayYesTime with Physician0-10 minutes11-20 minutes21-30 minutesObesity CheckYesNoYesVisit ReasonPreventive careNew Problem10Chronic Problem -10	20.95(1) 22.61(1) 20.81(1) 23.31(19.47(1) 21.51(1) 27.21(2) 18.24(2) 22.1(1) 20.6(1)	.29) 79.4 .49) 77.5 .53) 79.1 1.4) 76 .67) 80.2 .33) 78.2 2.59) 72.2 2.21) 81.2	$\begin{array}{c} 05(1.29) \\ \hline 39(1.49) \\ \hline 19(1.53) \\ .69(1.4) \\ \hline 53(1.67) \\ \hline 49(1.33) \\ \hline \end{array}$	0.1703	18.15(1.4) 18.19(1.53) 16.79(1.53) 20.15(1.5)	81.85(1.4) 81.81(1.53) 83.21(1.53) 79.85(1.5)	0.9715 0.0074*	14.52(1.01) 14.97(1.29) 15.73(1.28)	85.48(1.01) 85.03(1.29) 84.27(1.28)	0.6701
MaleAge18-4445-6465 and AboveRaceWhiteNon-WhiteMissingPrivate PayYesSolutionNoGovernment PayYesNoNoOther PayYes11-20 minutes11-20 minutes21-30 minutes+30 minutes+Obesity CheckYesNoYesVisit ReasonPreventive careNew ProblemChronic Problem -	22.61(1 20.81(1 23.31(19.47(1 21.51(1 27.21(2 18.24(2 22.1(1 20.6(1	.49) 77. .53) 79. 1.4) 76 .67) 80. .33) 78. 2.59) 72. 2.21) 81.	39(1.49) 19(1.53) .69(1.4) 53(1.67) 49(1.33)	0.0345*	18.19(1.53) 16.79(1.53) 20.15(1.5)	81.81(1.53) 83.21(1.53) 79.85(1.5)	0.0074*	14.97(1.29) 15.73(1.28)	85.03(1.29) 84.27(1.28)	0.001*
Age18-4445-6465 and AboveRaceWhiteNon-WhiteMissingPrivate PayYesSovernment PayYesOther PayYesNoOther PayYes11-20 minutes11-20 minutes21-30 minutes+Obesity CheckYesNoVisit ReasonPreventive careNew ProblemChronic Problem -	20.81(1 23.31(19.47(1 21.51(1 27.21(2 18.24(2 22.1(1 20.6(1	.53) 79. 1.4) 76 .67) 80. .33) 78. .259) 72. 2.21) 81.	19(1.53) .69(1.4) 53(1.67) 49(1.33)	0.0345*	16.79(1.53) 20.15(1.5)	83.21(1.53) 79.85(1.5)	0.0074*	15.73(1.28)	84.27(1.28)	0.001*
45-6465 and AboveRaceWhiteNon-WhiteMissingPrivate PayYesRaceNoGovernment PayYesNoYesOther PayYes11-20 minutes21-30 minutes30 minutes+Obesity CheckYesNoVisit ReasonPreventive careNew ProblemChronic Problem -	23.31(19.47(1 21.51(1 27.21(2 18.24(2 22.1(1 20.6(1	1.4) 76 .67) 80. .33) 78. 2.59) 72. 2.21) 81.	.69(1.4) 53(1.67) 49(1.33)		20.15(1.5)	79.85(1.5)				0.001
65 and AboveRaceWhiteNon-WhiteMissingPrivate PayYesNoGovernment PayYesOther PayYesNoOther PayYes11-20 minutes21-30 minutes30 minutes+Obesity CheckYesNoVisit ReasonPreventive careNew ProblemChronic Problem -	19.47(1) 21.51(1) 27.21(2) 18.24(2) 22.1(1) 20.6(1)	.67) 80. .33) 78. 2.59) 72. 2.21) 81.	53(1.67) 49(1.33)		1 (22 (1 (2)			15.91(1.19)	84.09(1.19)	
Race White Non-White Missing Private Pay Yes No Government Pay Yes No Other Pay Yes Image: Straig Str	21.51(1 27.21(2 18.24(2 22.1(1 20.6(1	.33) 78. 2.59) 72. 2.21) 81.	49(1.33)		16.23(1.62)	83.78(1.62)		11.4(1.25)	88.6(1.25)	
Non-White Missing Private Pay Yes No No Government Pay Yes No Yes Other Pay Yes 11-20 minutes 11-20 minutes 21-30 minutes+ 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No Yes Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	27.21(2 18.24(2 22.1(1 20.6(1	2.59) 72. 2.21) 81.	70(0,50)	0.0153*	18.3(1.57)	81.7(1.57)	0.1056	15.21(1.18)	84.79(1.18)	0.1277
Missing Private Pay Yes No No Government Pay Yes No No Other Pay Yes Image: No 11-20 minutes 21-30 minutes 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	18.24(2 22.1(1 20.6(1		/9(2.59)		21.55(2.59)	78.45(2.59)		16.78(2.1)	83.23(2.1)	
Private Pay Yes No No Government Pay Yes No No Other Pay Yes 11-20 minutes 11-20 minutes 21-30 minutes 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	22.1(1 20.6(1		76(2.21)		15.59(1.65)	84.41(1.65)		11.8(1.8)	88.2(1.8)	
No Government Pay Yes No No Other Pay Yes Image: No 11-20 minutes 21-30 minutes 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	20.6(1	.25) 77	.9(1.25)	0.3844	18.08(1.34)	81.92(1.34)	0.8953	14.77(1.08)	85.23(1.08)	0.899
Government Pay Yes No Other Pay Yes No Time with Physician 0-10 minutes 11-20 minutes 21-30 minutes 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -		.83) 79	.4(1.83)		18.33(2.01)	81.67(2.01)		14.56(1.57)	85.44(1.57)	
No Other Pay Yes No 11-20 minutes 21-30 minutes 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	3.99(1	.81) 96.	01(1.81)	<.0001*	15.9(3.69)	84.1(3.69)	0.5768	8.19(3.01)	91.81(3.01)	0.0935
Other Pay Yes No Time with Physician 0-10 minutes 11-20 minutes 21-30 minutes 30 minutes+ 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	21.51(1	.23) 78.	02(1.25)		18.22(1.35)	81.78(1.35)		14.84(1.02)	85.16(1.02)	
No Time with Physician 0-10 minutes 11-20 minutes 21-30 minutes 30 minutes+ 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	19.9(3	.11) 80	.1(3.11)	0.6105	14.95(3.12)	85.05(3.12)	0.3519	9.88(3.14)	90.12(3.14)	0.2109
Time with Physician 0-10 minutes 11-20 minutes 21-30 minutes 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	21.63(1	.25) 78.	37(1.25)		18.23(1.34)	81.77(1.34)		14.79(1.03)	85.21(1.03)	
11-20 minutes 21-30 minutes 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	18.94(2.3) 81	.06(2.3)	0.2239	17.61(2.4)	82.39(2.4)	0.3865	14.19(2.43)	85.81(2.43)	0.0638
21-30 minutes 30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	20.86(1	.39) 79.	14(1.39)		17.38(1.45)	82.62(1.45)		13.31(1.03)	86.69(1.03)	
30 minutes+ Obesity Check Yes No No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	23.82(2	.11) 76.	18(2.11)		18.66(1.63)	81.34(1.63)		15.57(1.67)	84.43(1.67)	
Obesity Check Yes No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	24.81(3	.39) 75.	19(3.39)		22.14(3.6)	77.86(3.6)		20.92(3.68)	79.08(3.68)	
No Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	37.16(2		84(2.07)	<.0001*	30.08(2.08)	69.92(2.08)	<.0001*	32.83(2.02)	67.17(2.02)	<.0001*
Visit Reason Preventive care New Problem Chronic Problem -	15.47()	.09) 84.	54(1.09)		13.47(1.24)	86.53(1.24)		7.56(0.75)	92.44(0.75)	
New Problem Chronic Problem -	30.31(2	.37) 69.	69(2.37)	<.0001*	22.3(2.29)	77.7(2.29)	<.0001*	17.16(1.77)	82.84(1.77)	<.0001*
Chronic Problem -	15.28(1	.21) 84.	72(1.21)		12.57(1.15)	87.43(1.15)		9.93(0.79)	90.07(0.79)	
	Routine 26.8(1	.92) 73	.2(1.92)		22.27(2.03)	77.73(2.03)		19.83(1.77)	80.17(1.77)	
Chronic Problem -	Flare Up 14.83(1	.71) 85.	18(1.71)		16.45(2.21)	83.55(2.21)		10.94(1.41)	89.06(1.41)	
Pre/Post Surgery	10.75(2		25(2.75)		12.77(2.26)	87.23(2.26)		8.21(2.5)	91.79(2.5)	
BMI Class I	18.54()	.27) 81.	46(1.27)	<.0001*	15.53(1.35)	84.47(1.35)	<.0001*	10.5(0.98)	89.5(0.98)	<.0001*
Class II	21.91(1	.44) 78.	09(1.44)		18.42(1.49)	81.58(1.49)		15.96(1.39)	84.04(1.39)	
Class III	29.6(1	.9) 70).4(1.9)		25.1(2.13)	74.9(2.13)		24.63(1.71)	75.37(1.71)	
Urban/Rural Urban	22.12(1	.28) 77.	88(1.28)	0.0146*	18.57(1.39)	81.43(1.39)	0.0957	15.03(1.08)	84.97(1.08)	0.081
Rural	15.24(2	.49) 85	5(1.28)		14.39(2.25)	85.61(2.25)		11.36(1.79)	88.64(1.79)	
* Signficant difference indicated by p-value	ue < 0.05								· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Highlighted indicates unreliable estima	uc < 0.05									

Table 4.4 Individual Health Education Counseling by Patient Characteristics

specialty (primary care practice, other). (yes, no), a пp


visit (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.28 [0.17-0.46] for diet/nutrition; 0.46 [0.28-0.76] for exercise; 0.30 [0.16-0.56] for weight reduction); when they are categorized as having Class III obesity versus Class I obesity (odds ratio [95%CI]: 1.38 [1.15-1.67] for diet/nutrition; 1.39 [1.11-1.74] for exercise; 1.59 [1.21-2.09] for weight reduction); and when they are in an urban versus rural location (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.57 [0.39-0.85] for diet/nutrition; 0.65 [0.43-0.99] for exercise; 0.63 [0.44-0.92] for weight reduction) while controlling for all other variables (**Table 4.5**).

Discussion

This study found several differences in the provision of health education counseling provided to obese adult patients during primary care visits. There is an overall lack of any type of obesity health education counseling occurring during primary care visits (70.3% of obese patient visits had no counseling provided). Research has shown that patients are highly motivated to lose weight but prefer not want to change their diet in the process.⁴² Thus, primary health care providers have a unique opportunity to provide the patient with exercise and/or weight reduction counseling in an effort to address their weight. When looking at the individual types of counseling provided during patient visits, patients were most likely to receive diet/nutrition counseling as opposed to exercise or weight reduction counseling. This would most likely result in the patient's failure to lose weight since they are interested in losing weight but not through diet modifications alone.

The most significant findings from this study reveal that the odds are increased for certain patient characteristics when compared to others. The odds of a patient visit with the obesity check box checked receiving diet/nutrition counseling is 0.33 times



www.manaraa.com

Odds Ratios – Patient Characteristics, (95% confidence intervals) (N=9,804)								
Variables		Diet Nutrition	Exercise	Weight Reduction				
Gender	Female vs Male ¹	0.73[0.63-0.85]***	0.88[0.74-1.05]	0.76[0.63-0.92]**				
Age	45-64 vs 18-44 ¹	1.23[1.02-1.48]**	1.27[1.08-1.49]**	0.99[0.81-1.22]*				
	65 and Above vs 18-44	1.01[0.78-1.31]	1[0.77-1.31]	0.66[0.51-0.86]**				
Race	Non-White vs White ¹	1.27[0.98-1.65]*	1.21[0.89-1.63]	0.99[0.75-1.3]				
	Missing vs White	0.8[0.58-1.12]*	0.87[0.63-1.19]	0.77[0.52-1.12]				
Private Pay	No vs Yes ¹	0.87[0.71-1.08]	0.98[0.75-1.27]	1[0.77-1.29]				
Government Pay	No vs Yes ¹	4.12[1.67-10.2]**	0.82[0.41-1.65]	1.25[0.51-3.03]				
Other Pay	No vs Yes ¹	1.3[0.8-2.09]	1.38[0.77-2.49]	2.11[1-4.42]*				
Time with Physician	0-10 minutes vs 11-20 minutes ¹	0.87[0.65-1.16]*	1.02[0.74-1.42]	1.05[0.72-1.54]				
	21-30 minutes vs 11-20 minutes	1.23[0.95-1.59]	1.15[0.89-1.49]	1.36[0.98-1.88]				
	30 minutes+ vs 11-20 minutes	1.26[0.88-1.8]	1.37[0.93-2.01]	1.82[1.22-2.72]*				
Obesity Check Box	No vs Yes ¹	0.33[0.27-0.41]***	0.42[0.33-0.54]***	0.19[0.15-0.25]***				
Visit Reason	New Problem vs Preventive Care ¹	0.42[0.31-0.56]**	0.49[0.36-0.67]**	0.46[0.33-0.65]**				
	Chronic Problem - Routine vs Preventive Care	0.83[0.61-1.13]***	0.92[0.65-1.28]**	1.07[0.75-1.54]***				
	Chronic Problem – Flare up vs Preventive Care	0.44[0.31-0.62]	0.65[0.43-1]	0.53[0.36-0.8]				
	Pre/Post Surgery vs Preventive Care	0.28[0.17-0.46]**	0.46[0.28-0.76]*	0.3[0.16-0.56]**				
BMI	Class II vs Class I ¹	1.04[0.89-1.21]	1.03[0.84-1.26]	1.16[0.93-1.44]				
	Class III vs Class I	1.38[1.15-1.67]**	1.39[1.11-1.74]**	1.59[1.21-2.09]**				
Urban/Rural	Rural vs Urban ¹	0.57[0.39-0.85]**	0.65[0.43-0.99]*	0.63[0.44-0.92]*				
* p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01.	. *** p < 0.0001.							
¹ Denotes the referent lev	vel							
Control variables (provider characteristics) were held constant and include: Physician degree (MD, DO), Practice ownership								
(physician or physician group, HMO, community health center, other), EMR implementation (ves-all electronic, ves-part								
(physician of physician group, 11110, community neurin center, other), EMR implementation (yes-an electronic, yes-part								

Table 4.5 Factors Associated with Receipt of Health Education Counseling by Patient Characteristics

paper/part electronic, no, unknown), EMR clinical reminder (yes, no), and Physician specialty (primary care practice, other).



higher than those visits with the check box unchecked, 0.42 times higher to receiving exercise counseling, and 0.19 times higher to receiving weight reduction counseling. This outcome would be expected since the physician indicates, through the checking of the box, that they are aware the patient has obesity. The odds of a patient visit for preventive care receiving diet/nutrition counseling is 0.42 times higher than those visits for a new problem, 0.49 times higher to receiving exercise counseling, and 0.65 times higher to receiving weight reduction counseling. This would also be an expected outcome since a preventive care visit has been found to be the most likely type of visit for health education counseling to occur.^{29,57} Yet, if the patient is being seen for a new problem that is related to their obesity or high weight, this would not be expected. It would take further investigation to determine the relationship between new problems that arise in obese patient and the provision of health education counseling. Moreover, the odds of a patient visit for preventive care visit receiving diet/nutrition counseling is 0.28 times higher than those visits for pre/post-surgery, 0.46 times higher to receiving exercise counseling, and 0.56 times higher to receiving weight reduction counseling.

Aligning with previous research, the odds of a patient visit with Class III obesity receiving diet/nutrition counseling is 1.38 times higher than those visits with Class I obesity, 1.39 times higher to receiving exercise counseling, and 1.60 times higher to receiving weight reduction. Several studies found that physicians recognize and provide counseling more for patients who have higher BMIs.^{25,51,72,73} This study confirms that patients with Class III obesity have increased odds of receiving counseling compared to those who are less obese. This result is essential for physicians to be cognizant of because physicians may be able to make more progress in patient's losing weight if they target



www.manaraa.com

those with lower BMIs to make life-style modifications before their weight is uncontrollable.²⁹ Lastly, the odds of a patient visit in an urban location receiving diet/nutrition counseling is 0.57 times higher than those visits in an rural location, 0.65 times higher to receiving exercise counseling, and 0.63 times higher to receiving weight reduction counseling. There is little research available on the differences seen in preventive services provided in urban versus rural primary care practices. However, it has been noted that the practice location (urban versus rural) impacts the physician's adherence, or lack thereof, to preventive services recommendations.⁹⁵ Patients in rural locations tend to have less frequent visits to the physician due to the distance between their homes and the practice.⁹⁵ This means that physicians should pay extra close attention to their counseling practices in rural areas since those individuals are seen less frequently and have less opportunities to provide the counseling.

Studies have also found that, while still unclear and inconsistent, there is a relationship between patient age and the delivery of counseling. One study found that there appears to be an increasing relationship between age and receiving more counseling until ages 55-65, then it begins to decrease.⁵¹ This would mean middle aged individuals receive the most counseling during primary care encounters. The results from this study align with previous findings because counseling was significantly associated with patients aged 45-64, meaning that middle aged patient visits were most likely to receive counseling. However, in regards to weight reduction counseling, patient's aged 18-44 years had increased odds of receiving weight reduction counseling when compared to patient's aged 45-64. This could be a result of physicians addressing weight concerns earlier in life, rather than later, so that the patient's weight is less debilitating which could



result in increased quality of life as they age. It would take further research to justify this assumption.

While some results from this study align with previous research findings, there are a couple of unique results that provide new insight into some patient characteristics and their influence on physician's provision of obesity counseling. Some studies have found that there is no significant difference in the odds of receiving health education counseling overall.¹⁸ Yet, this study found several differences in the odds of receiving counseling based on patient characteristics (obesity check box, preventive care visit, Class III obesity, and urban location). These differences could mean that these patient characteristics have begun to influence the likelihood of physicians to provide counseling to obese patients during primary health care encounters. Thus, physicians will need to pay close attention to these patient characteristics to ensure they are providing adequate counseling to all adult obese patients. Additionally, a previous study found that the more time spent with physicians during a visit increased the likelihood of receiving obesity counseling when compared to those who spent less time.⁷⁴ Yet this study found no significance in the time spent with the physician on the delivery of obesity counseling. Since obesity counseling only takes 3-5 minutes to provide during a patient visit it would seem that all patient visits, regardless of time spent with the physician, could receive this recommended counseling.^{17,47}Overall, there has not been a significant change in physician's provision of health education counseling to adult obese patient since 2008 even with the rise in awareness and focus on obesity within the US.

The strengths of this study include the large sample size from NAMCS. The entire sample aggregated from 2008-2010 of obese patients treated was 11,041. This number



www.manaraa.com

was decreased to 9,804 during the logistic regression analysis, which still provides a large sample size for the study. Furthermore, this survey provides a vast amount of information that several conclusions can be drawn from due to the extensiveness of the information collected. There are some limitations within this study. First, this study is based on a survey that is from one patient visit and not representative of an on-going treatment of a patient. Therefore, we are only able to identify patients who are categorized as obese and whether they received counseling during the visit that was recorded on the encounter form. Second, NAMCS has been found to be more accurate for procedure and examination data than for health behavior counseling data due to underreporting issues.⁸⁸ Yet, the NAMCS survey is still considered an accurate tool for measurement of the health-related topics contained within the form.⁸⁸ Third, we are unable to identify if a patient has been included more than once within this population since the data is deidentified. Lastly, the USPSTF recommendation for obese adults has a limitation in regards to the intervals of screening due to the lack of evidence of interval times in research studies.¹⁰ While there are some limitations, NAMCS is routinely used to establish national trends that are representative of the population as a whole for many policy-related, health services, and other health-related topics.

While this study provides some new insight into patient characteristics that influence the physician's likelihood to provide counseling in a primary care visit, there is still more research needed to further understand the lack of counseling that occurs. First, further research is needed in the area of the USPSTF recommendations on the time intervals of the health education counseling for adult obese patients. This would allow the recommendations to be more specific in the duration and interval times that the



counseling must occur to be most beneficial to the patient. Second, it is important to determine what patient characteristics impacts the types of counseling the physician decides to provide the most during a visit.^{3,10} Likewise, investigation into the type of counseling that has the greatest benefit to the patient is needed so that physicians can focus on the type most likely to bring about life-style modifications and weight loss. Lastly, it is essential for research to investigate the differences found in the provision of counseling based on the obesity check box status, preventive care visits, the patient's class of obesity, and the urban versus rural location of the visit.

Although physicians see a vast amount of adult obese patients within primary care practice, health education counseling practices by primary care physicians remains less than optimal. Therefore, there is a drastic need to improve this type of health education counseling by primary care physicians in order to address the current obesity epidemic in the U.S. Given the current epidemic and the limited time available during primary care visits, the need to understand, with consistency, what patient characteristics influence the provision of obesity counseling is vital for physicians. This will ensure physicians are maximizing their counseling efforts during their encounters.



CHAPTER 5 MANUSCRIPT II

5.1 PROVIDER CHARACTERISTICS INFLUENCING PRIMARY CARE OBESITY COUNSELING PRACTICES²

Abstract

Background: The United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends three types of health education counseling for use in primary care practices for adult, obese patient (BMI > 30 kg/m^2). While these recommendations are well known, they are not practiced routinely across the board. The objective of this study was to investigate the provider characteristics that may influence counseling practices of primary care physicians. Methods: We analyzed cross-sectional data that was aggregated from 2008-2010 from the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS). The three types of health education counseling were the dependent variables, while provider characteristics were the independent variables along with patient characteristics as control variables. **Results:** Of the 9,804 obese patient visits analyzed the odds are increased for the patient to receive diet/nutrition health education counseling when the visit is conducted by a physician with a MD degree versus a physician with a DO degree (odds ratio [95% CI]: diet/nutrition; 0.69 [0.49-0.97] and when they are seen by a physician with primary care specialty (family medicine, general medicine, internal medicine, and OBGYN) versus a physician with another specialty (odds ratio [95%CI]: diet/nutrition; 0.65 [0.47-0.88] while controlling for all other variables. **Conclusion:** Given the current obesity epidemic

² Redd, K., Salloum, R., Probst, J., *et al.* To be submitted to *American Journal of Health Promotion.*



and mounting responsibilities added to primary care visits to deal with chronic diseases, the need to understand what provider characteristics influence the odds of patients receiving counseling is vital so that physicians are aware of their shortcomings counseling behavior with their obese patients.

Introduction

If the patient has a Body Mass Index (BMI) of 30 kg/m² or higher, it is recommended to provide or refer the patient to intensive, multicomponent behavioral interventional including three types of health counseling – diet/nutrition, exercise, and weight reduction.¹⁸ While these recommendations are well known from the USPSTF, a low percentage of physicians provide this counseling consistently to their patient populations.^{5,16,29,94} While it is known that primary care physicians do not tend to provide the recommended counseling, there is little consistently known on the influence of provider characteristics on the likelihood of a physician to provide this counseling to their patients.

In addition to the adverse health effects associated with obesity, studies have found that obesity accounts for 5% to 7% of national health expenditures in the US.²⁶ With rising prevalence, increased comorbidities, and a spreading epidemic, obesity is associated with \$2,741 higher than average annual medical care costs (in 2005 dollars) with \$3,613 for women and \$1,152 for men.²⁷ Thus, in 2005, estimates of the national medical care costs of obesity-related illness in adults were \$209.7 billion, twice the estimate of \$85.7 billion in earlier literature.²⁷ With the rising cost of healthcare overall and the costs associated with obesity further adding to the problem, addressing the obesity epidemic is paramount. The United State Preventive Services Task Force



www.manaraa.com

(USPSTF) provides recommendations for a multitude of diseases and conditions. This study will focus on the USPSTF recommendations for the adult, obese population of patient visits in primary care practice between 2008 and 2010. USPSTF bases its recommendations on the evidence of the benefits and harms of the service and as an assessment of the balance between the two.³ It does not consider the cost of providing a service within this assessment.³ Yet, the USPSTF guidelines stress important themes applicable to obesity management policies and guidelines around the world.¹⁰

A vast majority of Americans cite their physician as their primary source of information about health.⁵ Hence, physicians represent a credible source of health information for their patients, who may be receptive to information about their health-related issues during office visits.⁵ Family practitioners, internists, and endocrinologists reported treating obesity themselves in only about 50% of their obese patients, whereas other groups reported intervening with only 5% to 29% of obese patients, but expressed greater interest in making referrals.²⁵ Physicians express high concern with management of obesity but vary in the interest in assuming this role themselves. Thus, physicians do not always attempt to provide health education counseling to their obese patients due to many barriers including restraints on time, lack of education, and sensitivity of the topic.

The main objective of this study was to investigate provider characteristics that may influence the likelihood of primary care physicians to provide obesity health education counseling to adult, obese patient visits aggregated from 2008 through 2010. Several of these characteristics have been examined previously; however, they have not been examined since 2008 and with obesity and chronic disease management taking a lead role in society over the last few years, it is expected that counseling trends based on



www.manaraa.com

provider characteristics have changed since 2008. It is expected that physicians will provide more overall health education counseling when they have an electronic medical record (EMR) system implemented in the practice, have an EMR counseling reminder turned on, and who are of primary care practice specialty.

Study Conceptual Model

A study conceptual model was developed to describe how the dependent and independent variables are related to each other (**Figure 5.1**). One base of the model was developed from the physician induced demand model that is included with variables under provider characteristics and behaviors^{92,93}. The other model incorporated was from the Andersen's model^{90,91}, where there are predisposing (blue variables), enabling (green variables) and need (orange variables) factors are associated with health care delivery and serve as control variables within this study (listed down the side of Figure 5.1). The variables that fall into each of these categories can be classified as provider characteristics, patient characteristics, behaviors, or outcomes (listed across the top). While the outcomes of this study are the types of health education counseling, they are classified as health behaviors which make them intermediate outcomes within the model. The overall outcomes of the model will not be examined within this study, shaded grey for this reason, but would result in decreased patient BMI and decreased prevalence of obesity that could be measured long-term.

Materials and Methods

Data from this study were obtained from the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) which has been proven to be an accurate tool of assessing primary care related topics.⁸⁸ This is a cross-sectional study with data aggregated from 2008 to 2010.



www.manaraa.com



Figure 5.1 Study Conceptual Model – Provider Characteristics



NAMCS is a survey conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), which utilizes multistage probability sampling procedures that allow unbiased national estimates to be made from the data. The unit of analysis for this survey is the patient visit. The physician, with staff assistance, fills out a standard encounter form for the selected patient visits. This form includes information on patient demographics, comorbidities, medications, reason for visit, visit procedures and characteristics, physician characteristics, practice information, diagnostic information, and other medical services provided during the time of the visit.

Dependent variables

The dependent variables under investigation are the 3 types of health education counseling – diet/nutrition, exercise, and weight reduction – as indicated by a check box on the encounter forms. All 3 types of counseling were assessed for each year within the study, allowing for a 3 year aggregated analysis to take place. These variables are collected by physicians indicating, with a check mark, that they provided the counseling to their patients on the NAMCS encounter form. There is a defined process for filling out the survey, checking for completeness, fixing errors, and allowing for the visits to be selected randomly from those collected that can be found within the NAMCS documentation. The NAMCS documentation states that variables with sample counts of less than 10 or a standard error (SE) or 30% or less are considered unreliable and should not be used to describe the population because they are considered unreliable. These unstable variables are flagged within each of the tables presented in this paper to indicate their unreliable estimates. Thus, even if it is indicated as significant, it will not be discussed.



Provider characteristics

Provider characteristics consist of physician degree (MD and DO), practice ownership (physician or physician group, HMO, community health center, and other), electronic medical record (EMR) implementation (yes-all electronic, yes-part paper, part electronic, no, and unknown), EMR counseling reminder (yes-turned on, and no), and physician specialty (primary care [general and family, internal medicine, and OBGYN] and other [all other specialties]). The variable subcategories were selected after performing a univariate analysis and determining that some subcategories needed to be combined to have a large enough sample within each subcategory to run further analyses. The referent level used for each variable is the first subcategory listed above. No patient visits were excluded based on provider characteristics. However, patient visits were excluded if the patient was less than 18 years of age and/or had a BMI less than 30 kg/m². These characteristics were chosen based on the supplier (physician) induced demand (PID) model. The physician induced demand model reflects the idea that information between physicians and patients is asymmetric and a physician can shift the demand curve for their services when it is in the physician's self-interest to do so.^{92,93} This shifting would involve a physician recommending care, such as a revisit, whether it is beneficial to the patient or not.^{92,93} In this case, the recommended care would benefit the patient since it could potentially increase their health through the health education counseling visits and revisits.^{92,93} Patient characteristics are included in the tables as control variables, but will not be discussed in this paper.



www.manaraa.com

Statistical methods

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS version 9.4. In NAMCS, each visit record is assigned a visit weight that accounts for unequal selection probabilities resulting from the sample design and nonresponse. All analyses took into account visit weights, which are available for the entire study span (2008-2010).

To determine the variations in the three types of health education counseling we compared the percentages from a univariate analysis and percentages with weighted frequencies from a bivariate chi-square analysis across the three types of counseling and possible combinations. Furthermore, to determine the types of health education counseling that were provided based on different provider characteristics we compared the adjusted model percentages from a bivariate chi-square analysis across the three types of counseling individually, as well as when no counseling occurs. Lastly, to determine the odds of receiving health education counseling for the different provider characteristics, multiple logistic regression models were used to report the odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals for each type of counseling individually. Three different models were used for the regressions, one for each type of counseling that could be provided during the visit. These were full models that included the provider characteristics along with the patient control variables.

Results

The majority of the population was physicians with a MD degree (90%), within a physician or physician group owned practice (80%), had full EMR implementation within the practice (62%), had EMR clinical reminders turned off (54%), and were of primary care specialty (62%) (**Table 5.1**).



Summary Provider Cha	racteristics (N=11,041), % (SE)	
Physician Characteristics		% (SE)
Physician Degree		
	MD	89.51(1.04)
	DO	10.49(1.04)
Practice Ownership		
	Physician or Physician Group	79.86(1.41)
	НМО	2.54(0.54)
	Community Health Center	3.32(0.71)
	Other	14.29(1.38)
	Missing	79
EMR Implementation		
	Yes, All Electronic	7.09(2.34)
	Yes, Part Paper/Part Electronic	62.16(1.88)
	No	21.78(1.33)
	Don't Know	8.98(0.92)
	Missing	55
EMR Reminder Status		
	Yes, Turned On	46.36(2.17)
	No	53.64(2.17)
	Missing	635
Physician Specialty		
	Primary Care (General/Family/Internal/OBGYN)	61.87(1.73)
	Other	38.13(1.73)

Table 5.1 Sample Provider Characteristics



Overall between 2008 and 2010, 70.3% of visits had no type of counseling provided during a primary care visit, while only 7.6% had all 3 types of counseling provided (**Table 5.2**). Diet/nutrition and exercise health education counseling was provided in 5.8% of all visits, diet/nutrition in 5.7%, exercise in 3.5%, weight reduction in 3.3%, diet/nutrition and weight reduction in 2.5%, and exercise and weight reduction in 1.3% of visits (**Table 5.2**). Counseling was significantly associated with patients who are seen in a practice without an EMR implemented (0.0059) and when seen by a physician with a primary care specialty (<0.001) (**Table 5.3**). When a patient is seen at a practice with full EMR or a practice that has part of an EMR or EMR status is unknown they only receive diet/nutrition education counseling. When a patient is seen by either a physician with a MD degree or a DO degree they receive all 3 types of counseling the most.

The adjusted model, with only individual counseling portrayed, shows that there is a significant difference in the likelihood of receiving diet/nutrition counseling based on the physician specialty (0.001) (**Table 5.4**). Furthermore, this adjusted model shows that there is a significant difference in the likelihood of receiving exercise counseling based on the type of practice ownership (0.022) (**Table 5.4**). The multiple logistic regression models show that odds are increased for the provision of diet/nutrition health education counseling only when patients are seen by a physician with a MD degree versus a DO degree (odds ratio [95%CI]: diet/nutrition; 0.69 [0.49-0.97]; and when they are seen by a primary care specialty physician versus a physician with another specialty (odds ratio [95%CI]: diet/nutrition; 0.65 [0.47-0.88]. (**Table 5.5**).



Summary Counseling Characteristics (N=11,041), % (SE)						
Counseling Characteristics		% (SE)				
Counseling Provided						
	No Counseling	70.33(1.47)				
	All 3 Types of Counseling	7.6(0.86)				
	Diet and Exercise Counseling	5.82(0.57)				
	Diet Counseling	5.7(0.39)				
	Exercise and Weight Reduction Counseling	1.29(0.17)				
	Exercise Counseling	3.46(0.38)				
	Diet and Weight Reduction Counseling	2.48(0.24)				
	Weight Reduction Counseling	3.32(0.32)				

Table 5.2 Sample Counseling Characteristics - Based on Provider Variables



Chi-Square Analysis - Provider Characteristics - Control Variables, % (SE)									
						Exercise and		Diet and	Weight
				Diet and	Diet	Weight	Exercise	Weight	Reduction
		No Counseling	All Types of	Exercise	Counseling	Reduction	Counseling	Reduction	Counseling
Variables		Provided	Counseling	Counseling	Only	Counseling	Only	Counseling	Only
MD/DO Status									
	MD	69.98(1.53)	7.49(0.9)	5.88(0.63)	5.88(0.43)	1.28(0.17)	3.51(0.41)	2.56(0.26)	3.41(0.34)
	DO	73.29(3.41)	8.49(3.05)	5.26(1.07)	4.13(0.71)	1.38(0.63)	2.98(0.67)	1.86(0.57)	2.61(1)
Practice Ownership									
	Physician or Physician Group	69.78(1.69)	8.23(1.08)	5.86(0.66)	5.51(0.42)	1.41(0.21)	3.74(0.45)	2.11(0.26)	3.36(0.39)
	НМО	70.43(5.27)	2.21(1.22)	4.36(1.99)	4.89(1.67)	1.64(0.93)	2.9(1)	4.81(2.84)	8.76(2.75)
	Community Health Center	73.41(5.07)	6.69(3.02)	5.75(1.58)	6.01(1.71)	1.45(0.88)	1.61(0.61)	3.25(0.81)	1.82(0.68)
	Other	72.82(2.64)	5.4(1.47)	5.2(1.14)	6.98(1.31)	0.58(0.23)	2.47(0.65)	3.94(0.84)	2.61(0.49)
EMR Implementation									
	Yes, All Electronic	70.39(1.77)	8.15(1.16)	6.34(0.81)	5.15(0.42)	1.33(0.2)	3.25(0.43)	2.36(0.31)	3.04(0.36)
	Yes, Part Paper/Part Elextronic	73.03(2.23)	5.77(1.19)	4.96(0.83)	7.03(0.95)	1.34(0.36)	2.97(0.74)	2.32(0.39)	2.57(0.56)
	No	59.51(5)	11.11(3.96)	6.35(1.5)	6.17(1.36)	1.12(0.66)	5.91(2.15)	1.96(0.68)	7.86(2.28)
	Unknown	74.65(4.46)	4.05(2.16)	3.49(0.94)	5.59(2.04)	1.15(0.51)	3.64(1.59)	4.87(1.56)	2.55(0.86)
EMR Reminder Status									
	Yes, Turned On	70.39(2.14)	7.87(1.51)	6.47(1.01)	5.57(0.6)	1.17(0.2)	2.68(0.25)	2.66(0.36)	3.18(0.55)
	No	69.91(1.87)	7.62(1.01)	5.53(0.65)	5.94(0.51)	1.42(0.28)	4(0.68)	2.04(0.29)	3.54(0.44)
Physician Specialty									
	Primary Care	68.39(1.68)	8.22(1.01)	7.17(0.82)	6.82(0.54)	1.15(0.23)	2.42(0.38)	2.54(0.31)	3.28(0.37)
	Other	73.48(2.25)	6.59(1.53)	3.63(0.6)	3.87(0.47)	1.52(0.26)	5.14(0.72)	2.4(0.43)	3.38(0.62)
Significant difference	indicated by p-value < 0.05								
Highlighted indicates unre	liable estimate								

Table 5.3 Health Education Counseling Provided by Provider Characteristics

Control variables (patient characteristics) were held constant and include: sex (male, female), age (18-44, 45-64, 65+), race (white, non-white, missing), private pay (yes, no), government pay (yes, no), other pay (yes, no), time with physician (0-10, 11-20, 21-29, 30+), obesity check box (yes, no), reason for visit (preventive care, new problem, chronic problem-routine, chronic problem-flare up, pre/post-surgery), BMI class (class I, class II), and practice location (urban, rural).



Chi-Square Individual Analysis - Provider Control Characteristics, %, SE (No.)										
		Any Diet	No Diet					Any Weight	No Weight	
		Nutrition	Nutrition		Any Exercise	No Exercise		Reduction	Reduction	
Variables		Counseling	Counseling	p-Value	Counseling	Counseling	p-Value	Counseling	Counseling	p-Value
MD/DO	MD	21.81(1.24)	78.19(1.24)	0.5436	18.17(1.39)	81.83(1.39)	0.9863	14.74(1.06)	85.26(1.06)	0.9072
	DO	19.74(3.32)	80.26(3.32)		18.11(3.27)	81.89(3.27)		14.35(3.16)	85.65(3.16)	
Practice Ownership	Physician group	21.71(1.45)	78.29(1.45)	0.7988	19.24(1.58)	80.76(1.58)	0.0222*	15.11(1.23)	84.89(1.23)	0.5851
	HMO	16.27(3.56)	83.73(3.56)		11.11(2.88)	88.89(2.88)		17.41(4.73)	82.59(4.73)	
	Community Health Center	21.71(4.82)	78.29(4.82)		15.5(3.18)	84.5(3.18)		13.22(3.56)	86.78(3.56)	
	Other	21.52(2.45)	78.48(2.45)		13.65(2.1)	86.35(2.1)		12.53(1.81)	87.47(1.81)	
EMR Implementatio	Yes, all Electronic	22(1.56)	78(1.56)	0.4718	19.07(1.6)	80.93(1.6)	0.0726	14.88(1.32)	85.12(1.32)	0.0659
	Don't Know	18.01(3.93)	81.99(3.93)		12.33(2.86)	87.67(2.86)		12.62(3.52)	87.38(3.52)	
	Yes, Part Paper/Part Electronic	20.09(1.89)	79.91(1.89)		15.04(1.77)	84.96(1.77)		12.01(1.57)	87.99(1.57)	
	No	25.6(4.26)	74.4(4.26)		24.49(5.68)	75.51(5.68)		22.05(4.12)	77.95(4.12)	
EMR Reminder	Yes	22.58(1.95)	77.42(1.95)	0.5033	18.2(1.89)	81.8(1.89)	0.8738	14.88(1.71)	85.12(1.71)	0.8985
	No	21.12(1.41)	78.88(1.41)		18.58(1.76)	81.42(1.76)		14.62(1.26)	85.38(1.26)	
Physician Specialty	Family/General/Int? OBGYN	24.75(1.48)	75.25(1.48)	0.0009*	18.96(1.63)	81.04(1.63)	0.3464	15.2(1.18)	84.8(1.18)	0.5702
	Other	16.48(1.92)	83.52(1.92)		16.87(1.79)	83.13(1.79)		13.88(1.9)	86.12(1.9)	
* Signficant differenc	* Significant difference indicated by p-value < 0.05									
Highlighted indicates unreliable estimate										
Control variables (patient characteristics) were held constant and include: sex (male, female), age (18-44, 45-64, 65+), race (white, non-white, missing), private pay (yes,								(yes,		
no), government pa	y (yes, no), other pay (yes, no), t	ime with physic	ian (0-10, 11-20	, 21 - 29, 3()+), obesity che	ck box (yes, no),	reason fo	r visit (preventi	ve care, new pr	oblem,
chronic problem-ro	chronic problem-routine, chronic problem-flare up, pre/post-surgery), BMI class (class I, class II, class III), and practice location (urban, rural).									

Table 5.4 Individual Health Education Counseling Provided by Provider Characteristics



Odds Ratios – Provider Characteristics, (95% confidence intervals) (N=9,804)								
Variables		Diet Nutrition	Exercise	Weight Reduction				
MD/DO	$DO vs MD^1$	0.69[0.49-0.97]*	0.81[0.56-1.18]	0.7[0.48-1.03]				
Practice Ownership	HMO vs Physician or Physician Group ¹	0.62[0.34-1.13]	0.53[0.24-1.15]	1.21[0.52-2.81]				
	Community Health Center vs Physician or Physician Group	0.91[0.56-1.48]	0.77[0.47-1.26]	0.91[0.48-1.73]				
	Other vs Physician or Physician Group	0.88[0.6-1.3]	0.73[0.47-1.12]	0.78[0.48-1.26]				
EMR Implementation	Don't Know vs Yes, All Electronic ¹	0.69[0.36-1.34]	0.49[0.21-1.12]	0.68[0.35-1.3]				
	Yes, Part Paper/Part Electronic vs Yes, All Electronic	0.99[0.74-1.34]	0.8[0.56-1.13]	0.9[0.63-1.29]				
	No vs Yes, All Electronic	0.94[0.64-1.38]	1.04[0.57-1.88]	1.3[0.8-2.1]				
EMR Reminder	No vs Yes ¹	0.92[0.71-1.19]	1.01[0.75-1.36]	0.9[0.65-1.26]				
Physician Specialty	Other vs Family/General/Internal/OBGYN ¹	0.65[0.47-0.88]**	0.89[0.64-1.23]	1.01[0.66-1.54]				
* $p < 0.05$. ** $p < 0.01$. *** $p < 0.0001$.								
¹ Denotes the referent level								
Control variables (patient characteristics) were held constant and include: sex (male, female), age (18-44, 45-64, 65+), race (white, non-white, missing), private pay (yes, no), government pay								

Table 5.5 Factors Associated with Receipt of Health Education Counseling by Provider Characteristics

(yes, no), other pay (yes, no), time with physician (0-10, 11-20, 21-29, 30+), obesity check box (yes, no), reason for visit (preventive care, new problem, chronic problem-routine, chronic

problem-flare up, pre/post-surgery), BMI class (class I, class II, class III), and practice location (urban, rural).



Discussion

This study found several differences in the provision of health education counseling provided to adult, obese patients during primary care visits. There is an overall lack of any type of obesity health education counseling occurring during primary care visits (70.3% of obese patient visits had no counseling provided). This low level of counseling could be attributed to the different views that physicians and the lay population hold in regards to the causes and treatment of obesity. Primary care physicians tend to believe that obesity is caused by behavioral, structural, social, and psychological factors, whereas, the lay population prefers to believe that obesity is caused from biological factors alone.^{42–44,56} Past research has shown that patients want a professional/medical based approach to treating their obesity, while physicians prefer a patient-led approach.^{42,43} Resulting in conflicting views between who is responsible for and how to treat the obesity that creates a situation where physicians are not providing counseling at all to these patients.

The most significant findings from this study reveal that the odds are increased for certain provider characteristics when compared to others. The odds of a patient visit seeing a MD physician receiving diet/nutrition counseling alone is 0.69 times higher than those visits seeing a DO physician. This was an unexpected result since physicians who receive a DO degree tend to be more focused on prevention and holistic issues, while physicians with a MD degree tend to be more focused on treating the symptom and less on prevention. Furthermore, a study looking into the results of obesity counseling curriculum of medical students found that residents who received the curriculum were not more likely to counsel patients when they presented with obesity.⁹⁶ While that study did



www.manaraa.com

not find a difference in the likelihood of providing counseling based on additional training, they did find that those who went through the curriculum provided higher quality counseling when it was provided compared to others who did not receive the training.⁹⁶ Therefore, it will take further investigation to find out the exact relationship between the physician degree and likelihood of providing health education counseling.

Additionally, the odds of a patient visit seeing a primary care specialty physician receiving exercise counseling alone is 0.65 times higher than those visits seeing another specialty physician. This was an expected outcome since the USPSTF recommendations are written for physicians in primary care practice. However, studies have shown that obesity complicates the management of other chronic diseases that patients would see a specialist for on a regular basis; thus, specialists should be providing this type of counseling also.²⁵ Specialists show a high concern for obesity and counseling practices, yet would prefer to refer a patient elsewhere for that counseling.²⁵ Physicians of all practice specialities should be concerned with the current obesity epidemic. However, until evidence and recommendations are changed to include specialists, obesity counseling should be concentrated mainly in primary care practices.

Previous studies document that there are differing views between physicians and patients on the causes of obesity and who is responsible for addressing the issue. General practitioners tend to believe that obesity does not belong within the medical domain.⁴³ However, patients tend to have a positive perception of their health care providers which indicates promise for these practitioners to motivate them in behavior change during health care encounters.^{56,97} Moreover, research shows that many physicians have negative attitudes and discriminatory intentions towards their patients who are more obese.⁷² This



stems from physician behavior and beliefs that overweight individuals are responsible for their condition and attribute their lack of weight loss to a lack of self-control and lack of cooperation.⁷² Yet, previous research suggests that PCPs feel obliged to counsel about the health risks of obesity and ensure goal setting and referrals, but may not feel competent to intervene.²⁵ These points, among others, could illuminate some of the differences found based on the provider characteristics within this study. One study found that primary care physicians are more likely to counsel on physical activity than on weight reduction or diet/nutrition.²⁹ Whereas, another study found that physicians counsel more on diet/nutrition and physical activity more than weight reduction.⁵⁵ This study did not find a significant difference in the type of counseling provided by primary care physicians. This could be a result of physicians expressing a high concern for the management of obesity, even if they do not always provide the recommended counseling in each visit.²⁵ Another study found that within obese patient visits, some type of obesity counseling occurred in approximately 24% of the encounters.⁴⁵ This study found similar results in that 29.7% of visits included at least one type of obesity counseling. This studies percentage is faintly higher, which could indicate that overtime physicians are providing slightly more counseling to adult obese patients during their health care encounters. Further research is needed to validate this assumption.

While some results from this study on provider characteristics align with previous studies, there is one unique finding that provides new insight into one provider characteristics and the influence on the likelihood of physician's to provide obesity counseling. A previous study found that EMR clinical reminders were significantly associated with counseling provided during a health care visit.⁸³ Yet, this study found no



significant association between EMR clinical reminders and the provision of counseling. Unexpectedly, this study did find that regardless of a full EMR or no EMR, the patient was more likely to receive all 3 types of counseling during a visit. This was not expected since literature shows the purpose of EMR to be based on improving patient outcomes and increasing quality of care.⁷⁷ It can be explained through a documented source that states EMRs are often times not used in a way that maximizes their potential to improve the quality of care.⁸⁴ Thus, this result reveals that EMRs may not have a significant role in increasing care at the point of service but only in other areas. Further research is needed in order to validate this assumption based on the findings from this study.

The strengths of this study include the large sample size from NAMCS. The entire sample aggregated from 2008-2010 of obese patients treated was 11,041. This number was decreased to 9,804 during the logistic regression analysis, which still provides a large sample size for the study. Furthermore, this survey provides a vast amount of information that several conclusions can be drawn from due to the extensiveness of the information collected. There are some limitations within this study. First, this study is based on a survey that is from one patient visit and not representative of an on-going treatment of a patient. Therefore, we are only able to identify patients who are categorized as obese and whether the physician provided the counseling during the visit that was recorded on the encounter form. Second, the NAMCS survey is more accurate for procedure and examination data than for health behavior counseling due to physicians underreporting the counseling they provide.⁸⁸ Yet, the NAMCS survey is still considered an accurate tool for measurement of health-related topics contained within the form.⁸⁸ Third, we are unable to identify if a patient has been included more than once within this population



www.manaraa.com

since the data is de-identified. Lastly, the USPSTF recommendation for obese adults has a limitation in regards to the intervals of screening due to the lack of evidence of interval times available in research.¹⁰ While there are some limitations, NAMCS is routinely used to establish national trends that are representative of the population as a whole for many policy-related, health services, and other health-related topics.

While this study provides some new insight into provider characteristics that influence the physician's likelihood to provide counseling in primary care visits, there is still much more research needed to further understand the lack of overall counseling provided to obese patients. First, further research is needed in the area of medical education to see if enhanced health education on counseling skills were offered during training/residency, if this would significantly increase the likelihood of physicians to provide the counseling when needed to obese patients. ^{51–53,98} Furthermore, enhanced medical education on counseling the physicians in practice to increase their confidence, skills, and abilities to address these sensitive patient health topics. Second, further research is needed on physician behavior to find out why physicians provide one type of counseling over another during an encounter.³ Making physicians aware of this information will aid them in their counseling practices.

There are many barriers present to providing health education counseling to adult, obese patient; yet, it is essential for physicians to use their unique position to address the patient's increased health risks when they come into their practice for care.^{12,26,98} It is essential for physicians to be aware of the differences in the provision of obesity counseling based on the factors outlined in this study given the current obesity epidemic. The need to understand, with consistency, what provider characteristics influence the



provision of obesity counseling, is essential to addressing the epidemic. It is also crucial to ensure physicians are maximizing their counseling efforts with these patients who need to make changes to decrease their risk for other chronic diseases.



CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION

Of the 11,041 obese patient visits, Manuscripts I and II found that overall between 2008 and 2010, 70.3% had no type of counseling while only 7.6% had all 3 types of recommended counseling provided. Of the 9,804 obese patient visits analyzed further, the odds are increased for the patient to receive all 3 types of health education counseling when: their obesity check box is checked versus unchecked (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.33 [0.27-0.41] for diet/nutrition; 0.42 [0.33-0.54] for exercise; 0.19 [0.15-0.25] for weight reduction); when they are being seen for a preventive visit versus a new problem visit (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.42 [0.31-0.56] for diet/nutrition; 0.49 [0.36-0.67] for exercise; 0.46 [0.33-0.65] for weight reduction); when they are being seen for a preventive care visit versus a pre/post-surgery visit (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.28 [0.17-0.46] for diet/nutrition; 0.46 [0.28-0.76] for exercise; 0.30 [0.16-0.56] for weight reduction); when they are categorized as having Class III obesity versus Class I obesity (odds ratio [95%CI]: 1.38 [1.15-1.67] for diet/nutrition; 1.39 [1.11-1.74] for exercise; 1.59 [1.21-2.09] for weight reduction); and when they are designated as urban versus rural (odds ratio [95%CI]: 0.57 [0.39-0.85] for diet/nutrition; 0.65 [0.43-0.99] for exercise; 0.63 [0.44-0.92] for weight reduction) while controlling for all other variables. Furthermore, the odds are increased for the patient to receive diet/nutrition health education counseling when the visit is conducted by a physician with a MD degree versus a physician with a DO degree (odds ratio [95%CI]: diet/nutrition; 0.69 [0.49-0.97] and when they are seen by a physician with primary care specialty (family medicine, general medicine, internal



medicine, and OBGYN) versus a physician with another specialty (odds ratio [95%CI]: diet/nutrition; 0.65 [0.47-0.88] while controlling for all other variables.

This study found several differences in the provision of health education counseling provided to obese adult patients during primary care visits. There is an overall lack of any type of obesity health education counseling occurring during primary care visits (70.3% of obese patient visits had no counseling provided). Research has shown that patients are highly motivated to lose weight but prefer not want to change their diet in the process.⁴² Thus, primary health care providers have a unique opportunity to provide the patient with exercise and/or weight reduction counseling in an effort to address their weight. When looking at the individual types of counseling provided during patient visits, patients were most likely to receive diet/nutrition counseling as opposed to exercise or weight reduction counseling. This would most likely result in the patient's failure to lose weight since they are interested in losing weight but not through diet modifications alone. This low level of counseling could also be attributed to the different views that physicians and the lay population hold in regards to the causes and treatment of obesity. Primary care physicians tend to believe that obesity is caused of behavioral, structural, social, and psychological factors, whereas, the lay population prefers to believe that obesity is caused from biological factors alone.^{42–44,56} Past research has shown that patients want a professional/medical based approach to treating their obesity, while physicians prefer a patient-led approach.^{42,43} Resulting in conflicting views between who is responsible for and how to treat the obesity that ends with physicians not providing counseling at all to these patients.



The most significant findings from the patient characteristic study reveal that the odds are increased for certain patient characteristics when compared to others. The odds of a patient visit with the obesity check box checked receiving diet/nutrition counseling is 0.33 times higher than those visits with the check box unchecked, 0.42 times higher to receiving exercise counseling, and 0.19 times higher to receiving weight reduction counseling. This outcome would be expected since the physician indicates, through the checking of the box, that they are aware the patient has obesity. The odds of a patient visit for preventive care receiving diet/nutrition counseling is 0.42 times higher than those visits for a new problem, 0.49 times higher to receiving exercise counseling, and 0.65 times higher to receiving weight reduction counseling. This would also be an expected outcome since a preventive care visit has been found to be the most likely type of visit for health education counseling to occur.^{29,57} Yet, if the patient is being seen for a new problem that is related to their obesity or high weight, this would not be expected. It would take further investigation to determine the relationship between new problems that arise in obese patient and the provision of health education counseling. Moreover, the odds of a patient visit for preventive care visit receiving diet/nutrition counseling is 0.28 times higher than those visits for pre/post-surgery, 0.46 times higher to receiving exercise counseling, and 0.56 times higher to receiving weight reduction counseling.

Aligning with previous research, the odds of a patient visit with Class III obesity receiving diet/nutrition counseling is 1.38 times higher than those visits with Class I obesity, 1.39 times higher to receiving exercise counseling, and 1.60 times higher to receiving weight reduction. Several studies found that physicians recognize and provide counseling more for patients who have higher BMIs.^{25,51,72,73} This study confirms that



www.manaraa.com

patients with Class III obesity have increased odds of receiving counseling compared to those who are less obese. This result is essential for physicians to be cognizant of because physicians may be able to make more progress in patient's losing weight if they target those with lower BMIs to make life-style modifications before their weight is uncontrollable.²⁹ Lastly, the odds of a patient visit in an urban location receiving diet/nutrition counseling is 0.57 times higher than those visits in an rural location, 0.65 times higher to receiving exercise counseling, and 0.63 times higher to receiving weight reduction counseling. There is little research available on the differences seen in preventive services provided in urban versus rural primary care practices. However, it has been noted that the practice location (urban versus rural) impacts the physician's adherence, or lack thereof, to preventive services recommendations.⁹⁵ Patients in rural locations tend to have less frequent visits to the physician due to the distance between their homes and the practice.⁹⁵ This means that physicians should pay extra close attention to their counseling practices in rural areas since those individuals are seen less frequently and have less opportunities to provide the counseling.

Studies have also found that, while still unclear and inconsistent, there is a relationship between patient age and the delivery of counseling. One study found that there appears to be an increasing relationship between age and receiving more counseling until ages 55-65, then it begins to decrease.⁵¹ Resulting in middle aged individuals receiving the most counseling during primary care encounters. The results from this study align with previous findings because counseling was significantly associated with patients aged 45-64, meaning that middle aged patient visits were most likely to receive counseling. However, in regards to weight reduction counseling, patient's aged 18-44



years had increased odds of receiving weight reduction counseling when compared to patient's aged 45-64. This could be a result of physicians addressing weight concerns earlier in life, rather than later, so that the patient's weight is less debilitating which could result in increased quality of life as they age. It would take further research to justify this assumption.

The most significant findings from the provider characteristic study reveal that the odds are increased for certain provider characteristics when compared to others. The odds of a patient visit seeing a MD physician receiving diet/nutrition counseling alone is 0.69 times higher than those visits seeing a DO physician. This was an unexpected result since physicians who receive a DO degree tend to be more focused on prevention and holistic issues, while physicians with a MD degree tend to be more focused on treating the symptom and less on prevention. Furthermore, a study looking into the results of obesity counseling curriculum of medical students found that residents who received the curriculum were not more likely to counsel patients when they presented with obesity.⁹⁶ While that study did not find a difference in the likelihood of providing counseling based on additional training, they did find that those who went through the curriculum provided higher quality counseling when it was provided compared to others who did not receive the training.⁹⁶ Therefore, it will take further investigation to find out the exact relationship between the physician degree and likelihood of providing health education counseling.

Additionally, the odds of a patient visit seeing a primary care specialty physician receiving exercise counseling alone is 0.65 times higher than those visits seeing another specialty physician. This was an expected outcome since the USPSTF recommendations



www.manaraa.com

are written for physicians in primary care practice. However, studies have shown that obesity complicates the management of other chronic diseases that patients would see a specialist for on a regular basis so specialists should be providing this type of counseling also.²⁵ Specialists show a high concern for obesity and counseling practices, yet would prefer to refer a patient elsewhere for that counseling.²⁵ Physicians of all practice specialty should be concerned with the obesity epidemic. However, until recommendations are changed to include specialists, obesity counseling should be concentrated mainly in primary care practices.

Previous studies document that there are differing views between physicians and patients on the causes of obesity and who is responsible for addressing the issue. General practitioners tend to believe that obesity does not belong within the medical domain.⁴³ However, patients tend to have a positive perception of their health care providers which indicates promise for these practitioners to motivate them in behavior change during health care encounters.^{56,97} Moreover, research shows that many physicians have negative attitudes and discriminatory intentions towards their patients who are more obese.⁷² This stems from physician behavior and beliefs that overweight individuals are responsible for their condition and attribute their lack of weight loss to a lack of self-control and lack of cooperation.⁷² Yet, previous research suggests that PCPs feel obliged to counsel about the health risks of obesity and ensure goal setting and referrals, but may not feel competent to intervene.²⁵ These points could illuminate some of the differences found based on the provider characteristics within this study. One study found that primary care physicians are more likely to counsel on physical activity than on weight reduction or diet/nutrition.²⁹ Whereas, another study found that physicians counsel more on



www.manaraa.com

diet/nutrition and physical activity more than weight reduction.⁵⁵ This study did not find a significant difference in the type of counseling provided by primary care physicians. This could be a result of physicians expressing a high concern for the management of obesity, even if they do not always provide the recommended counseling in each visit.²⁵ Another study found that within obese patient visits, some type of obesity counseling occurred in approximately 24% of the encounters.⁴⁵ This study found similar results in that 29.7% of visits included at least one type of obesity counseling. This studies percentage is faintly higher, which could indicate that overtime physicians are providing slightly more counseling to adult obese patients during their health care encounters. Further research is needed to validate this assumption.

While some results from this study align with previous research findings, there are a couple of unique results that provide new insight into some patient characteristics and their influence on physician's provision of obesity counseling. Some studies have found that there is no significant difference in the odds of receiving health education counseling overall.¹⁸ Yet, this study found several differences in the odds of receiving counseling based on patient characteristics (obesity check box, preventive care visit, Class III obesity, and urban location). These differences could mean that these patient characteristics have begun to influence the likelihood of physicians to provide counseling to obese patients during primary health care encounters. Thus, physicians will need to pay close attention to these patients. Additionally, a previous study found that the more time spent with physicians during a visit increased the likelihood of receiving obesity counseling when compared to those who spent less time.⁷⁴ Yet this study found no



significance in the time spent with the physician on the delivery of obesity counseling. Since obesity counseling only takes 3-5 minutes to provide during a patient visit it would seem that all patient visits, regardless of time spent with the physician, could receive this recommended counseling.^{17,47}Overall, there has not been a significant change in physician's provision of health education counseling to adult obese patient since 2008 even with the rise in awareness and focus on obesity within the US.

Moreover, while some results from this study on provider characteristics align with previous studies, there is one unique finding that provides new insight into one provider characteristics and the influence on the likelihood of physician's to provide obesity counseling. A previous study found that EMR clinical reminders were significantly associated with counseling provided during a health care visit.⁸³ Yet, this study found no significant association between EMR clinical reminders and the provision of counseling. Unexpectedly, this study did find that regardless of a full EMR or no EMR, the patient was more likely to receive all 3 types of counseling during a visit. This was not expected since literature shows the purpose of EMR to be based on improving patient outcomes and increasing quality of care.⁷⁷ It can be explained through a documented source that states EMRs are often times not used in a way that maximizes their potential to improve the quality of care.⁸⁴ Thus, this result reveals that EMRs may not have a significant role in increasing care at the point of service but only in other areas. Further research is needed in order to validate this assumption based on the findings from this study.

The strengths of this study include the large sample size from NAMCS. The entire sample aggregated from 2008-2010 of obese patients treated was 11,041. This number



www.manaraa.com

was decreased to 9,804 during the logistic regression analysis, which still provides a large sample size for the study. Furthermore, this survey provides a vast amount of information that several conclusions can be drawn from due to the extensiveness of the information collected. There are some limitations within this study. First, this study is based on a survey that is from one patient visit and not representative of an on-going treatment of a patient. Therefore, we are only able to identify patients who are categorized as obese and whether they received counseling during the visit that was recorded on the encounter form. Second, NAMCS has been found to be more accurate for procedure and examination data than for health behavior counseling data due to underreporting issues.⁸⁸ Yet, the NAMCS survey is still considered an accurate tool for measurement of the health-related topics contained within the form.⁸⁸ Third, we are unable to identify if a patient has been included more than once within this population since the data is deidentified. Lastly, the USPSTF recommendation for obese adults has a limitation in regards to the intervals of screening due to the lack of evidence of interval times in research studies.¹⁰ While there are some limitations, NAMCS is routinely used to establish national trends that are representative of the population as a whole for many policy-related, health services, and other health-related topics.

While this study provides some new insight into patient and provider characteristics that influence the physician's likelihood to provide counseling in a primary care visit, there is still more research needed to further understand the lack of counseling that occurs. First, further research is needed in the area of the USPSTF recommendations on the time intervals of the health education counseling for adult obese patients. This would allow the recommendations to be more specific in the duration and


interval times that the counseling must occur to be most beneficial to the patient. Second, it is important to determine what patient characteristics impacts the types of counseling the physician decides to provide the most during a visit.^{3,10} Likewise, investigation into the type of counseling that has the greatest benefit to the patient is needed so that physicians can focus on the type most likely to bring about life-style modifications and weight loss. Third, it is essential for research to investigate the differences found in the provision of counseling based on the obesity check box status, preventive care visits, the patient's class of obesity, and the urban versus rural location of the visit. Fourth, further research is needed in the area of medical education to see if enhanced health education counseling skills were offered during training, if this would significantly increase the likelihood of physicians to provide the counseling when needed to patients.^{51–53,98} Furthermore, enhanced medical education on counseling could also benefit the physicians in practice to increase their confidence, skills, and abilities to address these sensitive patient health topics. fifth, further research is needed on physician behavior to find out why physicians provide one type of counseling over another during an encounter.³

Although physicians see a vast amount of adult obese patients within primary care practice, health education counseling practices by primary care physicians remains less than optimal. Therefore, there is a drastic need to improve this type of health education counseling by primary care physicians in order to address the current obesity epidemic in the U.S. Given the current epidemic and the limited time available during primary care visits, the need to understand, with consistency, what patient and provider characteristics influence the provision of obesity counseling is vital for physicians. This will ensure physicians are maximizing their counseling efforts during their encounters. There are



97

many barriers present to providing health education counseling to adult, obese patient; yet, it is essential for physicians to use their unique position to address the patient's increased health risks when they come into their practice for care.^{12,26,98} It is also crucial to ensure physicians are maximizing their counseling efforts with these patients who need to make changes to decrease their risk for other chronic diseases.



REFERENCES

- 1. Brill BA. The Long-Term Returns of Obesity Prevention Policies.; 2013.
- 2. Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Curtin LR. Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults, 1999-2008. *JAMA*. 2010;303(3):235–41. doi:10.1001/jama.2009.2014.
- 3. Moyer V. Annals of Internal Medicine Clinical Guideline Services Task Force Recommendation Statement OF AND. *Ann Intern Med.* 2012;157(5):373–379.
- 4. Lyznicki JM, Young DC, Riggs J a, Davis RM. Obesity: assessment and management in primary care. *Am Fam Physician*. 2001;63(11):2185–96. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11892537.
- 5. Ma J, Urizar GG, Alehegn T, Stafford RS. Diet and physical activity counseling during ambulatory care visits in the United States. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2004;39(4):815–22. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.03.006.
- 6. Kuczmarski RJ, Flegal KM, Campbell SM, Johnson CL. Increasing Prevalence of Overweight Among US Adults. *JAMA J Am Med Assoc*. 1994;272(1):205–211.
- 7. Stein C j, Colditz G a. The Epidemic of Obesity. *J Clin Epidemiol Metab*. 2004;89(6):2522–2525.
- Flegal KM, Kuczmarski CR, Johnson C. Overweight and obesity in the United States: prevalence and trends, 1960-1994. *Int J Obes*. 1998;22(1):39–47.9. Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Johnson CL. Prevalence and Trends in Obesity Among US Adults, 1999-2000. *JAMA J Am Med Assoc*. 2002;288(14):1723–1727.
- 10. Yao A. Screening for and Management of Obesity in Adults: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement: A Policy Review. *Ann Med Surg.* 2013;2(1):18–21. doi:10.1016/S2049-0801(13)70022-0.
- 11. Barlow SE. Databases and diagnosis of obesity: pitfalls and potential of using ICD-9 codes. *J Pediatr*. 2009;154(3):315–7. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2008.12.007.
- 12. Loureiro ML, Nayga RM. Obesity, weight loss, and physician's advice. *Soc Sci Med.* 2006;62(10):2458–68. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.11.011.



- 13. Mokdad A, Ford E, Bowman B. Prevalence of obesity, diabetes, and obesity related health risk factors, 2001. *J Am Med Assoc*. 2003;289:76–79.
- 14. Kraschnewski JL, Sciamanna CN, Stuckey HL, et al. A silent response to the obesity epidemic: decline in US physician weight counseling. *Med Care*. 2013;51(2):186–92. doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182726c33.
- Zabelina D, Erickson A, Kolotkin R. The effect of age one weight-related quality of life in overweight and obese individuals. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2009;17:1410–1413.
- Bardia A, Holtan SG, Slezak JM, Thompson WG. Diagnosis of obesity by primary care physicians and impact on obesity management. *Mayo Clin Proc*. 2007;82(8):927–32. doi:10.4065/82.8.927.
- 17. Rippe JM, McInnis KJ, Melanson KJ. Physician involvement in the management of obesity as a primary medical condition. *Obes Res.* 2001;9 Suppl 4(November):302S–311S. doi:10.1038/oby.2001.135.
- Felix H, West DS, Bursac Z. Impact of USPSTF practice guidelines on clinician weight loss counseling as reported by obese patients. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2008;47(4):394–7. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.06.002.
- 19. Withrow D, Alter D a. The economic burden of obesity worldwide: a systematic review of the direct costs of obesity. *Obes Rev.* 2011;12(2):131–41. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00712.x.
- 20. Flegal KM, Kit BK, Orpana H. Association of All-Cause Mortality with Overweight and Obesity Using Standard Body Mass Index Categories. *JAMA*. 2013;309(1):71–82.
- 21. Eckel RH, Krauss RM. American Heart Association Call to Action: Obesity as a Major Risk Factor for Coronary Heart Disease. *Circulation*. 1998;97(21):2099–2100. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.97.21.2099.
- 22. O'Grady M, Capretta J. Assessing the Economics of Obesity and Obesity Interventions.; 2012.
- 23. Weicker L, Harris CM, Christopher G, et al. *F as in Fat : How Obesity Policies are Failing in America.*; 2009.
- Field a E, Coakley EH, Must a, et al. Impact of overweight on the risk of developing common chronic diseases during a 10-year period. *Arch Intern Med*. 2001;161(13):1581–6. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11434789.



- 25. Kristeller J, Hoerr R. Physician Attitudes toward Managing Obesity : Differences among Six Specialty Groups. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2000;26(1997):542–549.
- 26. Briscoe JS, Berry J a. Barriers to Weight Loss Counseling. *J Nurse Pract.* 2009;5(3):161–167. doi:10.1016/j.nurpra.2008.08.018.
- Cawley J, Meyerhoefer C. The medical care costs of obesity: an instrumental variables approach. *J Health Econ*. 2012;31(1):219–30. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2011.10.003.
- 28. Ko JY, Brown DR, Galuska D a, Zhang J, Blanck HM, Ainsworth BE. Weight loss advice U.S. obese adults receive from health care professionals. *Prev Med* (*Baltim*). 2008;47(6):587–92. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.09.007.
- 29. Smith AW, Borowski L a, Liu B, et al. U.S. primary care physicians' diet-, physical activity-, and weight-related care of adult patients. *Am J Prev Med*. 2011;41(1):33–42. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2011.03.017.
- Aronne LJ, Nelinson DS, Lillo JL. Obesity as a disease state: A new paradigm for diagnosis and treatment. *Clin Cornerstone*. 2009;9(4):9–29. doi:10.1016/S1098-3597(09)80002-1.
- Swinburn B. Obesity prevention: the role of policies, laws and regulations. *Aust New Zealand Health Policy*. 2008:12. Available at: http://www.anzhealthpolicy.com/content/pdf/1743-8462-5-12.pdf. Accessed August 20, 2014.
- 32. USPSTF. Medical Care for Obese Patients: Advice for Health Care Professionals. *Am Fam Physician*. 2002:81–88. Available at: http://www.aafp.org/afp/2002/0101/p81.pdf. Accessed August 20, 2014.
- 33. Sox H, McGinnis M. *Guide to CLINICAL PREVENTIVE SERVICES*. 2nd Ed.
- 34. Aston G. Obesity Article with Coverage Info. *Hosp Heal Networks*. 2014. Available at: http://www.hhnmag.com/display/HHN-newsarticle.dhtml?dcrPath=/templatedata/HF_Common/NewsArticle/data/HHN/Magazi ne/2014/Jul/fea-clinical-managementobesity&utm_source=daily&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=HHN.
- 35. Rao G. Office-based strategies for the management of obesity. *Am Fam Physician*. 2010;81(12):1449–56 ; quiz 1429. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20540483.
- LeBlanc E, O'Connor E, Whitlock E, Patnode C, Kapka T. Review Annals of Internal Medicine Effectiveness of Primary Care – Relevant Treatments for Obesity in. Ann Intern Med. 2011;155:434–447.



- 37. Collins T. Health policy analysis: a simple tool for policy makers. *Public Health*. 2005;119(3):192–6. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2004.03.006.
- Hendriks A-M, Habraken J, Jansen MWJ, et al. "Are we there yet?" operationalizing the concept of Integrated Public Health Policies. *Health Policy*. 2014;114(2-3):174–82. doi:10.1016/j.healthpol.2013.10.004.
- Macdiarmid J, Loe J, Douglas F, Ludbrook A, Comerford C, McNeill G. Developing a timeline for evaluating public health nutrition policy interventions. What are the outcomes and when should we expect to see them? *Public Heal Nutr*. 2011:729–739. Available at: file:///C:/Users/taylorkk/Downloads/PHNG-conceptmapping.pdf. Accessed August 20, 2014.
- 40. Greener J, Douglas F, van Teijlingen E. More of the same? Conflicting perspectives of obesity causation and intervention amongst overweight people, health professionals and policy makers. *Soc Sci Med.* 2010;70(7):1042–9. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.11.017.
- 41. Bleich SN, Pickett-Blakely O, Cooper L a. Physician practice patterns of obesity diagnosis and weight-related counseling. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2011;82(1):123–9. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2010.02.018.
- 42. Dolor RJ, Østbye T, Lyna P, et al. What are physicians' and patients' beliefs about diet, weight, exercise, and smoking cessation counseling? *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2010;51(5):440–2. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.07.023.
- 43. Ogden J, Bandara I, Cohen H, et al. General practitioners' and patients' models of obesity: whose problem is it? *Patient Educ Couns*. 2001;44(3):227–33. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11553423.
- 44. Ogden J, Flanagan Z. Beliefs about the causes and solutions to Obesity: A Comparison of GPs and lay people. *Univ Surrey*. 2008:1–26.
- 45. McAlpine DD, Wilson AR. Trends in obesity-related counseling in primary care: 1995-2004. *Med Care*. 2007;45(4):322–329. doi:10.1097/01.mlr.0000254575.19543.01.
- 46. Bertozzi N, Bakken E, Bolognesi M, et al. Promoting physical activity in overweight and obese patients: counseling in primary care from Italy (Cesena, 2002--2003). *Ann Ig.* 2004;16:745–751. doi:10.1007/s11332-004-0006-8.
- 47. McInnis K, Franklin B, Rippe J. Counseling for physical activity in overweight and obese patients.: EBSCOhost. *Am Fam Physician*. 2003:1249–1256. Available at: http://web.a.ebscohost.com.pallas2.tcl.sc.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=16&



sid=9076e924-7591-43fa-9c60-45b3d3c18e68@sessionmgr4005&hid=4207. Accessed August 20, 2014.

- 48. Alexander SC, Ostbye T, Pollak KI, Gradison M, Bastian L a, Brouwer RJN. Physicians' beliefs about discussing obesity: results from focus groups. *Am J Health Promot*. 2007;21(6):498–500. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17674636.
- 49. Noël PH, Copeland L a., Pugh MJ, et al. Obesity diagnosis and care practices in the veterans health administration. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2010;25:510–516. doi:10.1007/s11606-010-1279-z.
- 50. Bleich SN, Huizinga MM, Beach MC, Cooper L a. Patient use of weightmanagement activities: a comparison of patient and physician assessments. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2010;79(3):344–50. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2010.01.020.
- 51. Simkin-Silverman LR, Conroy MB, King WC. Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Primary Care Practice: Current Evidence and Future Directions. *Am J Lifestyle Med.* 2008;2:296–304. doi:10.1177/1559827608317287.
- 52. Kushner RF. Barriers to providing nutrition counseling by physicians: a survey of primary care practitioners. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 1995;24:546–552. doi:10.1177/0884533610380057.
- 53. Banerjee ES, Gambler A, Fogleman C. Adding obesity to the problem list increases the rate of providers addressing obesity. *Fam Med.* 2013;45:629–633.
- 54. Pulvers KM, Kaur H, Nollen NL, et al. Comparison of body perceptions between obese primary care patients and physicians: implications for practice. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2008;73(1):73–81. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2008.04.002.
- 55. Heintze C, Metz U, Hahn D, et al. Counseling overweight in primary care: an analysis of patient-physician encounters. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2010;80(1):71–5. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2009.10.016.
- 56. Gudzune KA, Huizinga MM, Cooper LA. Impact of patient obesity on the patientprovider relationship. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2011;85(3):e322–5. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2011.01.001.
- 57. Scott JG, Cohen D, DiCicco-Bloom B, et al. Speaking of weight: how patients and primary care clinicians initiate weight loss counseling. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2004;38(6):819–27. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.01.001.
- 58. Bertakis KD, Franks P, Epstein RM. Patient-centered communication in primary care: physician and patient gender and gender concordance. *J Womens Health* (*Larchmt*). 2009;18(4):539–545. doi:10.1089/jwh.2008.0969.



- 59. Franks P, Bertakis KD. Physician Gender, Patient Gender, and Primary Care. *J Women's Heal*. 2003;12(1):73–83.
- 60. Roter D, Lipkin M, Korsgaard a. Sex differences in patients' and physicians' communication during primary care medical visits. *Med Care*. 1991;29(11):1083–1093.
- 61. Hall J, Roter D. Patient gender and communication with physicians.pdf. *Women's Heal*. 1995;1(1):77–95.
- 62. Anderson C, Peterson CB, Fletcher L, Mitchell JE, Thuras P, Crow SJ. Weight loss and gender: an examination of physician attitudes. *Obes Res.* 2001;9:257–263. doi:10.1038/oby.2001.30.
- 63. Bertakis KD. The influence of gender on the doctor-patient interaction. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2009;76:356–360. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2009.07.022.
- 64. Chugh M, Friedman AM, Clemow LP, Ferrante JM. Women weigh in: obese African American and White women's perspectives on physicians' roles in weight management. *J Am Board Fam Med*. 2013;26:421–8. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2013.04.120350.
- 65. Pollak KI, Coffman CJ, Alexander SC, et al. Weight's up? Predictors of weightrelated communication during primary care visits with overweight adolescents. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2014;96(3):327–332. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2014.07.025.
- 66. Gaziano JM. Fifth phase of the epidemiologic transition: the age of obesity and inactivity. *JAMA*. 2010;303(3):275–276. doi:10.1001/jama.2009.2025.
- 67. Hedley A a, Ogden CL, Johnson CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, Flegal KM. Prevalence of overweight and obesity among US children, adolescents, and adults, 1999-2002. *JAMA*. 2004;291(23):2847–2850. doi:10.1001/jama.291.23.2847.
- 68. Tripp SB, Perry JT, Romney S, Blood-Siegfried J. Providers as weight coaches: Using practice guides and motivational interview to treat obesity in the pediatric office. *J Pediatr Nurs*. 2011;26(5):474–479. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2011.07.009.
- 69. Lutfiyya MN, Nika B, Ng L, Tragos C, Won R, Lipsky MS. Primary prevention of overweight and obesity: An analysis of national survey data. *J Gen Intern Med*. 2008;23:821–823. doi:10.1007/s11606-008-0581-5.
- Villareal DT, Apovian CM, Kushner RF, Klein S. Obesity in older adults: Technical review and position statement of the American Society for Nutrition and NAASO, The Obesity Society. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2005;82(11):923–934. doi:10.1038/oby.2005.228.



- 71. McTigue KM, Harris R, Hemphill B, et al. *Screening and interventions for obesity in adults: summary of the evidence for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force.*; 2003. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14644897.
- 72. Hebl MR, Xu J, Mason MF. Weighing the care: patients' perceptions of physician care as a function of gender and weight. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2003;27:269–275. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.802231.
- 73. Orlowski M, Adkins S, Ellison S, Choh A, Terwoord N, Schuster R. Assessment and Management of Adult Obesity in a Primary Care Practice. *Policy Stud Organ*. 2013;5(1).
- 74. Mehta H, Patel J, Parikh R, Abughosh S. Differences in Obesity Management Among Physicians. *Popul Health Manag*. 2012;15(5):287–292. doi:10.1089/pop.2011.0068.
- Yamamoto A, McCormick MC, Burris HH. US Provider-Reported Diet and Physical Activity Counseling to Pregnant and Non-pregnant Women of Childbearing Age During Preventive Care Visits. *Matern Child Health J.* 2013:1– 9. doi:10.1007/s10995-013-1401-z.
- 76. Dutton GR, Herman KG, Tan F, et al. Patient and physician characteristics associated with the provision of weight loss counseling in primary care. *Obes Res Clin Pract*. 2014;8(2):e123–e130. doi:10.1016/j.orcp.2012.12.004.
- 77. Baer HJ, Cho I, Walmer R a, Bain P a, Bates DW. Using electronic health records to address overweight and obesity: a systematic review. *Am J Prev Med*. 2013;45(4):494–500. doi:S0749-3797(13)00397-8 [pii]\r10.1016/j.amepre.2013.05.015.
- 78. O'Grady JS, Thacher TD, Chaudhry R. The effect of an automated clinical reminder on weight loss in primary care. *J Am Board Fam Med*. 2013;26:745–50. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2013.06.120340.
- 79. Shaikh U, Berrong J, Nettiksimmons J, Byrd RS. Impact of Electronic Health Record Clinical Decision Support on the Management of Pediatric Obesity. *Am J Med Qual.* 2014. doi:10.1177/1062860613517926.
- 80. Bordowitz R, Morland K, Reich D. The use of an electronic medical record to improve documentation and treatment of obesity. *Fam Med.* 2007;39(April):274–279.
- Krist AH, Woolf SH, Frazier CO, et al. An Electronic Linkage System for Health Behavior Counseling. Effect on Delivery of the 5A's. *Am J Prev Med.* 2008;35:16–18. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2008.08.010.



- 82. Schriefer SP, Landis SE, Turbow DJ, Patch SC. Effect of a computerized body mass index prompt on diagnosis and treatment of adult obesity. *Fam Med*. 2009;41(August):502–507.
- 83. Tang JW, Kushner RF, Cameron K a., Hicks B, Cooper AJ, Baker DW. Electronic tools to assist with identification and counseling for overweight patients: A randomized controlled trial. *J Gen Intern Med*. 2012;27:933–939. doi:10.1007/s11606-012-2022-8.
- 84. Gill JM. EMRs for improving quality of care: Promise and pitfalls. *Fam Med*. 2009;41(7):513–515.
- Bleich SN, Bennett WL, Gudzune K a., Cooper L a. Impact of Physician BMI on Obesity Care and Beliefs. *Obesity*. 2012;20(5):999–1005. doi:10.1038/oby.2011.402.
- Steeves JA, Liu B, Willis G, Lee R, Smith AW. Physicians ' personal beliefs about weight-related care and their associations with care delivery : The U.S. National Survey of Energy Balance Related Care among Primary Care Physicians &. Obes Res Clin Pract. 2014. doi:10.1016/j.orcp.2014.08.002.
- 87. Bodner ME, Dolor RJ, Ostbye T, et al. Accuracy and congruence of patient and physician weight-related discussions: from project CHAT (Communicating Health: Analyzing Talk). *J Am Board Fam Med*. 2014;27(1):70–7. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2014.01.130110.
- 88. Gilchrist VJ, Stange KC, Flocke S a, McCord G, Bourguet CC. A comparison of the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) measurement approach with direct observation of outpatient visits. *Med Care*. 2004;42(3):276–280. doi:10.1097/01.mlr.0000114916.95639.af.
- 89. Prevention C for DC and. Ambulatory Healthcare Data. 2014. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/ahcd.htm.
- 90. Andersen RM. National health surveys and the behavioral model of health services use. *Med Care*. 2008;46(7):647–653. doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e31817a835d.
- 91. Andersen R, Newman JF. Societal and individual determinants of medical care utilization in the United States. *Milbank Mem Fund Q Health Soc.* 1973;51(4):95–124. doi:10.2307/3349613.
- 92. Folland S, Goodman A, Stano M. *The Economics of Health and Health Care*. 6th ed. Prentice Hall; 2009. Available at: http://www.amazon.com/Economics-Health-Care-6th/dp/0136080308/ref=sr_1_2?ie=UTF8&qid=1421434053&sr=8-2&keywords=goodman+stano+health+economics.



- 93. Sloan F, Hsieh C. *Health Economics*. 1st ed. Cambridge: Massachusetts Institute of Technology Press; 2012. Available at: http://www.amazon.com/Health-Economics-Frank-Sloan/dp/0262016761/ref=sr_1_1?ie=UTF8&qid=1421434000&sr=8-1&keywords=sloan+health+economics#reader_0262016761.
- 94. Kraschnewski JL, Sciamanna CN, Pollak KI, Stuckey HL, Sherwood NE. The epidemiology of weight counseling for adults in the United States: a case of positive deviance. *Int J Obes*. 2012;37(5):751–753. doi:10.1038/ijo.2012.113.
- 95. Khoong EC, Gibbert WS, Garbutt JM, Sumner W, Brownson RC. Rural, Suburban, and Urban Differences in Factors That Impact Physician Adherence to Clinical Preventive Service Guidelines. *J Rural Heal*. 2014;30(1):7–16. doi:10.1111/jrh.12025.Rural.
- 96. Jay M, Schlair S, Caldwell R, Kalet A, Sherman S, Gillespie C. From the patient's perspective: The impact of training on resident physician's obesity counseling. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2010;25(5):415–422. doi:10.1007/s11606-010-1299-8.
- 97. Gudzune K a, Clark JM, Appel LJ, Bennett WL. Primary care providers' communication with patients during weight counseling: a focus group study. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2012;89(1):152–7. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2012.06.033.
- 98. Bleich SN, Gudzune K a, Bennett WL, Cooper L a. Do physician beliefs about causes of obesity translate into actionable issues on which physicians counsel their patients? *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2013;56(5):326–8. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.01.012.



Appendix A - 2008 NAMCS Questionnaire

	1. PATIE	NT INFORMATION	1		2. INJURY/POISONING/
a. Date of visit	d. Sex		g. Expect	ed source(s) of payment	ADVERSE EFFECT
Month Day Year 1 Female 2 Male			1 Prive	ate insurance	is this visit related to any of the following?
200	1 Hispanic or Lat	Ino	2 Med	dicare	1 Unintentional injury/poisoning
	2 Not Hispanic or Latino			ticald/SCHIP rket's compensation	2 Intentional injury/poisoning
b. ZIP Code	f. Race – Mark (X) one or more.			-pay	s injury/poisoning -
2 Black/African American			€ No (charge/Charity	uńkńown Intent
c. Date of birth	3 Aslan	inciroan .	8 Unk	er known	4 Adverse effect of medical/
Month Day Year	4 Native Hawalla	n/ Jander	h. Tobaco	co use	effect of medicinal drug
	n/Alaska Native	1 Not	5 None of the above		
			2 LI Cu		04.05
S. neason Fon Patient's complaint(s), sym	non(s), or other	a. Are you the pat	lent's b	4. CONTINUIT OF	een C. Major reason for this visit
reason(s) for this visit - Use patient's own words		primary care	tora	In your practice before	? 1 New problem (<3 mos
(1) Most Important:		1 Ves -SKIP to	Item 4h 1 Yes, established patien		nt – onset)
		2 🗆 No 门	in the last 12 r		ths? 2 Chronic problem, routine
(2) Other:		s Unknown J		Exclude this visit.	4 Pre-/Post-surgery
		Was patient for this visit	referred	Visits	5 Preventive care (e.g.,
(3) Other:		1 🔤 Yes		1 Unknown	well-baby, screening,
		2 No		2 No, new patient	Insurance, general exams)
	6-D	20WIDEPE DUG	Nosie F		
a As specifically as possible	5. Pl	b Begardless	nusis P	OR THIS VISIT	c Status of nations
related to this visit including	chronic conditions.	does the p	atlent nov	w have - Mark (X) all that a	ply. enrollment in a
 Primary diagnosis: 		1 Arthritis	4 🗆	disease 40 Hyper	tension program for any of the
		3 Cancer	5	CHF 12 Ischer	nic 1 Currently enrolled
(2) Other:		0 in situ	6	fallure to Dest	disease 2 Ordered/Advised to
		2 Regio	nal 7 🗌	COPD 14 Osteo	porosis enroll at this visit
(3) Other: 3 Distant 8 Depression 15 None of the S Not enrolled					
		4 Li Unkno		to ten	16 CONKIOWI
6. VITAL SIGN	5	al endered as	7. DIAGN	NOSTIC/SCREENING	SERVICES
(1) Height	Mark	NONE	14 PET	is wsit. Tiscan	24 Blopsy -
tt In OR	aminations:	15 Oth	er imaging	Specify site	
(2) Weight 2 Breast			16 CBC	C (complete blood count)	26 Crianydia lest 26 EKG/ECG
	4	Rectal	17 Elec	27 HPV DNA test	
	0Z 5	Depression screening	19 Hgb	28 Pap test - conventional	
OR	Ima	aging:	20 🗌 Upk	ds/Cholesterol	30 Pap test - unspecified
kn	am 8	Bone mineral density	21 D PSA 22 O Oth	er blood test	31 Pregnancy test
(3) Temperature (4) Blo	od pressure	CT scan Echocardiogram	Scope:	32 Spirometry/Pulmonary function test 33 Urinelysis (UA)	
Systol	c Diastolic 11	Other ultrasound	23 🗆 SC0 (e.g	pe procedure L, colonoscopy) - Spedity	34 Other exam/test/service - Specify-
	12	Mammography MBI			
	ATION		9. NO	N.MEDICATION TRE	ATMENT
Mark (X) all ordered or provide	d at this visit. A	fark (X) all ordered or	provided	at this visit.	Procedures:
1 NONE 7	Stress		tomativo	8 Speech/Occupational	14 Other non-surgical procedures -
2 Asthma education	management	medicine (CAM)	mernative	Psychotherapy	cpuilly y
3 Diet/Nutrition 8	Exposure	3 Durable medical e 4 Home health care	quipment	10 Other mental health	as Other outplace assessments
4 Exercise 9	Weight reduction	5 Hospice care		11 Excision of tissue	Specify
6 Injury prevention	Other	Physical therapy Dediation therapy		12 Orthopedic care	
10 MEDIC	ATIONS & IMMU	NIZATIONS		11 PROVIDERS	12 VISIT DISPOSITION
10. MEDICATIONS & IMMUNIZATIONS 11. PROVIDE Include Pr and OTO draws immunizations allocations and the Mode O'Infligment					Mark (X) all that apply.
NONE anesthetics, chemotherapy, and dietary supplements that were				seen at this Visit.	1 No show € Return at specified time
ordered, supplied, ad	anunistered of continue	a during the visit.	New Conti	2 Physician	being seen 7 Telephone
(1)			1 2	assistant 3 INurse practitioner/	s No follow-up planned
(2)			1 2	Midwite	4 Return If S Hefer to emergency
(3)			1 2	5 Mental health	5 Refer to 9 Admit to
(4)			1 2	e □ Other	other hospital
(5)			1 2	13. TIME SPENT	
(6)			1 2		
(7)			1 2	Minutes Enter zero	
(8)			1 2	If no pro- vider seen	
				FROM UCCIT	



Appendix B - 2009 NAMCS Questionnaire

1. PATIENT INFORMATIC						2. INJURY/POISONING/	
a. Date of visit d. Sex				cted source(s) o	f payment	ADVERSE EFFECT	
Month Day Year 1 Female 2 Male			1 D P	rivate insurance	ar stat apply.	of the following?	
0	0 e. Ethnicity 1 Hispanic or Latino			ledicare ledicald/SCHIP		1 Unintentional injury/polsoning	
b.ZIP Code 2 Not Hispanic or Latino			400	/orker's compensati	on	2 Intentional Injury/polsoning	
1. Race – Mark (X) one or more.			s Self-pay			Injury/polsoning – unknown intent	
	2 Black or Africa	n American	700	ther		4 Adverse effect of medical/	
c. Date of birth	s 🗆 Aslan		8 U	Inknown		surgical care or adverse effect of medicinal drug	
Monar Day Tear	4 Other Pacific Is	slander	1 🗆 N	iot current 3 🗌	Unknown	s None of the above	
	s 🗆 American India	in or Alaska Native	2 🗌 🕻	Current			
3. REASON FOR	VISIT			4. CONTINU	JITY OF CAR		
reason(s) for this visit - Use	e patient's own words.	primary care	tient's	in your prac	tice before?	New problem (<2 mos	
(1) Most important:			nuer:	1 🗌 Yes, esta	blished patient	- onset)	
2				In the la	iny past visit ist 12 months	2 Chronic problem, routine 3 Chronic problem flare-up	
(2) Other: 3 U				Exclude	nis visit.	4 Pre/Post surgery	
		for this visi	t referred t?		Visits	5 Preventive care (e.g., routine prenatal.	
(3) Other:		1 Yes		1 🗌 Unkr	nown	well-baby, screening,	
		3 Unknow	'n	2 🗌 No, new	patient	mourance, general example	
	5, P	ROVIDER'S DIAG	NOSIS FO	OR THIS VISIT			
a. As specifically as possible,	list diagnoses	E	. Regardi	ess of the diag	noses writte	n in 5a, does the patient	
(1) Primary diagnosis:	g chronic conditions.		1 Arthr	itis	7 □ COPD	13 Obesity	
ter trinning anglissing			2 🗆 Asth	ma	8 Depress	sion 14 Osteoporosis	
(2) Other:			3 🗌 Cano	er	9 Diabeter	s 15 None of the above	
			4 LCeret	brovascular disease	10 Hyperlip 44 Hyperlip	(demia	
(3) Other:			6 Cond	estive heart failure	12 Ischemic	: heart	
			- Li oong		disease		
6. VITAL SIGNS	;		7. DIAG	NOSTIC/SCRE	ENING SERV	ICES	
(1) Height	Mari	(X) all ordered or p	rovided at	this visit. Iammography	Ot 24	Blopsy -	
t OR	cm Ex	aminations:	15 🗆 N	ARI NRI		Specify site	
(2) Weight	3	Foot	Blood	tests:	25	Chlamydia test	
	4	Pelvic	17 🗆 C	BC (complete blood ducose	1 count) 27	HIV test	
LIb	oz e	Retinal	18 Helder Higher (glycohemoglobin) 28 HPV DNA test				
OR	7) Skin Depression screenir	20 L L 10 21 L P	Ipids/Cholesterol SA (prostate spec	ffic antigen) ³⁰	Pap test - Ilquid-based	
kg	gm im	aging:	22 🗆 🖸	ther blood test	31	Pap test - unspecified	
(3) Temperature (4) Blo	od pressure 10	Bone mineral densit	y 23 S	cope procedure	Urinalysis (UA)		
C Systol	C Diastolic 11	CT scan Echocardiogram	(6	a.g., colonoscopy) -	Spedity 🖌 34	Other exam/test/service - Specify	
	13	Other ultrasound					
8. HEALTH EDUCA	TION		9. N	ION-MEDICATI	ON TREATM	ENT	
Mark (X) all ordered or provide	d at this visit. It	<i>lark (X) all ordered 1</i> □ NONE	or provide	d at this visit. 7 Psychoth	erapy	Procedures: 13 Other non-surgical procedures -	
2 Asthma education B	Stress management	2 Complementary	alternative	s Other me	ntal health	Specily	
3 Diet/Nutrition 9	Tobacco use/ Exposure	s Durable medical	equipmen	t 9 Excision	9 of tissue		
s Family planning/ 10	Weight reduction	4 Home health ca 5 Physical therapy	re /	10 Wound a	are	14 Other surgical procedures – Specify – 2	
				11 Cast			
Contraception 11	Other	€ Speech/Occupa	tional	12 Splint or 1	wrap		
Contrădeption 11	Other	Speech/Occupa therapy	tional	12 Splint or 1	мтар Эмпрере		
Contraception 11 c Growth/Development 10. MEDIC	Other ATIONS & IMMUN	6 Speech/Occupa therapy	tional	12 Splint or 11. PR	NTEP DVIDERS all providers [Mi	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (X) all that apply.	
Contraception 11 c Growth/Development 10. MEDIC/ NONE Include Rx and OTC anesthetics, chemol	Other ATIONS & IMMUN drugs, immunizations, therapy, and dietary su	© Speech/Occupa therapy ZATIONS allergy shots, oxygen pplements that were	tional	12 Splint or 11. PR Mark (X) seen at t	NTAP DVIDERS all providers Mi his visit.	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (X) all that apply.	
Contraception 11 Contr	Other ATIONS & IMMUN drugs, immunizations, therapy, and dietary su dministered or continu	s Speech/Occupa therapy ZATIONS allergy shots, oxygen pplements that were ed during this visit.	New Co	12 Splint or 1 11. PR Mark (X) seen at t. ntinued 1 Phy 2 Phy	NTap DVIDERS ali providers Mis Visit. visician visician teteet	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (X) all that apply. No show/Left without being seen	
Contraception 11 Contr	Other ATIONS & IMMUN drugs, immunizations, therapy, and dietary su dministered or continue	s Speech/Occupa therapy ZATIONS allergy shots, oxygen pplements that were ed during this visit.	New Co	12 Splint or 1 141. PR(Matk (X) seen af 1 1 Ph 2 3 Nu	VIDERS all providers Mi his Matt valcian 1 [valcian 2 istant 2	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (X) all that apply. No show/Lett without being seen Refer to other physician	
Contraception 11 c GrowthyDevelopment 11 I 0. MEDIC Include Rx and OTC anesthetics, chemol ordered, supplied, and (1)	Other ATIONS & IMMUN drugs, immunizations, therapy, and distary su dministered or continue	s Speech/Occupa therapy IZATIONS allergy shots, oxygen pplements that were ed during this visit.	New Co	12 Splint or 1 14 PR(Mark (X) seen af t 2 9 Ph 2 9 Nu 2 9 Nu 2 9 Mic	VIDERS all providers Ma his visit. vsician 1 [istant 2 [ctitioner/ 3 [wife 1	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (2) all that apply. No show/Left without being seen Refer to other physician Return at specified time Return at specified time Refer to EPI4rmtil to hose their	
Contraception 11 c GrowthyDevelopment 10. MEDIC NONE Include Rx and OTC anesthetics, chemol ordered, supplied, and (1)	Other ATIONS & IMMUN drugs, immunizations, herapy, and dietary au dministered or continue	E Speech/Occupa therapy ZATIONS allergy shots, oxygen pplements that were ed during this visit.	New Co	12 Splint or 1 14 PR(Mark (X) seen at 1 1 Ph(2 Ph) 2 S Nu 2 Mark (X) 2 Mark (X) 3 S Nu 4 PR(4	Avrap DVIDERS all providers Ma his Visit. vsician 1 [vsician 2 [vsician 2] tistant 2 [tistant 2] vvite 4 [/LPN pth 5]	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (λ) all that apply. No show/Left without being seen Refer to other physician Return at specified time Refer to ER/Admit to hospital Other	
Contraception 11 c GrowthyDevelopment 10. MEDIC: NONE Include Rx and OTC anesthetics, chemolordered, supplied, and (1) (2)	Other ATTONS & IMMUN drugs, immunizations, herapy, and distary au dministered or continue	E Speech/Occupa therapy ZATIONS allergy shots, oxygen pplements that were ed during this visit.	New Co	12 Splint or 1 14. PR0 Mark (X) seen aff 1 Phy 2 S Nu 2 S Nu 2 Mik 2 4 RN 2 5 Me 2 900	VIDERS all providers M. all providers M. all visit. visician 1 [visician 2 [visician 2] visician 3] visician 3] visician 4 [visician 4] visician 5] visician 5] visician 3] vi	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (λ) all that apply. No show/Left without being seen Refer to other physician Return at specified time Refer to ER/Admit to hospital Other	
Contraception 11 c GrowthyDevelopment 10. MEDIC NONE Include Rx and OTC anesthetics, chemol ordered, supplied, and (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)	Other ATTONS & IMMUN drugs, immunizations, herapy, and dietary au dministered or continue	E Speech/Occupa therapy ZATIONS allergy shots, oxygen pplements that were ed during this visit.	New Co	12 Splint or 1 11. PBU Mark (X) seen af 1 2 Base 2 Base 3 Comparison 3 Co	VIDERS all porviders M his visit. sicilan 1 sicilan 2 ctitioner/ 3 ctitioner/ 3 ctitioner/ 3 ctitioner/ 4 cl/PN 5 cl/PN 5 f vider vider ier 5 c5 c5 c1 c1 c1 c1 c1 c1 c1 c1 c1 c1 c1 c1 c1	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (λ) all that apply. No show/Left without being seen Refer to other physician Return at specified time Refer to ER/Admit to hospital Other	
Contraception 11 c GrowthyDevelopment 10. MEDIC NONE Include Rx and OTC anesthetics, chemol ordered, supplied, and (1)	Other ATIONS & IMMUN drugs, immunizations, herapy, and dietary au dministered or continue	E Speech/Occupa therapy ZATIONS allergy shots, oxygen pplements that were ed during this visit.	New Cc	12 Splint or 1 14. Provement of the pro	VIDERS all providers M his visit. sician 1 (sician sistant 2 (sician 2 (sici	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (λ) all that apply. No show/Left without being seen Refer to other physiclan Refer to other physiclan Refer to ER/Admit to hospital Other	
Contrăception 11 a Growth/Development 10. MEDIC NONE Include Rx and OTC anesthetics, chemoi ordered, supplied, an (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (0)	Other ATIONS & IMMUN drugs, immunizations, herapy, and dietary au dministered or continue	E Speech/Occupa therapy ZATIONS allergy shots, oxygen pplements that were ed during this visit.	New Cc	12 Splint or 1 14. Pid Mark (N) 2 Mark (N) 3 Mark	Ariap DVIDERS all providers M. all providers M. selician selician istant rse ctitioner/ selician tLPN tLPN tLPN tESPENT TH DVIDER Enter zero	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (2) all that apply. No show/Left without being seen Refer to other physician Refer to other physician Refer to ER/Admit to hospital Other	
Contrăcâption 11 1 a Growth/Development 10. MEDIC NONE Include Rx and OTC ordered, supplied, and (1)	Other ATIONS & IMMUN drugs, immunizations, herapy, and dietary au dministered or continue	El Speech/Occupa therapy ZATIONS allergy shots, oxygen pplements that were ed during this visit.	New Cc 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	12 Splint or 1 14. PR0 assen aff 1 2 PR 2 Seen aff 2 Prive 2 Seen aff 2 Seen aff 2 Seen aff 3 Seen aff 2 Seen aff 4 RN 2 Seen aff 4 RN 2 PR 2 PR 2 PR	Vitep VIDERS All providers M. Inst Visit. visician visitant visitant rse cttioner/ viter cttioner/ viter cttioner/ viter cttioner/ viter cttioner/ cttioner/ viter	12. VISIT DISPOSITION ark (2) all that apply. No show/Left without being seen Refer to other physician Refer to other physician Refer to ER/Admit to hospital Other	



Appendix C - 2010 NAMCS Questionnaire

a material state	1. PATIENT INFORMATIO					2. INJURY/POISONING/		
a. Date of visit			g. Expe	cted source(s) of is visit - Mark (0)	payment all that apply	ADVERSE EFFECT		
Month Day Year 1 Female 2 Male			1□P	ivate insurance	44.1	of the following?		
	e. Ethnicity 1 ☐ Hispanic or Latino			edicare edicald or CHIP/SC	HIP	1 Unintentional injury/poisoning		
b.ZIP Code 2 Not Hispanic or Latino			4 🗆 W	orker's compensatio	n	2 Intentional injury/poisoning		
1. Race – Mark (X) one or more.			s Seif-pay			Injuny/poisoning – unknown Intent		
	2 Black or Africa	n American	700	ther		4 Adverse effect of medical/		
c.Date of birth Month Day Year	3 Asian	in or	h. Toba	cco use		surgical care or adverse effect of medicinal drug		
Other Pacific Islander			1 🗆 N	ot current 3 🗆	Unknown	s None of the above		
	S C American India	an of Alaska Native	2 🗆 0	urrent				
3. REASON FOR V	ISIT ntom(s), or other	a. Are you the r	atient's	4. CONTINU	ITY OF CAR ent been see	n c. Major reason for this visit		
reason(s) for this visit - Use patient's own words. primary			ovider?	In your prac	lice before?	1 New problem (<3 mos.		
(1) Most Important:		1 Yes -SKIP	p to Item 4b.	1 Yes, esta	blished patient	- onset)		
	2 N0	}	In the last 12 months		s? 3 Chronic problem, flare-up			
(2) Other:	Was natio	ant referred			4 Pre/Post surgery			
		for this vi	sit?		Visits	5 Preventive care (e.g., routine prenatal,		
(3) Other:		1 U Yes 2 No			own	well-baby, screening, insurance, general exams)		
		s 🗌 Unkno	nwo	2 LI No, new p	atent			
	5. P	ROVIDER'S DIA	GNOSIS F	DR THIS VISIT				
 As specifically as possible, il related to this visit including 	st diagnoses chronic conditions.	b	. Regardles now have	- Mark (X) all that	ses written apply.	In 5a, does the patient		
(1) Primary diagnosis:			1 Arthritis	s s 🗆 Cancer	4 Cere	brovascular 10 Hyperlipidemia		
			2 Asthma	a o∐in situ 1 ⊡stage	5 Chro	nic renal failure 12 Ischemic heart		
(2) Other:				2 stage	€ Cong	estive heart disease		
			3 Ustage		2D 13 Obesity 14 Osteoporosis			
(3) Other:			5 Unkno	wn 8 Dep	ression 15 None of the above			
				siage				
6. VITAL SIGNS	Mad	(A) all andered or	7. DIAG	NOSTIC/SCRE	ENING SER	VICES		
	NONE	14 Mammography 24 Blopsy –						
t In OR	cm 2	aminations: Breast	15 MRI Specify ste					
(2) Weight	Foot	Blood tests: 26 EKG/ECG						
D.	5	Rectal	17 CBC (complete blood count) 27 HIV test 18 Glucose 29 HPV DNA test					
OR	6 7] Retinal Skin	19 HgbA1c (glycohemoglobin) 29 Pap test - conventional					
		Depression screer	ning 21 🗆 P	SA (prostate speci	Pap test - liquid-based			
kg gm imaging:			22 LL U	the set has a set to set	31	Pap test - unspectied		
	9	X-ray	Scope	ther blood test	31	Pregnancy/HCG test		
(3) Temperature (4) Bloo Svstolic	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11	X-ray Bone mineral dens CT scan	sity 23 S	ther blood test cope procedure	31 32 33	Pap test - unspectied Pregnancy/HCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other examinestisentice - Specific		
(3) Temperature (4) Bloo	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11	X-ray Bone mineral dens CT scan Echocardiogram	sity 23 S	ther blood test cope procedure .g., colonoscopy) - :	specify - 34	Pap test - Unspecified Pregnancy/HCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify-		
(3) Temperature (4) Bloo	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11 / 12 13	X-ray Bone mineral dens CT scan Echocardiogram Other ultrasound	Scope sity 23 S (e	ther blood test cope procedure .g., colonoscopy) - :	31 32 33 Spec/ity - 2 34	Pap test - Unspecined Pregnancy/HCG test Unnalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify-gr		
(3) Temperature (4) Bloo	d pressure Diastolic 10 12 13 10 11 12 13 13 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	X-ray Bone mineral dens CT scan Echocardiogram Other ultrasound	Scope sity 23 S (6 9. N	ther blood test cope procedure .g., colonoscopy) - : ION-MEDICATI		PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other examinest/service - Specify- IENT Procedures:		
(3) Temperature (4) Bloo 'C Systolic 'F S. HEALTH EDUCAT Mark (4) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 7 1	d pressure Diastolic /12 /12 11 12 13 13 11 12 13 13 14 14 15 15 16 17 17 18 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19	X-ray Bone mineral dens CT scan Echocardiogram Other ultrasound Mark (X) all orde red NONE	Scope sity 23 S (6 9. N d or provide	ther blood test cope procedure .g., colonoscopy) - : ION-MEDICATI of at this visit. 8 Psychoth	Specify 2 Specify 2 ON TREATM erapy	PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other examinest/service - Specify- International Content of the state of t		
(3) Temperature (4) Bloo 'C Systolic 'F 8. HEALTH EDUCAT Mark (2) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 7 1 2 Astrina education 8 5 0 Distributition 8 0	d pressure Diastolic 10 11 12 13 TION 14 fitis vist. njury prevention Stress management	x-ray Bone mineral dens CT scan Echocardiogram Other ultrasound Mark (X) all orde red 1 NONE 2 Complemental medicine (CA)	Scope sity 23 S (6 9. N d or provide ny alternative M)	ther blood test cope procedure .g., colonoscopy) - : ION-MEDICATI of at this visit. B Psychoth Dyschoth Cherme Counselir	Specify - 34	PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify- ENT Procedures: Other non-surgical procedures - Specify-		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo 'C Systolic 'F 8. HEALTH EDUCAT Mark (2) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 7 1 2 Astrma education 8 5 3 Oldet/Nutrition 9 1 4 Exercise 5	TION at this visit. // njury prevention Stress management cobacco use/ Supposure	X-ray Bone mineral densi CT scan CT scan Echocardlogram Other uttrasound Mark (X) all orde red 1 NONE 2 Complemental medicine (CA) 3 Durable medic 4 Home health c	Scope sity 23 S (e 9. N d or provide ny alternative Vi) sal equipment sare	ION-MEDICATI d at this vist. 0 Other me counselling 10 Exclaim	Specify 33 Specify 34 ON TREATIV erapy ntal health g of tissue	PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other examinest/service - Specify- ENT Procedures: Other non-surgical procedures - Specify-		
(3) Temperature (4) Bloo (3) Temperature (4) Bloo "C Systolic "F 0. HEALTH EDUCAT Mark (7) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 7 1 2 Asthma education 8 5 5 DeleVNutrition 9 1 4 Exercise 5 5 Family planning 100	d pressure 10 11 12 12 13 11 12 13 11 12 13 11 12 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13	X-ray Bone mineral den: CT scan CT scan Echocardlogram Other uttrasound Mark (X) all orde red 1 NONE 2 Complementa medicina (CA) 3 Durable medic 4 Home health c 5 Physical thera 8 Datable neation	Scope sity 23 S (e 9. N d or provide N) alternative M) alternative are py	ther blood test Cope procedure .g., colonoscopy) - 3 ON-MEDICAT(1 af this vist. b Other me counselin 10 Exclation 11 Wound c 12 Cast	Specify 34 Specify 34 ON TREATM erapy ntal health g of tissue are	PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo (b) Systolic 'C Systolic 'F 0. HEALTH EDUCAT Mak (7) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 2 Astrima education 6 5 5 Delet/Nutrition 9 1 1 Exercise 5 5 Family planning/ 10 1 6 GrowthyDevelopment	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11 I 21 I 21 I 21 I 21 I 21 I 21 I 21 I	X-ray Bone mineral den: CT scan CT scan Echocardlogram Other ultrasound Mark (X) all orde redimers Domplemental medicine (CA) Durable medicine (CA) Home health c Physical thera Radiation thera Radiation thera	Scope sity 23 S (6 9. N d or provide ny alternative M) al equipment sare py apy pational thera	ther blood test toppe procedure .g., colonoscopy) - 3 tonemetry at this visit. at this visit. b Other me courselint 10 Excelsion 11 Evcelsion 12 Cast py 13 Splint or 1	Specify 34 Specify 34 ON TREATION erapy ntal health g of tissue are wrap	PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify- Procedures: Differ the consumption of the constraint of the constrai		
(3) Temperature (4) Bloo C Systolic - 'C Systolic - 'F 8. HEALTH EDUCAT Mark (7) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 7 1 2 Asthma education 8 5 3 Diet/Nufrition 9 1 4 Exercise 5 5 Family planning/ 10 1 6 GrowthyDevelopment 10. MEDICA	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11 I II I III I IIII I III I IIII I IIII I IIII I IIII I IIII I IIII I IIII I IIIII I IIII I IIII I IIIII I IIIIII	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral densi CT scan CT scan Cther ultrasound Other ultrasound Mark (X) all ordereed Mark (X) all ordereed Complementation (CAN Durable modilon (CAN Durable modilon (CAN S _ Durable modilon (Thera) Second (CAN) T _ Spect/Nocup Second (CAN)	Scope sity 23 S (6 9. N d or provide ny alternative M) al equipment are py apy pational thera	ther blood test cope procedure .g., colonoscopy) - 3 ION-MEDICATI d at this visit a Psychoth B Other me Counsellin 10 Excision 11 Wound c 12 Cast py 13 Splint or 11. PRC	Specify 2 4	PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo C Systolic - C Systolic - F 0. HEALTH EDUCAT Matk (P) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 7 2 Asthma education 8 5 Diet/Nutrition 9 4 Exercise E 5 Family planning/ 10 6 Growth/Development 10. MEDICA	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11 21 12 13 14 <i>Dhi</i> visit. 10 14 <i>Dhi</i> visit. 10 14 <i>Dhi</i> visit. 10 14 <i>Dhi</i> visit. 10 10 15 visit. 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral dent CT scan CT scan Cher uttrasound Mark (X) all ordereet Mark (X) all ordereet Complementation (CA) Durable medition (CA) Durable medition ther C = Physical thera C = Radiation thera T = Spect/Vocup Itry tons	Scope Sty 23 S (6 9. N d or provide N all equipment all equipment are py bational thera en,	ther blood test cope procedure .g., colonoscopy) - 3 ON-MEDICAT1 a This visit b Psychoth c Other me counselli c Other me counselli c Other me c Cunselli c Other me c O	Specify - 34 Specify - 34 ON TREATM erapy of tissue are WIDERS If providers Manual Manual Manual State State Manual Manual Manual Manual State State Manual Manual Manual Manual State State State State Manual Manual Man	A prest - Unspecified PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other examinest/service - Specify		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo (b) Systolic - C - F - C - F - C - F - C - Systolic - C - Systolic - C - Systolic - Sys	d pressure Diastolic 11 Diastolic 11 I III I IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral dent CT scan CT scan Cher ultrasound Mark (X) all ordereet Amark (X) all ordereet Complementa modiline (CA) Durable medilo Burable medilo Bone healtho Cher ultrasound Transform Physical thera Callergy abots, oxyge ppelements that were during this wisk.	Scope 2a S (e 0. N d or provide N ate quipment are PY py pational thera e New Ca	ther blood test transformed to the test tran	Specify - 34 Specify - 34 ON TREATM erapy of tissue are WIDERS of providers Minis visit. 1 from direction 1 for a state 1 for a st			
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo Systolic C Systolic C Systolic C Systolic C Systolic Systolic C Systolic Systolic Systolic Systolic C Systolic Systolic Systolic Systolic C Systolic Systolic C Systolic Systolic Systolic C Systolic Sys	d pressure Dlastolic 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral dent CT scan CT scan Cher ultrasound Mark (X) all orde reet 1 NONE 2 Complementa modificine (CA) 3 Durable medito 4 Home healtho 5 Physical thera 1 Sectolocup ILCATIONS allergy shots, oxyge ppelements that were	sity 2s Scope (e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e	ther blood test	Specify 2 34 Specify 2 34 ON TREATM erapy of tissue are WIDERS If providers Mark Vibers Solan 1 sician 2	Pag test - unspecined PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other examinest/service - Specify		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo Systolic C Systolic C F C S. HEALTH EDUCAT Maix (2) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 1 NONE Contraception	d pressure Dlastolic Dlastolic TION I at this visit. njury prevention Stress management Tobacco use/ Suposure Neight reduction Dither TIONS & IMMUN rugs, immunizations, erapy, and dietary su ninistered or continue	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral deni CT scan CT scan Cher ultrasound Mark (X) all orde reet 1 NONE 2 Complementa modificine (CA) 3 Durable medic 4 Horne health c 5 Physical thera 6 Radiation ther 7 Spech/Occup Izzations Sallergy shots, oxyge ppelements that were during this visit.	sity 2s Scope (e e e e e so, N d or provide e y apy apy apy abional thera e e New Co e 1	ther blood test transformed by the test of the test of test o	Specify 2 34 Specify 2 34 ON TREATM erapy of tissue are WIDERS If providers Mrap WIDERS If providers Solan 1 Solan 1 Stant 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo Systolic - C - F - C - F - C - Systolic - Sys	d pressure Dlastolic 11 12 12 13 14 14 14 14 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral dent CT scan CT scan Cher ultrasound Mark (X) all ordereet 1 NONE 2 Complementa madicines (CA) 3 Durable medic 4 Home health o 5 Physical thera 6 Radiation thern 7 Speech/Occup IzAntons allergy shots, oxyge pelements that were during this visit.	sity 2s Scope 2s Scope (e 0 N d or provide ny alternative M) at equipment are py apy apy apy astional thera n n 1	ther blood test cope procedure cope procedure cope procedure cope procedure cope procedure cope procedure d af tris visit a Psycholt b Other me courselin 10 Excision 11 Wound c 12 Cast py 13 Splint or 1 2 3 2 3 2 4	Specify 2 34 Specify 2 34 ON TREATM erapy of tissue are WIDERS of tissue are WIDERS Solarn 1 sician 1 sician 2 sician 2 sician 4 sician 4 si	PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo C Systolic - C Sy	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11 12 12 13 10 14 this visit. 10 14 this visit. 10 10 14 this visit. 10 10 14 this visit. 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral dent CT scan Cth could and an	sity 2s S (6 sity 2s S (6 9, N d or provide ry alternative M) alternative Py apy ational thera en, e <u>New Ca</u> 1 1 1	ther blood test	Specify - 34 Specify - 34 ON TREATM erapy of tissue are of tissue are MIDERS of troviders Mistican sician	PregnacyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo C Systolic C FF C. HEALTH EDUCAT Mark (P) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 7 1 Asthma education 8 5 5 Diet/Nutrition 9 1 4 Exercise F 5 Family planning/ 10 V Contraception 11 0 Contraception 11 0 6 Growth/Development 10. MEDICA NONE Include Rx and 0TC d anesthetics, chemoth ordered, supplied, add (1) (2) (3) (4)	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11 12 12 13 TION 14 this visit. njury prevention Stress management Tobacco use/ Suposure Neight reduction Diher TIONS & IMMUN rugs, immunizations, erapy, and dietary su ministered or continue	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral dent CT scan Cth scanlogram Other ultrasound Mark (X) all order new 1 NONE 2 Complementas 3 Durable medic 4 Home health c 5 Physical thera 6 Radiation then 7 Speech/Occup IZATIONS allergy shots, oxyge ppelements that were during this visit.	sity 2s S ((2s S (4 or provide ry alternative M) aby aby abional thera e <u>New C2</u> 1 1 1 1	ther blood test	Specify - 34 Specify - 34 erapy on trate the aith g of tissue are wrap WID ERSS if providers soltan soltan soltan tistioner 4 LPN tial health der er	PregnacyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo C Systolic C Systolic C FF S. HEALTH EDUCAT Mark (0) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 7 1 2 Asthma education 8 5 3 Dicet/Nutrition 9 1 4 Exercise F 5 Family planning/ 10 V Contraception 11 0 C GrowthyDevelopment 10. MEDICA NONE Include Rx and 0TC d aneathetics, chemoth ordered, supplied, add (1) (2) (3) (4) (5)	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11 2 Diastolic 11 12 13 TION 12 14 this visit. njury prevention Stress management Tobacco use/ Suposure Neight reduction Diher TIONS & IMMUN ruge, immunizations, erapy, and dietary su ministered or continue	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral dent CT scan Cher ultrasound Other ultrasound Mark (X) all orde ree 2 Complementation medicine (CA) 3 Durable medic 4 Home healtho 5 Physical thera 6 Radiation then 7 Speech/Occup IzATIONS allergy shots, oxyge pplements that were during this visit.	sity 2s S ((sity 2s S) ((sity 2s	ther blood test	Specify 3 Specify 3 Specify 3 on TREATM erapy ot tissue are wrap WIDERS if providers is visit. istant 2 istant 2	PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other examitest/service - Specify- Procedures: I Other non-surgical procedures - Specify- I Specify- I Specify- I Specify- I Specify- Retern to other physician Reter to other physician Reter to ER/Admit to hospital Other		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo Systolic 'F 8. HEALTH EDUCAT Mark (0) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 7 1 2 Asthma education 8 5 3 Dicet/Nutrition 9 1 4 Exercise 6 5 Family planning/ 10 V Contraception 11 0 (6 Growth/Development 10. MEDICA NONE Include Rr and OTC d anesthetics, chemoth ordered, supplied, add (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7)	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11 12 11 12 13 TION 12 14 this vist. 14 this vist. 15 the prevention 15 the smaller 16 the vist. 16 the vist. 17 tons & IMMUN 17 tons & IM	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral dent CT scan Cher ultrasound Other ultrasound Mark (X) all orde rec 1 NONE 2 Complemental medicine (CA) 3 Durable medic 4 Home health o 5 Pspead thera Radiation then 7 Speech/Occup IzATIONS allergy shots, oxyge pplements that were during this visit.	sity 2a S ((ther blood test prope procedure pro	Specify 2 34 Specify 2 34 ON TREATM erapy ntal health g of tissue are wrap WIDERS Solan 1 Stolan 1 Stolan 1 Stolan 2 Stolan 3 Stolar 3 Stolar 3 Stolar 4 Stolar 4 Stolar 4 Stolar 4 Stolar 4 Stolar 4 Stolar 5 Stolar 5 Stolar 5 Stolar 5 Stolar 5 Stolar 5 Stolar 5 Stolar 4 Stolar 5 Stolar 4 Stolar 5 Stolar 4 Stolar 5 Stolar 5 Stolar 4 Stolar 5 Stolar 5 Stola	PregnacyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify Procedures: 14 Other non-surgical procedures - Specify 15 Other surgical procedures - Specify 14 Procedures: 15 Other surgical procedures - Specify 16 Other surgical procedures - Specify 17 Preference 18 Other surgical procedures - Specify 14 15 Other surgical procedures - Specify 15 Other surgical procedures - Specify 16 Other surgical procedures - Specify 17 Procedures: 18 Other surgical procedures - Specify 19 10 10 110 111 111 112 113 114 115 115 116 117		
(a) Temperature (4) Bloo Systolic C Systolic C Systolic C F C S. HEALTH EDUCAT Mark (2) all ordered or provided 1 NONE 7 1 1 2 Asthma education 8 1 3 Diet/Nutrition 9 1 4 Exercise 5 Family planning/ 10 V Contraception 11 0 C GrowthyDevelopment 10. MEDICA NONE Include Rr and OTC d anesthetics, chemoth ordered, supplied, add (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)	d pressure 10 Diastolic 11 12 11 12 13 TION 12 14 this vist. 16 prevention Trone 20 Stress management Tobacco use/ Exposure Paposure Veight reduction Dither TIONS & IMMUN rugs, immunizations, erapy, and dietary su ministered or continue	X-ray X-ray Bone mineral dent CT scan Cth scan Other ultrasound Mark (X) all orde red 1 NONE 2 Complementation medicine (CA) 3 Ourbust the medic 4 Home health to 5 Pspech/Occup IZATIONS Blergy shots, oxygg	sty 2a S (e 9. N d or provide ry alternative M) alternative M) abional thera e New Co 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	ther blood test	Specify 3 Specify 3 Specify 3 on TREATM erapy ntal health g of tissue are wrap VIDERS is visit sician 1 sician 2 is visit sician 1 sician 1 sician 2 istronord se 3 ittioner/ wife ESPENT H VIDER Briter zero r no pro-	PregnancyHCG test Urinalysis (UA) Other exam/test/service - Specify		

